
 

AGENDA  
SAFER PLYMOUTH 
PARTNERSHIP 

 

Date: 8 May 2014   
Time: 10.00 am – 13.00 pm 
Place:  Room 116, Rolle Building, Plymouth University, University of   
 Plymouth, PL4 4AA (map attached) 
     
     
Item Subject Who Decision Required Time 

(approx) 

1 

Welcome/Introductions : 
• John Ward, item 6 

Apologies:   
1. Mark Benden - Probation 

 
CP 

 
 
- 

 
10.00-10.05 

2 

Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair of 
Safer Plymouth Partnership  

• EOI from Cllr Penberthy (Chair) 

• EOI from Charlie Green (Chair and 
Vice Chair)  

Those standing for the position of 
Chair/Vice Chair to present reasons why 
they think they would be a good Chair/Vice 
Chair and what they hope to achieve in that 
role for 2014/15 

SH 

 
 
 
 
Select Chair and Vice 
Chair for one-year term 

10.05-10.15 

3 Notes from previous Meeting – 30.01.2014* 
(Pages 1 - 4) 

CP 
Agree notes 

10.15-10.20 

4 
Final Draft Safer Plymouth Partnership Plan 
2014-17* 
(Pages 5 – 38) 

SH 
Agree Final Draft  

10.20-10.40 

COMFORT BREAK 

5 

Development Session – facilitated by John 
Ward: 
• Delivering the Plan – next steps/taking it 

forward 
• Next steps for Safer Plymouth 

Partnership development 

JW 

 
 
Facilitated session 10.50-12.15 

Public Document Pack



 

Item Subject Who Decision Required Time 
(approx) 

6 Homesafe – position statement CS Note position and any 
action required. 12.15-12.25 

7 
Transforming Rehabilitation – Update on 
process and any implications for Safer 
Plymouth Partnership 

MB 
Note update and any 
implications and agree 
any actions required 

12.25-12.40 

8 

 
Performance Report* 
(Pages 39 – 46) 
 
Proposed targets for 2014/15* 
(Pages 47 – 50) 

SH 

Note 2013/14 
performance outturn 
and discuss any under-
performance  
Discuss/agree proposed 
targets for 2014/15. 

12.40-12.50 

9 

Chair’s Emerging Issues: 
• Fairness Commission: Final Report* 

(Pages 51 – 126) 
• CCTV 

CP 

Discuss and agree any  
actions as required 

12.50-13.00 

10 Dates of future meetings:       

 
 



 

Present: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Apologies: 

Councillor Chris Penberthy, Cabinet Member for Co
Community Development 
Sarah Hopkins, Community Safety & 
Peter Aley (PCC)
Ian Ansell, Office of Police and Crime Commissioner
Chris Singer, Superintendent, Devon & Cornwall Police
Katey Johns, Democratic Support Officer (PCC) 
Paul O’Sullivan, Managing Director (Partnerships), C
Group 
Charles Green, University of Plymouth Students’ Union
Susan Moores, Zebra Collective
Geoff Isaacs, Chair of Plymouth Neighbourhood Watch Forum
Heather Welsh, Manager 
Claire Oldfield, Plymouth Universit
Dr Maureen Powers, Dean of Students, Plymouth University
 
John Ward, Learning and Development Advisor (PCC)
Robbie Wood, Devon & Somerset Fire and Rescue Service 
Mark Benden, Assistant Chief Officer, Devon & Cor

 

1.  Welcome and Introductions
 
Councillor Penberthy
University for offering to host the event.  
explained that all partnerships in the City were taking a mor
following the departure of Local Strategic Partnerships
more about shaping the City and providing opportunity for dialogue.
approach had allowed for the creation of a number of new Boards such as Heal
and Wellbeing, Children’s Partnership, Growth
with the Safer Plymouth B
Plymouth.   Work on lines of communication and how a co
this new partnership stru
would learn more on this through further development sessions/workshops at 
future meetings. 
 

2.  Notes 
 
Agreed the notes of the meeting held on 24 October 2013.
 

 

SAFER PLYMOUTH
Minutes from Meeting held on Thursday 
2014 at 10.15 am 

 

Councillor Chris Penberthy, Cabinet Member for Co-operatives and 
Community Development – Chair 
Sarah Hopkins, Community Safety & Partnerships Manager (PCC)
Peter Aley (PCC) 

Office of Police and Crime Commissioner 
Chris Singer, Superintendent, Devon & Cornwall Police 
Katey Johns, Democratic Support Officer (PCC) – Notes 

aul O’Sullivan, Managing Director (Partnerships), Clinical Commissioning 

Charles Green, University of Plymouth Students’ Union 
Susan Moores, Zebra Collective 

Isaacs, Chair of Plymouth Neighbourhood Watch Forum
Heather Welsh, Manager of Plymouth Victim Support 
Claire Oldfield, Plymouth University Complaint Appeals Manager

Maureen Powers, Dean of Students, Plymouth University

, Learning and Development Advisor (PCC) 
, Devon & Somerset Fire and Rescue Service 

, Assistant Chief Officer, Devon & Cornwall Probation 

Welcome and Introductions 

Councillor Penberthy, Chair, welcomed everyone to the meeting and thanked the 
University for offering to host the event.  Following introductions the Chair 
explained that all partnerships in the City were taking a more strategic approach 

departure of Local Strategic Partnerships with the focus now being 
more about shaping the City and providing opportunity for dialogue.

had allowed for the creation of a number of new Boards such as Heal
and Wellbeing, Children’s Partnership, Growth, and Culture all of which, along 
with the Safer Plymouth Board, would feed into the recently formed 

Work on lines of communication and how a co-ordinated approach to 
this new partnership structure could be achieved was ongoing and members 
would learn more on this through further development sessions/workshops at 

the notes of the meeting held on 24 October 2013. 

SAFER PLYMOUTH 
held on Thursday 30 January 

 

operatives and 

(PCC) 

linical Commissioning 

Isaacs, Chair of Plymouth Neighbourhood Watch Forum 

y Complaint Appeals Manager 
Maureen Powers, Dean of Students, Plymouth University 

, Devon & Somerset Fire and Rescue Service  
Probation Trust 

welcomed everyone to the meeting and thanked the 
Following introductions the Chair 

e strategic approach 
with the focus now being 

more about shaping the City and providing opportunity for dialogue.  This new 
had allowed for the creation of a number of new Boards such as Health 

and Culture all of which, along 
oard, would feed into the recently formed One 

ordinated approach to 
cture could be achieved was ongoing and members 

would learn more on this through further development sessions/workshops at 

 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



3.  Draft Terms of Reference 
 
Having been amended to take on board comments and observations put forward 
at the last meeting, the draft terms of reference were re-submitted for 
consideration.  Members welcomed the amended terms of reference, particularly 
the inclusion of the two ‘open seat’ category members which would allow 
flexibility for people with specialist knowledge and/or experience to be invited 
when such issues were being considered. 
 
The Partnership then went on to consider – 
 

• how the Chair and Vice-Chair would be appointed; 
• whether future meetings would be open to the public and include a facility 

for public questions; 
• how meetings would link to Have Your Say. 

 
Agreed – 
 

  1. the draft terms of reference; 
 

  2. the Chair and Vice-Chair should be from different membership categories 
(e.g. one statutory and one non-statutory); 
 

  3. the Chair and Vice-Chair will be appointed annually; 
 

  4. expressions of interest for each role would be submitted to the next 
meeting and then annually at the first meeting of the municipal year; 
 

  5. questions from members of the public would be accepted as a regular 
agenda item and dealt with in the same format as that used for the Police 
and Crime Panel; 
 

  6. with regard to linking in to Have Your Say, the Chair would liaise with the 
Police and University partners and bring suggestions back to the next 
meeting. 
 

4.  Feedback from Devon Audit Partnership / Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Office 
 
Sarah Hopkins reported on the outcome of the internal audit report into 
commissioning of community safety partnerships (CSPs).  Members heard that, as 
part of the process, all CSPs were asked to complete a self-assessment and Sarah 
had done this on Plymouth’s behalf, circulating it to partner members prior to its 
submission.  The report looked favourably on Plymouth’s CSP which it described 
as “well organised and managed”.  However, one area of concern highlighted was 
around organisation of communication to the public with the website and 
information contained therein being out of date.   
 
The report recommended that, as a condition of funding being granted to 

Page 2



Plymouth City Council, a specific target is set about improving communication 
channels to the public.  In response to this point, it was acknowledged that the 
website was out of date and a member of staff was currently working towards 
addressing the matter. 
 
Discussion took place on the availability of documentation to the public, given that 
the report from the DAP was restricted.  The majority of the Council’s meetings 
had their paperwork publicly available in accordance with its requirement to be 
open and transparent, it was therefore envisaged that the same would apply to the 
Safer Plymouth Partnership with restricted items, where necessary, being placed at 
the end of the agenda. 
 

5.  Draft Safer Plymouth Partnership Plan 2014-17 
 
Sarah Hopkins introduced the document and explained that there was a legal 
requirement for a 3-year plan to be in place.  The draft was the first attempt at 
pulling together a plan describing how the partnership and communities could 
work together in order to address identified priorities.  Of significant importance 
was the fact that delivery of the plan did not lie with any one person, agency or 
department and was a shared responsibility across the partnership. 
 
Members discussed the plan and commented as follows – 
 

• inclusion of an organagram demonstrating where everything sat and how it 
linked together would be welcomed; 

• the section on income generation could be retitled to reflect the broader 
requirement to maximise resources; 

• under the heading ‘Fit for Purpose’ add in an extra bullet point to reflect 
engagement with communities through better dialogue by providing an 
opportunity for them to ask questions at meetings – this would help 
address the concern raised in the audit report; 

• with regard to the partnership’s top priorities – 
o remove the word ‘worst’ from priority no 1 
o make reference to quality of support to victims under priority no 2 
o priority no 7 should refer to the reduction of offending as well as 

re-offending   
• an engagement/development session would be welcomed to consider how 

to face the challenges and opportunities ahead for 2014/15 and beyond 
 
The Chair thanked Sarah for the hard work she had undertaken in pulling the Plan 
together and suggested that any further comments or amendments be fed back to 
her direct after the meeting (sarah.hopkins@plymouth.gov.uk). 
 
Agreed that a revised Plan, taking on board the comments raised, would be 
submitted to the next meeting for approval. 
 

6.  Performance Report 
 
Agreed, due to time constraints, that the item is deferred to the next meeting.  

Page 3



In the meantime, members to submit any comments to Sarah Hopkins via e-mail 
(sarah.hopkins@plymouth.gov.uk) 
  

7.  Next Steps 
 
John Ward, Learning and Development Advisor (PCC), to be invited to next 
meeting to talk about how the partnership can deliver and how the different 
relationships may work together. 
 

8.  Date of Next Meeting 
 
Date in April to be confirmed - venue to be Plymouth University. 

 

(Meeting concluded at 1 pm) 

Page 4



 
FINAL DRAFT 

 
 
 
 
 

SAFER PLYMOUTH PARTNERSHIP 
PARTNERSHIP PLAN - 2014-2017  

 

 

 
 

Our vision: “A community with low crime where people feel safe and secure.” 

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 4



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 2

 
Contents 
 
 

• LEADERSHIP STATEMENT            Page No 3 
• WHO WE ARE, OUR FUNCTIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES       Page No 5 
• OUR STATEMENT OF INTENT          Page No 6 
• ABOUT THIS PLAN            Page No 7 
• MAXIMISING RESOURCES           Page No 8 
• FIT FOR PURPOSE - A “DUE DILIGENCE” AUDIT OF PLYMOUTH CSP BY  

POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER         Page No 8 
• OUR ASSESSMENT OF CRIME IN PLYMOUTH        Page No 9 
• OUR TOP PRIORITIES            Page No 10 
• HOW ARE WE DOING             Page No 11     
• OTHER PLANS/ACTIVITIES            Page No 14 
• WE ARE LISTENING            Page No 21 
• CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES AHEAD IN 2014/15 AND BEYOND    Page No 23 
• HOW WILL WE KNOW IF WE ARE SUCCEEDING       Page No 28 

 
APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1: Devon & Cornwall Police & Crime Commissioner and Devon & Cornwall  
  Police & Crime Panel           Page No 29 
Appendix 2: Safer Plymouth Partnership Delivery Organogram       Page No 31 
Appendix 3: Promote Responsibility, Minimise Harm. A Strategic Alcohol Plan for Plymouth  
  2013–2018 – Year 1 Delivery Plan “Enforce and Control” 2013/14    Page No 32 
Appendix 4: Promote Responsibility, Minimise Harm. A Strategic Alcohol Plan for Plymouth  
  2013–2018 – Year 1 Delivery Plan “Prevent” 2013/14      Page No 33 
Appendix 5: Successful Communities Delivery Plan 2012-2017       Page No 34 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 6



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 3

LEADERSHIP STATEMENT 
 
We’ve got lots to be proud of in our City.  We live in one of the most geographically stunning cities in the World with a plan for Plymouth 
to fulfil its potential to become one of Europe’s most vibrant cities, by working closely together, to achieve greater things for the people 
who live, work or visit us in Plymouth. We also want to firmly establish Plymouth’s place in the South West region, in the UK, in Europe 

and globally to become “one of Europe’s most vibrant waterfront cities where an outstanding quality of life is enjoyed by everyone”. 
 
We are working in a new Policing landscape with the introduction of Police and Crime Commissioners in November 2012 which impacts 

not only on the policing of Plymouth, but also provides opportunities and challenges for the work of Safer Plymouth Partnership. 
 

As a Co-operative Council it is our aim to create a strong sense of togetherness and ownership of council supported services, amenities 
and assets, so they can be more effectively and efficiently used to support the delivery of the city’s vision and growth agenda  

and is key to our approach in tackling crime and disorder and improving community safety.  
This concept involves residents, service users, partners and members with a strong focus on people’s personal development and having a 

greater say over service delivery and how money is spent. 
 

As a crucial part of “one team serving our city”, Safer Plymouth Partnership will in its approach to prioritising prevention, helping people 
take control of their lives and communities, ensuring children, young people and adults are safe and confident in their communities and that 

people are treated with dignity and respect, take account of the following cooperative values: 
 

 
 

Safer Plymouth Partnership is committed to ensuring that our communities are active, inclusive and safe and are supported to effectively 
participate in the life of the City through effective leadership and representation.  Safer Plymouth Partnership aims to ensure that 

P
age 7



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 4

communities are well served with public, private, community and voluntary services that are appropriate to people’s needs and are 
accessible to all, and fair for everyone.  And finally, that our communities are unified and cohesive. 

 
This Plan is by no means an exhaustive list of everything that we do, and we can’t do everything, but it reflects our shared partnership 

priorities which are to focus on crime that causes the most harm and that affects the most vulnerable.  This plan will also take us through 
some unprecedented tough times ahead, where partners continue transforming and in many cases shrinking as our collective purse tightens. 

Our advantage is that we already know that working together helps us to do more than we ever could alone. 
We should be proud of the fact that Devon and Cornwall is currently the 13th safest Force Area in the Country1 and Plymouth is 

consistently around 5th best in its family group of most similar cities for tackling all crime2, but we can and will 
aspire to do even better together. 

 
Cllr Chris Penberthy 

Chair of Safer Plymouth Partnership (CSP) 
 

 
 

 

       
   

                                        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
1 (Compared with 43 Forces) Source: Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of  Constabularies 
2 (Compared with 15 most similar family cities) Source: Home Office “iQuanta” 

P
age 8



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 5

WHO WE ARE, OUR FUNCTIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES  
Safer Plymouth Partnership3 operates within a statutory framework with responsible authorities expected to work with other local agencies 
and organisations to develop and implement strategies to tackle crime, disorder, misuse of drugs and other substances, anti-social behaviour 
in their area4 including: 
 

• Ensuring compliance with legislation requiring Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) to meet (as a minimum) and work to the 
principles of Meeting National Standards (“Hallmarks5”) of: Empowered and Effective Leadership; Intelligence led business processes; 
Effective and responsive delivery of structures; Engaged Communities; and Visible and constructive accountability6: 

• Ensuring appropriate representation on the group. 
• Ensuring Effective sharing of information. 
• Development, publication and delivery of a 3-year partnership plan, revised annually. 
• Ensuring annual strategic assessments are undertaken to assist in producing or revising the partnership plan. 
• Ensuring communities are consulted about crime and disorder issues 
• Holding one or more public meetings during each year. 
• Ensuring there are arrangements for assessing the value for money of its activities. 
• Ensuring the implementation of a strategy to reduce reoffending7 
• Ensuring cooperation with the Police and Crime Commissioner (P&CC) to tackle crime and disorder, having regard for the 

objectives in the Police and Crime Plan, responding to any request from the P&CC’s for a report8 - see Appendix 1. 
 

Safer Plymouth Partnership is responsible for overseeing the delivery of this Plan and priorities arising from annual Partnership Strategic 
Assessments (local and Peninsula) to ensure effective action and partnership collaboration to address community safety issues in Plymouth. 
This includes crime & disorder, substance misuse, and anti-social behaviour.  
 
Members that make up Safer Plymouth Partnership are representatives of the Plymouth City Council, Devon and Cornwall Police, NHS 
Clinical Commissioning Group, Devon and Somerset Fire & Rescue, Devon and Cornwall Probation Trust and The Police and Crime 
Commissioner9.  
 
Attached at Appendix 2 is the current organogram of Safer Plymouth Partnership delivery. 

                                            
3 The statutory “Community Safety Partnership” 
4 Sections 5 to 7 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
5 “Delivering Safer Communities: A Guide to Effective Partnership Working (Guidance for Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships/Community Safety Partnerships) 
1 August 2007 
6 Incorporating 2011 amendments to Regulation 3 (2007) 
7Section 108 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 1 April 2010 
8 Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
9 Although not a statutory partner, the Police and Crime Commissioner for Devon and Cornwall or a representative will be invited to attend on a regular basis. 

P
age 9



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 6

In addition, Safer Plymouth Partnership have recently reviewed its representation and broadened this to include greater community and 
voluntary sector representation and has co-opted the following membership from: 
 

• Plymouth University 
• Plymouth University Students Union 
• Zebra Collective 
• Neighbourhood Watch 
• Victim Support 
• Two ‘open seats’ for where Safer Plymouth Partnership identifies additional value from attendance of representative(s) with skills, 

knowledge or experience of a particular topic it can invite them to attend meetings for specific items or time-limited periods.  
 
The role of the co-optees on Safer Plymouth Partnership is to be a community ‘voice’ and ensure a wider community perspective is taken 
account of in our work.  They should feel empowered to make suggestions for how communities can be more involved and assist Safer 
Plymouth Partnership with its work.  They will be required to promote our work and provide meaningful feedback to communities about 
what Safer Plymouth is doing to tackle crime and disorder. 
 
 
OUR STATEMENT OF INTENT 
The Safer Plymouth Partnership has a role in developing and delivering integrated services to enable agencies to work together to deliver 
fully inclusive, high quality, efficient and coordinated services and interventions that tackle crime, disorder, anti-social behaviour and 
substance misuse and increase feelings of safety in communities. The fundamental ‘golden thread’ running through this plan will be the focus 
on crime that causes the most harm and that affects the most vulnerable.  We also expect everyone who lives, works in and visits our 
communities, to do their bit towards promoting community safety. We can do this together through: 
 

• The right help at the right time - prevention and early intervention are critical - ensuring that the needs of vulnerable adults, 
children, young people and families who are vulnerable to poor outcomes, are identified early.   

• Prioritising vulnerable groups identified across all partners - for example young offenders, vulnerable victims, victims of domestic 
abuse and sexual offences, and their families.  

 
It is crucial to put communities at the heart of co-designing and delivering services and interventions that will support Safer Plymouth 
Partnership address crime and disorder across Plymouth.  Safer Plymouth Partnership can do this by embracing and advocating the 
Cooperative Council principles which include; devolving power and encouraging greater community engagement, encouraging community 
ownership of assets and services, giving greater control for individuals of the services they receive, strengthening the community and 
voluntary sector and building up community funds. 
 
 

P
age 10



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 7

ABOUT THIS PLAN 
We continue to undertake a wide ranging programme of community safety work in partnership with the police and others.  This Plan 
describes how Safer Plymouth Partnership and communities can work together to take partnership work to the next level, addressing the 
priority issues and areas of need that require our collective attention.  By working closely across statutory providers, community and 
voluntary bodies, local neighbourhoods and diverse communities and service users, this will ensure we are able to meet our main priorities.  
It is essential that this Plan is read in conjunction with both the current Plymouth and Peninsula CSP Partnership Strategic Assessments.  To 
help support its delivery Safer Plymouth Partnership will put in place key structures and processes.  
 
Safer Plymouth Partnership, along with other public, voluntary and community and private sectors, face unprecedented change. But rather 
than waiting for it to engulf us we are embracing it and already we are more efficient, operating with fewer staff and reduced budgets. We 
must also challenge each other to resist the temptation to withdraw into individual agency agendas, in order to deliver against the big 
challenges ahead.  But we can’t afford to stop here – further change and even more efficient ways of delivery and commissioning services 
are essential and continue to be explored.  We will continue to both support and challenge each other to  
deliver city-wide priorities.   
 
Delivery of this plan does not lie with any one person, agency or department - we must all play  
our part to deliver the plan, however small or big that part may be.  Therefore, this plan will 
help Safer Plymouth Partnership decide how to plan and allocate their collective resources 
in the best way possible to achieve its aims. Commissioning is the way partners across the 
City can be clear about the outcomes we want, listen to the needs of communities, and 
make best use of what we have to ensure value for money.  
 
We are one of 5 strategic boards that are set up to support and deliver the city’s vision 
and priorities defined by the ‘Plymouth Guiding Partnership’ and it is crucial that our 
work aligns with, complements, and does not duplicate effort in the other areas. 
 
The Safer Plymouth Partnership commissioning budget is made up of a contribution from 
Plymouth City Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner who has stated his intention 
to commission community safety activity at a local level for the next three years in his External 
Partnership Services Commissioning Intentions Plan 2014/15-2016/1710, which was subject of scrutiny  
by the Devon and Cornwall Police and Crime Panel in October 201211.  

 

                                            
10 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s49814/APPENDIX%205%20-%20CMS-BRF-commissioning-intentions-plan-FINAL-130916.pdf 
11 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/modgov?modgovlink=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.plymouth.gov.uk%2FmgInternet%2FieListDocuments.aspx%3FCId%3D1051%26amp%3B
MId%3D5639%26amp%3BVer%3D4 

P
age 11



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 8

Safer Plymouth Partnership will, over the coming months, consider how it can effectively integrate its current commissioning approach with 
the city vision to have a single joint commissioning hub and will also adopt and implement the new “Cooperative Commissioning Principles” 
into its current commissioning practice.12  
 
Safer Plymouth Partnership will review this plan annually (in conjunction with Local and Peninsula annual Strategic Assessments) and refresh 
the action plan accordingly over its 3-year lifetime.  
 
MAXIMISING RESOURCES: 
Safer Plymouth partners are collectively responsible for multi-million pound budgets, however, we are also operating in a climate of rapidly 
diminishing resources and this isn’t going to change.  Safer Plymouth Partnership are, therefore, responsible for ensuring that all resources 
provided for tackling crime and disorder and increasing community safety are aligned and utilised effectively and more efficiently and that 
there is less duplication.   Therefore, we recognise a need to become more aspirational in how we deliver our services, and explore ways 
we can generate and secure income from other sources.   We should not forget that often, by making a small contribution to certain 
activities and interventions, this has the potential to unlock other match funding, and this is at the core of our commissioning ethos in taking 
shared responsibility for jointly commissioning interventions where appropriate and beneficial to do so.  Safer Plymouth Partnership will 
continue to proactively seek and secure other funding streams, or support others to do so (eg where grants are targeted at non-statutory 
agencies/community and voluntary sector) that will deliver crime and disorder outcomes for Plymouth.  
 
The Safer Plymouth Team has made a start in the last couple of years, by considering how they can be ‘selling’ some of their unique 
services.  An example is where we are charging some social landlords for using our ASB Victim Champion work, and this is an area of 
ongoing promotion and development.  More recently the Safer Plymouth Team has developed and is piloting a ‘Mediation Service’, again it is 
our intention to promote the value of, and sell this service to, for example, Social Landlords as well as other partners, and there has already 
been some interest at the earliest stage of this development.  This also recognises the need to deliver interventions at an earlier stage and 
preventing escalation rather than simply dealing with the enforcement.  
 
 
FIT FOR PURPOSE - A “DUE DILIGENCE” AUDIT OF PLYMOUTH CSP BY POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER 
The P&CC has responsibility for a budget of £2.3M for the provision of community safety services 
(formerly provided direct to CSPs). At the Devon and Cornwall Police and Crime Panel held on 11 
October 2013, the P&CC presented his “External Partnership Services Commissioning Intentions Plan 
2014/15-2016/1713” which was also subject of scrutiny by the Panel.     
 
The P&CC’s report stated his intention to use existing structures for the delivery and control of grant 

                                            
12 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/cooperative_commissioning.pdf 
13 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s49814/APPENDIX%205%20-%20CMS-BRF-commissioning-intentions-plan-FINAL-130916.pdf 

P
age 12



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 9

funding by routing a majority of his grant funding through Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs), Youth Offending Teams (YOTs) and 
Safeguarding Boards based on a matrix allocating funding to CSPs using a number of key elements such as population, population density and 
crime levels.  This decision was also recognising that these multi agency bodies know their localities well and are best placed to assess local 
need and the tactics for maximising impact and were a means of ensuring that funding decisions at the local level are undertaken with high 
regard to community safety and crime reduction.  
 
In return, the P&CC commissioned Devon Audit Partnership to carry out a ‘due diligence’ audit on all CSPs in the Force Area.   This 
required CSP’s to respond to 25 questions demonstrating VCS and business involvement and engagement, partnership make-up, decision-
making and commissioning processes, how the partnership utilises resources, scrutiny of the partnership, effectiveness of delivery and 
impact. 
 
Safer Plymouth Partnership fared well in this exercise with the audit finding it to be a well organised and managed CSP with strong 
community and voluntary representation and communities very involved.  
 
The main area of concern was the organisation of communication to the public and in particular the web page on the Plymouth City 
Council’ s web site being out of date.  The Audit required that as a condition of funding being granted, a specific target is set to improve 
communication channels to the public, and we are already working on this.  It was also acknowledged that in terms of engagement overall 
that this would be achieved through ‘Plymouth Guiding Partnership’. In all other categories Safer Plymouth Partnership met the P&CC’s 
criteria. 
 
Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will: 

• Ensure the recommendations for Plymouth contained in the P&CC’s Audit are achieved. 
• Explore how the engagement requirements of Safer Plymouth Partnership can be included in Plymouth City 

Council’s new framework for Community Engagement when it is developed. 
• Will explore and implement more meaningful and innovative ways to communicate with communities. 
• Improve the dialogue with communities by providing an opportunity to interact with and pose questions to Safer 

Plymouth Partnership.  
 
 
OUR ASSESSMENT OF CRIME IN PLYMOUTH 
Our local14 and the Peninsula15 Strategic Assessments are key to determining priorities but we are operating in an environment where 
resources for all partners are rapidly reducing, and the CSP is no exception.  With limited resources, we must accept we can’t do 
everything, but it remains key to focus on crime that causes the most harm and affects the most vulnerable. Our role in helping ensure that 
the most vulnerable do not slip through the net becomes more important than ever.   
                                            
14 Link awaited 
15 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/peninsula_sstrategic_assessment_annual_update.pdf 
 

P
age 13



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 10

Peninsula Strategic Assessment (Crime and Disorder) Annual Update 2013/14: concluded that each Local Authority area within 
Devon and Cornwall faces the same critical issues around the same key crime and community safety areas. Four key theme areas, along 
with ‘additional risks’ were identified as: (1) Domestic family, and sexual abuse, (2) Alcohol, violence and the night time 
economy (3) Anti-social behaviour,  and (4) Reoffending.  The additional risks were identified as hate crime and hidden harm and 
preventing violent extremism.  The assessment also recommended that CSPs consider emerging issues and trends which will impact 
victims who suffer high levels of harm and those who have the highest level of vulnerability.   
 
Plymouth Strategic Assessment 2013/14: concluded that Safer Plymouth Partnership should continue to focus resources on the high 
impact crime types of:  Violence with Injury, Serious Acquisitive Crime, Domestic and Sexual Abuse and Anti-social 
behaviour. There is also a need to work with partners to ensure that efforts are made to tackle the continued increases in lower level 
crimes including; Violence without Injury, Shoplifting and other theft related offences.   
 
OUR TOP PRIORITIES: 
The findings of the local and Peninsula partnership Strategic Assessments for Crime and Disorder and the associated recommendations, are 
the basis for determining Safer Plymouth Partnership’s top priorities.  The priorities demonstrate how agencies will work together to 
deliver Safer Plymouth Partnership’s vision.   In order to ensure accountability for delivery, Safer Plymouth Partnership will identify and 
agree from its membership leads for each of the Priority areas, and it will be up to each Priority Lead to identify the most efficient and 
effective way to deliver the activities.  The top priorities are:  
 

1 Reducing the gap in crime between the neighbourhoods with the highest crime 
and the city average 

2 Tackling Domestic Violence and Abuse and ensuring quality services  
3 Tackling Sexual violence, assault and exploitation 
4 Reducing Violence with Injury (excl Domestic Violence) 
5 Tackling Hate crime and hidden harm 
6 Reducing Serious Acquisitive Crime (domestic burglary, theft of and from 

motor vehicles and robbery) 
7 Reducing Offending/Reoffending 
8 Reducing Anti-social behaviour 
9 Preventing Violent Extremism 
10 Tackling Emerging Crime at the earliest opportunity 
11 Find new and meaningful ways to engage and interact with communities/ 

identity groups about crime and disorder and community safety. 
 
(INCLUDE MANIFESTO PRIORITIES F0R 2014/15 – POST ELECTION IN MAY) 

P
age 14



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 11

Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will: 

Agree the most efficient and effective method to lead on, and deliver, against the identified priorities including: 
• Prioritising activity that addresses crime causing the most harm and experienced by the most vulnerable people in 

our communities. 
• Ensure challenging targets are set that deliver outcomes against the priorities that are better aligned and cohesive, 

particularly in respect of violence, domestic abuse/violence and sexual offences.  
• Endorse and ensure delivery of action plans to address the priorities  
• Ensure local and peninsula Partnership Strategic Assessment recommendations are followed up and achieved.  
• Ensure a timely, effective and efficient response to commissioning resources to address priority and emerging crime 

issues, particularly those that contribute significantly to the widening of the gap between the 10 worst 
neighbourhoods for crime and the city average. 

• Ensure partners understand their role in, prepare for, and ensure effective implementation of the new ASB Tools 
and Powers.  

• Consider the most appropriate way to deliver against the reducing reoffending priorities or mainstream as a cross-
cutting requirement of all other Safer Plymouth Partnership activities. 

• Ensure appropriate representation by Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs) on Safer Plymouth Partnership. 
• Explore how we can support the challenges around mental health in respect of both its impact on services and those 

who are potentially vulnerable as a result of poor mental health. 
• Explore the most effective way to align our work to other Boards and Partnerships as appropriate to ensure better 

alignment and reduce duplication of effort. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 15



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 12

HOW ARE WE DOING….. 

 

P
age 16



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 13

 
 

P
age 17



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 14

OTHER PLANS/ACTIVITIES  
There is a lot of excellent work and good practice already occurring in Plymouth that contributes to crime reduction and community safety.  
It is imperative, therefore, that this Plan acknowledges, aligns to and does not duplicate the wide range of other plans and activities already 
in existence, which also deliver against the shared priorities and vision, including: 
  

• Devon and Somerset Fire & Rescue Strategy and Corporate Plan16 
• Devon and Cornwall Probation Trust17 
• Children and Young People’s Plan 2011-201418  
• Prevention and Early Intervention Strategy 2012-201519 
• The Child Poverty Strategy For Plymouth 2013-201620  
• Families With A Future (Troubled Families)21  
• CCG Operational Plan for 2014-1622 and New Devon CCG Commissioning Framework 2014-1623 

 
There are other plans, strategies and activities that have a significant bearing on community safety, crime and disorder which are explored in more detail 
as follows. 
 
Police and Crime Plan for Devon and Cornwall 2013-201724 25: The preparation undertaken by CSPs collectively across Devon and 
Cornwall in the run up to the election of the P&CC in November 2012 proved a useful exercise in laying out the collective landscape of crime and 
community safety for the P&CC and led to the production of the first ever Peninsula Partnership Strategic Assessment which the P&CC 
welcomed and acknowledged as a basis for formulating the priorities in his first Police and Crime Plan. The plan sets out the Commissioner’s 
vision: “To make Devon and Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly a safe place to live, work and visit.  I want to cut crime, keep people safe and encourage 
everyone to work together to make communities stronger and safer.”  This joint work also proved a useful means to ensuring that the work of CSPs 
and the added value and benefits of working together was recognized at an early point by the P&CC who has become a regular invitee to 
Peninsula CSP Chairs Meetings, and also CSP meetings locally, including Plymouth.  
 
The 6 priorities in the recently refreshed Police and Crime Plan are: 
 

                                            
16 http://www.dsfire.gov.uk/AboutUs/WhatWeDo/OurCorporatePlan/Index.cfm?SiteCategoryId=2&T1ID=10&T2ID=123 
17 http://www.dcpt.co.uk/what-we-do/ 
18 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/pcypt_plan_20112014.pdf 
19 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/early_intervention_strategy.pdf 
20 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/childpovertystrategyactionplan.pdf 
21 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/homepage/education/lifelonglearning/youthservices/targetedyouthservices/familieswithafuture.htm 
22 http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/publications/-/journal_content/56/10180/3926582/PUBLICATION 
23 CCG Operational Plan for 2014-16 awaiting sign-off.  New Devon CCG Commissioning Framework 2014-16 – no web-link available. 
24 http://www.devonandcornwall-pcc.gov.uk/Document-Library/The-Police-and-Crime-Plan-2014-FINAL.pdf 
25 http://www.devonandcornwall-pcc.gov.uk/Document-Library/Police-and-Crime-Plan-Summary-2014-FINAL.pdf 

P
age 18



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 15

1. To make our area a safer place to live, work and visit – reducing the likelihood that people become victims of crime. 
2. To reduce the crime and harm caused by the misuse of alcohol. 
3. To make every penny count in protecting policing for the long term.  We need to drive for further efficiency, work to secure 

more central funding and actively explore all avenues to deliver the significant savings we require from 2017/18 to sustain our 
services. 

4. To promote an effective Criminal Justice System for our area, delivering a high quality service for victims, witnesses and society. 
5. To deliver a high quality victim support service across our area. 
6. To encourage and enable citizens and communities to play their part in tackling crime and making their communities safer. 

 
P&CCs have a duty to consult victims of crime when developing and setting their crime and police plans, they will also have the power and 
budget (from 2014/15) to determine local victims' services. It will be useful to also know the P&CC’s intentions for this in order that Safer 
Plymouth Partnership can have an influential role in how such services are commissioned for the benefit of the City.  
 
Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will: 

• Ensure that, following the P&CC stated intention to commission via CSPs across Devon and Cornwall for the next 3 
years, commissioned interventions align to the Police and Crime Plan objectives that will also deliver the required 
crime reduction outcomes for Plymouth.  

• As Plymouth continues to account for approximately 22% of all crime in the entire Force area, it remains crucial for 
Safer Plymouth Partnership to continue developing and maintaining a strong relationship and dialogue with the 
P&CC in order to maximize on the opportunities to deliver crime reduction outcomes in the most effective way in 
Plymouth. 

• Use every opportunity to collectively influence the next phase of the Devon and Cornwall Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s commissioning decisions in respect of Victim’s Services that will have maximum benefit for victims 
of crime in Plymouth from 2014 onwards. 

 
Plymouth City Council’s Corporate Plan26: identifies the strategic direction for the city over the next three years to become a 
“Brilliant Co-Operative Council”. It has identified four core objectives; these objectives outlined below will contribute to improving the 
level of crime and its most vulnerable victims in our city and, in our preventative work across the peninsula.  
 

• Pioneering We will be pioneering by designing and delivering better services that are more accountable, flexible and efficient in 
spite of reducing resources.  

• Growing We will make our city a great place to live by creating opportunities for better learning and greater investment, with 
more jobs and homes.   

• Caring We will promote a fairer, more equal city by investing in communities, putting citizens at the heart of decision making, 
promoting independence and reducing health and social inequality.   

                                            
26 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/homepage/councilanddemocracy/corporateplan.htm 

P
age 19



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 16

• Confident We will work towards creating a more confident city, being proud of what we can offer and growing our reputation 
nationally and internationally.  

 
The Corporate Plan sets out the outcomes it expects to achieve.  Clearly crime and disorder and its causes and drivers are cross cutting  
and will benefit from the successful achievement of all the other outcomes, but of most relevance for Safer Plymouth Partnership in respect 
of ‘Caring Plymouth’ the outcomes are that:  
 
• We will prioritise prevention 
• We will help people take control of their lives and communities 
• Children, young people and adults are safe and confident in their communities 
• People are treated with dignity and respect. 

 
Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will: 

Ensure that the Corporate Plan outcomes are put at the heart of all activities and interventions it commissions and 
delivers. 

 
Promote Responsibility, Minimise Harm. A Strategic Alcohol Plan for Plymouth 2013–201827: The Health and Wellbeing Board 
are accountable for the delivery of Strategic Alcohol Plan with the Director of Public Health as the Lead, which has been developed with 
input from a range of stakeholders and is informed by a public consultation. It draws on published evidence and best practice and 
demonstrates how organisations across the city will work together to realise the potential benefits of alcohol whilst minimising the harm to 
individuals, families and communities. It supports the city’s strategic vision to become ‘One of Europe’s most vibrant waterfront cities where 
an outstanding quality of life is enjoyed by everyone’. It also supports the Health and Wellbeing Board’s vision of Happy, Healthy, and 
Aspiring Communities. 
 
This plan defines a shared response to this challenge with key aims to: 

• Build a strong, shared partnership response that will reduce alcohol related harm 
• Change attitudes towards alcohol 
• Provide support for children, young people and parents in need 
• Support individual need 
• Create a safer, more vibrant city 

 
Success in delivery of this plan will mean: 

• The supply of alcohol is strategically planned and well managed 
• Alcohol plays a proportionate role in Plymouth’s cultural, sporting and hospitality offer 

                                            
27 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/alcoholstrategicplan.pdf 
 

P
age 20



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 17

• People socialise and relax in environments that feel safe and are family friendly 
• Visitors to the city feel safe in the evening and night time economy and feel motivated to return 
• More people drinking responsibly and within lower risk limits 
• Fewer people being admitted to hospital 
• Less alcohol fuelled crime 
• Fewer children affected by parental alcohol misuse 
• People in need of help can access the information, advice and support that they need 
 

The Strategy has been broken up into four “Impact Areas”; Prevent, Protect, Treat, and Enforce and Control and activities have been 
devised in respect of each area.   It is clear that the impact areas are interdependent in order to fully address the full impact on alcohol 
harm.  However, for the purposes of this plan, the role of Safer Plymouth Partnership is predominantly to support delivery of the ‘Enforce 
and Control’ and ‘Prevention’ elements (Appendices 3 and 4).  This Impact Area focuses on improving safety and creating vibrancy 
through the appropriate use of enforcement and control measures. Within this there is a specific focus on improving the city’s Evening and 
Night Time Economy (ENTE) areas and ensuring that the ENTE sector is strategically planned and managed.  The identified lead for this is 
the Police, but this can only be delivered with the support of the wider partnership.   
 
Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will: 

• Ensure resources are prioritised to support the delivery of the ‘Enforce and Control’ and ‘Prevention’ element of 
the Alcohol Plan and the development of ongoing delivery plans in the Alcohol Harm Strategy. 

• Challenge the Joint Commissioning Partnership to consider how it is going to prioritise funding to reduce alcohol 
harm.  

• Develop a closer relationship with the Growth Board to understand how Safer Plymouth can assist with the review 
the Plymouth ENTE offer.  

• Explore with the Health and Wellbeing Board how Safer Plymouth Partnership can support the delivery of the 
Alcohol Harm Strategy.  

 
Successful Communities Delivery Plan 2012-1728:  This purpose of this plan is to implement and deliver the objectives on this theme 
contained within the Housing Plan 2012-17.  The plan highlights Plymouth City Council’s commitment to reducing inequalities between 
neighbourhoods in the city, creating safe, stable, sustainable communities where residents want to live and work.   
 
The plan identifies priority objectives, aims and actions and in relation to the ‘safe’ element where the CSP is required to work in 
partnership with colleagues and partners to deliver them, which are included in the Action Plan as Appendix 5. Actions identified that have 
been delivered include “improving the approach to noisy neighbours and associated ASB” and “Complete the ASB Victim’s Champion pilot 
and produce an evaluation for partners”.  

                                            
28 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/successful_communities_delivery_plan.pdf 

P
age 21



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 18

 
Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will: 

Ensure the delivery of the ‘safe’ priority objectives, aims and actions that contribute to the achievement of the 
Successful Communities Delivery Plan 2012-17.  

 
Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF) for England 2013-1629: This document, published in January 2012, outlines the 
overarching vision for public health “to improve and protect the nations’ health and wellbeing, and improve the health of the poorest 
fastest.”  The framework is focused on two high level outcomes: 
 
1. Increased healthy life expectancy- this focused not only on how long we live but on how well we live at all stages of the life course. 
2. Reduced differences in life expectancy and healthy life expectancy between communities – this focuses on reducing health 

inequalities between people, communities and areas. 
 
These are complemented by 66 indicators which help us understand how well health is being improved and protected.  The national PHOF 
tool allows comparisons to be made between each local authority in the same region and the England average. Plymouth’s performance is 
compared with ten other ‘regional centres’ determined by the official 2001 ONS area classification (of health areas) and groups similar local 
authorities together on the basis of 42 variables.   
 
Whilst this fluctuates, the latest (as at April 2014) PHOF30 currently shows areas where Plymouth’s position is ‘better than the national 
average’, ‘not significantly different from the national average’ and ‘significantly worse than the national average’.  Summarised in the table 
below are areas of relevance and note:  
 
Better than the national average • The percentage of population affected by noise (number of complaints about noise) 

• Reoffending levels (average number of re-offences per offender) 
Not significantly different from 
the national average 

• Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries (aged 15-24). 
• Successful completion of drug treatment (opiate users and non-opiate users). 
• Mortality from liver disease in under-75’s including that which is considered preventable 
• Re-offending – (percentage of offenders who re-offend) 
• Rates of reported Domestic Abuse  

Significantly worse than the 
national average 

• First time entrants to the youth justice system 
• 16-18 years olds not in education, employment or training 
• Violent crime (including sexual violence) offences and hospital admissions 
• Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries (aged 0-14). 

 
                                            
29 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-lives-healthy-people-improving-outcomes-and-supporting-transparency 
30 http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000041/pat/6/ati/102/page/0/par/E12000009/are/E06000026 

P
age 22



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 19

A local PFOH tool has been developed by the Public Health Team to investigate at sub-city level, indicators where Plymouth is performing 
poorly and enable resources to be more effectively targeted on the basis of need as well as looking at where Plymouth performs well.   
 
Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will: 

Explore what we can do to improve community safety related indicators where Plymouth is identified as ‘worse than 
national average’ as outlined in the Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF) for England 2013-16 including: 
• Investigating ways to better use Police research and analysis functions to provide a fuller picture of violent crime in 

the city. Incorporating the Police, Ambulance and A&E Datasets.  
• Supporting the development and delivery of a refreshed statutory Reducing Reoffending Strategy for Plymouth 
• Ensuring a review of the current DAAT package of treatment that is commissioned to effectively and efficiently 

address the drug treatment needs of the most prolific and priority offenders to reduce offending and community 
harm.   

• Ensuring options are explored for addressing the harm caused by New Psychoactive Substances. 
• Influencing the whole-system re-design of Substance Misuse Treatment Service provision in Plymouth that continues 

to meet the needs of substance misusers causing the most community harm. 
• Working closely with the YOS Board to explore what more it can do to assist in improving delivery around first 

time entrants to the youth justice system and 16-18 years olds not in education, employment or training.  
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board31: As outlined in the Draft Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy32, in 2013, The Health and Wellbeing 
Board reviewed the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, the Public Health Outcomes and the NHS Outcomes Framework for Plymouth and 
prioritised and agreed the key areas for 2013/14.  As a result of local prioritisation, the focus of activity for the Board, as part of their 
proposed framework33 in 2013/14 is: 
 

• Mental Health 
• Healthy Weight 
• Substance Misuse (including alcohol) 
• Health and Social Integration. 

 
By focusing on these topics, each of which having a significant impact upon health and wellbeing 
across the life course, the Board will make a positive and cross-cutting contribution to addressing 
each of these priority areas, will inform local commissioning and locally led initiatives.  The Joint 
Commissioning Partnership will act as the single commissioning body for Plymouth to support this.  

                                            
31 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/homepage/socialcareandhealth/publichealth/healthandwellbeingboard.htm  
32 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s51967/1%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20-%20V8.pdf 
33 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s51967/1%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20-%20V8.pdf 
 

P
age 23



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 20

These four topics will be reviewed in 2014/15 and updated as appropriate.  Other Boards and Groups are asked to consider how they are, 
or can, support improvements in these topics. 
 
Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will: 

Explore if we are doing enough, or could be doing more to support the four areas of focus identified by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board in respect of:  
• Mental Health, Healthy Weight, Substance Misuse (including alcohol) and Health and Social Integration. 

 
Welcoming City: Plymouth City Council's 'Welcoming City' action plan was launched in November 2012. The plan is overseen by a 
steering group made up of members of the city’s diverse communities.  The plan sets out a programme of initiatives designed to help 
Plymouth achieve its ambition to become a welcoming city that is diverse, inclusive and that combats hate crime. These include: 
 

• Supporting the promotion of community events and celebrations and key flagship events for the city, 
• Helping diverse community groups to grow with support to make bids for funding, get sponsorship and with marketing skills, 
• Continuing to hold networking events for people from diverse communities, 
• Increasing reporting of hate crime by creating more safe places to report incidents, 
• Working with the police, the Youth Offending Service and the Probation Service on offender interventions with support and 

education initiatives  
 

Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will: 

• Support delivery of the Welcoming Plymouth action plan in particular respect to increasing reports, and reducing 
incidents of, Hate Crime.  

 
Youth Justice Partnership Plan 2014-1534: Plymouth Youth Offending Team (YOT) is a statutory multi-agency partnership and is part 
of Plymouth City Council’s Youth Services Department.  Its strategic purpose is to prevent re-offending by young people and reduce first-
time entrants (FTEs) to the youth justice system by delivering specialist interventions, underpinned by safeguarding and public protection.  
The three primary outcome areas are: 

• Reducing the number of first-time entrants 
• Reducing levels of re-offending  
• Reducing the use of custody, including remands and ensuring public protection/safeguarding by providing specialist support and 

interventions. 
 
The Youth Justice Partnership Plan sets out a range of challenges and key performance measures, and an Improvement Plan for 2014-15, of 
particular relevance; maintaining reductions in reoffending, continuing to ensure the safety of young people in custody,  improving take-up 
and delivery of restorative justice across a wider youth offer.   
 

                                            
34 Not currently available in published form. 

P
age 24



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 21

Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will: 

• Consider which aspects of, and the most effective way to, support aspects of the delivery of the Youth Justice 
Partnership Plan 2014-15.  

 
 
WE ARE LISTENING 
 
Fairness Commission:  The Plymouth Fairness Commission was launched in April 2013, independently 
chaired by Dame Suzi Leather.  This was set up independently to help make the city a fairer place to live and 
work.   The Commission has been collecting information, ideas and evidence, and provide recommendations for 
how the council, other public bodies, businesses, citizens and civil society should use their roles and influences, 
individually and collectively, to reduce inequalities and increase the perception and experience of fairness within 
the local economy and local communities in ways which are both effective and sustainable.  Their December 
2013 Position Statement35, captures their findings following a themed ‘summer of listening’ across the city 
including; walkabouts, satellite meetings, listening events, street surveys, e-surveys and select committee events.   
 
Their top key areas of concern were identified as: 
 

• Strengthening communities 
• Individual and family wellbeing 
• Young people/young adults 
• Housing 
• Cost of living crisis 
• Discrimination and social exclusion 
• Strengthening the local economy 
• Implications of an ageing population 

 
Their Final Report has just been published36 and makes a number of recommendations in respect of crime and community safety.   
 
Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will:  

Note the findings of the Final Report and consider how best to support, as appropriate, any emerging Action Plan 
activities/priorities with specific relation to areas of crime and community safety. 

 

                                            
35 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/plymouth_fairness_commission_position_statement_dec2013.pdf 
 
36 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/pcc_fairness_bro_lr.pdf 

P
age 25



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 22

Listening Plymouth: Plymouth City Council carried out a public consultation to support the 2013/14 three year budget setting process, 
which took place between 11 November and 12 December 2013.  A questionnaire was developed listing 42 key public services the Council 
and partners provide.  The aim was canvass the views of the public about services that are important to them.  This took the form of 
promotion via a YouTube video, social networking/media, promotion and active participation at First Stop Reception, an online 
questionnaire, promotion via Chamber of Commerce, Zebra and other partners/stakeholders. 779 questionnaires were received. 
 
The Listening Plymouth 2014-17 Consultation Report3738 showed that in terms of spending and priorities for the Council in respect of crime 
and disorder, respondents prioritised the following two service areas (out of a possible 7) and functions (out of a possible 42): 
 
Service Group Most important service/function as selected by respondents 
Young Plymouth Support for vulnerable children, children in care or in need of protection. 
Safer Plymouth Tackling criminal damage and anti-social behaviour 

 
Tackling violent crime including domestic abuse and sexual offences was prioritised as 8th out of the 42 functions, so falling only just outside 
of the top priorities.  Targeted work in neighbourhoods with the most crime was ranked as 23rd, tackling burglary and vehicle crime was 
ranked as 24th, and support for crime prevention services was ranked at 35 out of 42 respectively. 
 
The Youth Council prioritised Tackling Violent Crime.  They also responded that although less money should be spent on tackling burglary 
and vehicle crime, continued spending in the Safer Plymouth crime category was supported.   
 
The Community and Voluntary Sector prioritised Tackling Criminal Damage and Anti-social Behaviour, but voted significantly in favour of 
reduced, or no spend in respect of fire prevention services. 
 
Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will: 

Explore how we will respond to the findings of the Listening Plymouth consultation in respect of community safety. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
37 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s51693/Consultation%20Report%20Final.pdf 
38 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s51687/VCS%20submission%2018%2012%2013.pdf 
 

P
age 26



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 23

CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES AHEAD IN 2014/15 AND BEYOND: 
Overall we are performing well with most of our crime reduction targets, thereby maintaining a focus is on high harm/vulnerability.  These 
include39: 
 
Closing the gap between the 10 worst neighbourhoods for crime and the city average currently 1.98%  off target (we were 5.63% 

off target in August 2013) 
Reducing serious acquisitive crime (dwelling burglary, theft from and of vehicles, and 
robbery) 

On target 

Reducing violence with injury (excluding domestic violence) On target 
Increasing reporting of Domestic Violence (crimes and incidents) On target 
 
Reducing Anti-Social Behaviour – just 2% off target 

but there have been significant decreases in 
recent years (a reduction from 14,342 in 
2011/12 to 10,291 in 2012/13) 

 
In line with the current Strategic Assessment priorities and recommendations we will continue to achieve further reductions in these areas 
for 2014/15, and will review these again in light of the 2014/15 Strategic Assessment findings. 
 
A recent increase in overall crime has been largely  attributed to crimes outside of our priority areas,  mainly ‘other theft’, ‘shoplifting’, 
‘criminal damage’, and ‘violence without injury’.  Whilst these have had an adverse impact on our target to “close the gap”, the gap is now 
closing, following some partnership work to address some of these ‘lower level’ volume crimes.  However, we will continue to monitor and 
address crime, in partnership, that emerges and threatens to negatively impact on our ‘closing the gap’ target.  
 
Probation (Transforming Rehabilitation)40 41 42:  The government has recently announced significant reforms to the management of 
offenders upon release from prison. As part of the Transforming Rehabilitation reforms, the supervision and rehabilitation of all low and 
medium risk offenders will be contracted out to the private and voluntary sector across 21 contract package areas in England and Wales. A 
new National Probation Service will retain responsibility for providing services for high risk offenders. They will continue to have 
responsibility for assessing the risks posed by offenders, enforcement of breach of licence or sentence conditions and providing information 
to the courts for sentencing purposes. The reforms also include plans to introduce a network of 70 resettlement prisons in which male 
prisoners will spend the final three months of their sentence close to the area they will be released to, in order to improve ‘through the 
gate’  support. Finally, the Offender Rehabilitation Bill 2013-14, introduced into the House of Lords in May 2013, includes provision to 
extend supervision on release to prisoners serving sentences of less than 12 months, who unlike longer sentence prisoners are not 
currently supervised post-release by the probation service. 
                                            
39 Performance period quoted for year 2013/14 as at end of December 2013 
40 http://www.dcpt.co.uk/uploads/publications/15-1.pdf 
41 https://consult.justice.gov.uk/digital-communications/transforming-rehabilitation 
42 http://www.justice.gov.uk/downloads/publications/transforming-rehabilitation/statutory-partnerships.pdf 

P
age 27



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 24

 
Challenges: 
 

• Ensuring appropriate and regular attendance from NPS/CRC at Safer Plymouth Partnership meetings 
• Lack of single Probation provider could lead to fragmentation  
• Transition period likely to be difficult and may lead to reduction in service effectiveness  
• Following share sale new providers may not engage with Safer Plymouth Partnership group and initiatives 
• Such significant change may result in a dip in performance and effectiveness  

Opportunities: 
 

• Chance to work more constructively with a group of high re-offenders, the under 12m Automatic Conditional 
Release prisoners 

• Potential for more flexible/innovative Probation services to be provided by CRC  
• Maintain collaborative multi-agency approach, if achieved the sum of CRC & NPS may be greater than current 

structure  
• Such significant change may force positive change that might otherwise not have happened  

Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will:  

• Ensure that running up to, during and post Transforming Rehabilitation, positive relationships are developed and maintained 
with key agencies in the city and the newly formed NPS/CRC 

• Ensure CRC and NPS representation at appropriate and critical multi-agency forums within the city 
• Work closely with Probation during the transition period to support them, and to explore where appropriate, 

options to mitigate poor performance arising from any envisaged reduced service effectiveness. 
• Work closely with Probation to identify at the earliest stage any dip in performance that may have an impact on 

increasing crime, and explore options to prevent and/or mitigate impact. 
• Commit and contribute to services that empirically demonstrate a positive impact on re-offending rates 

 
Embedding ASB Tools and Powers:  In May 2012, the Home Office published a White Paper, “Putting victims first: More effective 
responses to anti-social behaviour”43 which set out how the Government would support local areas to:  
 

1. Focus the response to anti-social behaviour on the needs of victims – helping agencies to identify and support people at 
high risk of harm, giving frontline professionals more freedom to do what they know works, and improving our understanding of the 
experiences of victims; 

2. Empower communities to get involved in tackling anti-social behaviour – including by giving victims and communities the 
power to ensure action is taken to deal with persistent anti-social behaviour through a new community trigger, and making it easier 
for communities to demonstrate in court the harm they are suffering; 

3. Ensure professionals are able to protect the public quickly – giving them faster, more effective formal powers, and speeding 
up the eviction process for the most antisocial tenants, in response to consultations by the Home Office and Department for 
Communities and Local Government; and  

                                            
43 http://www.official-documents.gov.uk/document/cm83/8367/8367.pdf 
 

P
age 28



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 25

4. Focus on long-term solutions – by addressing the underlying issues that drive antisocial behaviour, such as binge drinking, drug 
use, mental health issues, troubled family backgrounds and irresponsible dog ownership. 

 
The Bill, which is still making its way through Parliament and is anticipated to reach Royal Assent mid-2015, includes two new measures which are 
designed to give victims and communities a say in the way anti-social behaviour is dealt with: 
 

• The Community Trigger, gives victims the ability to demand action, starting with a review of their case, where the locally defined 
threshold is met.  

• The Community Remedy, makes provisions for establishing a community remedy document and dealing with responses to 
complaints of anti-social behaviour which gives victims a say in the out-of-court punishment of offenders for low-level crime and 
anti-social behaviour. 
 

The Bill also includes the following provisions:  
• for a civil injunction to prevent nuisance and annoyance.  
• for an order on conviction to prevent behaviour which causes harassment, alarm or distress.  
• a power for the police to disperse people causing harassment, alarm or distress.  
• new powers to deal with community protection and makes provision for a Community Protection Notice, a public spaces 

protection order and provisions to close premises associated with nuisance and annoyance.  
• for the possession of houses on anti-social behaviour grounds.  
• for amending the provisions of the Dangerous Dogs Act 1991.  
• introducing a new offence of possession of illegal firearms for sale or supply and increases the maximum penalties for the 

importation or exportation of illegal firearms.  
• strengthens the arrangements for protecting the public from sexual harm and violence provided for in Part 2 of the Sexual Offences 

Act 2003 and Part 7 of the Criminal Justice and Immigration Act 2008 respectively.  
• introducing a new offence of forced marriage and criminalises the breach of a forced marriage protection order.  
• measures in respect of policing, including conferring functions on the College of Policing, establishing a Police Remuneration Review 

Body, conferring additional powers on the Independent Police Complaints Commission of chief constables who have not served as 
police officers in the UK but have relevant experience abroad and conferring powers on police, immigration and customs officers in 
respect of the seizure of invalid travel documents.  

• various amendments to the Extradition Act 2003.  
• a number of criminal justice measures, including revision of the test for determining eligibility for compensation following a 

miscarriage of justice and measures in respect of the setting of court and tribunal fees.  
• contains minor and consequential amendments to other enactments and general provisions including provisions about the 

parliamentary procedure to be applied to orders and regulations made under the Bill.  
 

P
age 29



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 26

Challenges: 
 

• The loss of existing dispersal powers means consideration needs to be given to developing new methods to 
tackle the dispersal of large groups causing anti-social behaviour in the city centre and across the city. 

• The introduction of the Injunction to Prevent Nuisance & Annoyance (IPNA) will require a robust procedure to 
be drafted in order to deal with any breach or arrest as this shifts from the Magistrates Court to the County 
Court. Police Force Legal may be unfamiliar with the Civil Procedure Rules that govern County Courts.  

• Partners may need to factor costs into future budgets as the demise of the ASBO and the shift to the County 
Court  will incur a cost for every single application, currently £175.00 

• Introduction of the Community Trigger will require partnership consultation, implementation of a Case Review 
Panel and an agreed set of principles. (Agencies still unclear how this should look or work, therefore awaiting 
Home Office guidance). 

• Partners will need to consider the method for communicating the changes to communities  
• All PCSO’s,  and neighbourhood teams will need in-depth operational training surround the new tools and 

powers, and their role in connection with them. Other partners, will need awareness training. This is likely to 
be resource intense and time consuming. Future staff planning needs to reflect this. 

• A review of existing information exchange protocols to reflect the changes in legislation 
Opportunities: 
 

• A chance to review existing processes which may be outdated and no longer fit for purpose. 
• Explore the possibilities of engaging new partners/voluntary sectors/public health who may have a valuable role 

to play not previously considered.  
• To work more closely with partners across the peninsula via the ASB sub group, to develop a shared set of 

minimum standards and a consistent process for the Community Trigger and Community Remedy. 
• Developing and implementing early intervention remedies such as Restorative Justice and Mediation which shift 

the emphasis from enforcement to the needs of the Victims. 
• May put Safer Plymouth back in the forefront as a beacon of best practice. 

Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will: 

Ensure agencies are aware of, prepare for, and implement new anti-social behaviour powers. 
 

 
Welfare Reform: Concern remains across the partnership in respect of the potential negative impact of the various elements of Welfare 
Reform changes on addressing our priorities. Overall the changes will result in a significant financial loss to individuals and families across the 
Peninsula, with associated impacts on communities and services, particularly those that provide support to vulnerable people. The financial 
impact on Plymouth’s population is estimated to be in excess of £21 million*[1].  Beyond the financial impact there is potential for further 
consequences in relation to crime levels, pressure on community cohesion, increased homelessness, negative impact on attainment levels 
and an increase in personal debt problems.  
The two key crime areas on which welfare reform is expected to have the biggest impact are acquisitive crime and domestic abuse. Whilst 
difficult to link directly to welfare reform, Plymouth has recorded significant increases in lower level theft related offences as at the end of 
August in 2013/14, namely Shoplifting which between April and August 2013 rose by 173 crimes (+27%) compared to the same six month 

P
age 30



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 27

period the year before. Similarly, other low level theft offences (excluding Theft from the Person) increased by 94 crimes (+9%) over the 
same time period. Whilst levels of most serious violence “Violence with Injury” remained steady there has been a big increase in levels of 
“Violence without Injury” by 161 crimes (+21%).  
In response to the introduction of welfare reform Plymouth has undertaken a number of actions, summarised as follows;  
 
• A cross departmental officer group has been meeting since November 2011 to identify the impact of welfare reform and continues to 

work on responses and to support members in considering the impact as part of scrutiny and decisions.  
• Commissioned an advice and information service contract – Advice Plymouth. Advice Plymouth gives signposting and information advice 

but also deals with more complicated specific casework.  In the first three quarters of 2013/14 Advice Plymouth successfully claimed 
previously unclaimed benefits to a total of ££2,761,515.00 and resolved £7,921,883.00 of debt.  

• Successfully delivers the Emergency and Welfare Fund Fund as a replacement to the Social Fund previously administered by the 
Department for Work and Pensions  

• Delivered four benefit campaigns for Older People, Council Tax Benefit, Families and a Disability and Carers campaign. The current 
campaign is Winter Debt and Winter Health.  

• Rolled out a Welfare Reform training programme to councillors, managers and front-line staff in the council and police training 
approximately 740 people. Training was also delivered to 85 School staff and 130 Children’s Centre staff.  

• Works closely with the City of Plymouth Credit Union to promote “jam jar” accounts. 
• Offers financial capability, benefit and income maximisation and debt management checks and workshops through Advice Plymouth.  
• Offers financial capability, benefit and income maximisation and debt management checks and workshops at the Housing customer 

service desk for those presenting with a housing issue. 
 

• Has set up an energy co-operative, Plymouth Energy Community, in order to help customers switch to cheaper energy suppliers. 
• Uses community hubs to deliver advice – eg Children’s Centres.  
 
Challenges: • The introduction of Universal Credit will change how and when benefits are paid – paying monthly in arrears to one 

designated member of a household.  This could cause issues in households where there is substance misuse and/or 
domestic violence. 

• Debt is increasing in the City – with people still approaching payday/doorstep lenders, despite all Plymouth City 
Council’s actions to promote alternatives.  The recovery/collection technique of some of these lenders is in 
question. 

• It is still proving very difficult to get people to engage with PCC when they need help, or to get them to claim any 
financial assistance that they would be entitled to 

• Funds like the Emergency and Welfare Fund are open to misuse, and processes have to be put in place that are time 
consuming in order to ensure claims are bona fide 

Opportunities: • One of the main opportunities created by welfare reform impacts is the amount of prospects and openings for joint 
and co-operative working – many agencies and departments have come together to work with PCC including DWP 

P
age 31



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 28

and Crime Prevention Officers   
• Working towards minimising impacts of welfare reform helps the Council understand its customer base and the 

issues they face 
Safer Plymouth 
Partnership will: 

Ensure close monitoring of ongoing work to minimise the impact of welfare reform, and consider what further support it can 
offer to mitigate any negative effects that may result in/lead to increases in criminal activity, for example serious acquisitive 
crime, domestic abuse, violent crime and substance misuse and develop and implement interventions to mitigate the impact. 

 
 

HOW WILL WE KNOW IF WE ARE SUCCEEDING?:  
It is so important to make sure that we can check our progress to see what impact we are having on outcomes for our communities and 
the City as a whole to reduce crime and disorder, and increase feelings of safety.  
 
Alongside monitoring progress of this Plan, we will: 
• Regularly monitor crime performance and put in place measures and resource to respond to under-performance. 
• ensure effective and efficient delivery of the recommendations in the Plymouth and the Peninsula Partnership Strategic Assessments.   
• Oversee delivery of more detailed delivery plans that will help us deliver our targets and objectives. 
• Continue to benchmark against our group of most similar family cities and aspire to improve by seeking and implementing best practice 

where appropriate. 
• Seek client and customer feedback to improve services and evaluate effectiveness of interventions and services. 

 
 

P
age 32



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 29

APPENDIX 1 
 

DEVON AND CORNWALL POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER AND DEVON AND CORNWALL POLICE AND 
CRIME PANEL 
 
Police and Crime Commissioner: The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 201144 brought about significant changes for policing, 
significantly the introduction of Police and Crime Commissioners (PCC) and the abolition of Police Authorities. On 15 November 2012, for the 
first time ever, the public elected a PCC for Devon and Cornwall – Tony Hogg45 - who will serve a 4 year term and who is accountable for how 
crime is tackled in the police force area. The Government outlines five key roles for the role of the Police and Crime Commissioner as:  

 
• representing all those who live and work in the communities in their force area and identifying their policing needs;  
• setting priorities that meet those needs by agreeing a local strategic plan for the force;  
• holding the Chief Constable to account for achieving these priorities as efficiently and effectively as possible;  
• setting the force budget and setting the precept;  
• hiring and if necessary dismissing the Chief Constable.  

 
Section 10 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 201146  sets out in statute reciprocal duties that the P&CC & CSP must follow. 
These relate to community safety partners and also criminal justice partners: 
 
P&CC’s: 

• are required to cooperate with community safety partners as well as criminal justice agencies and the voluntary sector to tackle crime and 
disorder have regard for CSP priorities in the Police and Crime Plan 

• are required to fund community safety activity to tackle crime and disorder and can make crime and disorder reduction grants to any 
organisation or person in the force area. 

• Can require a report from a CSP on their work to reduce crime and disorder if the PCC views the CSP is not doing this in an effective or 
efficient manner 

• Can convene and chair meetings with CSPs to discuss strategic priorities  
• Should make arrangements (so far as it is appropriate to do so) for the exercise of functions so as to provide an efficient and effective 

criminal justice system for the police area.  

                                            
44 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/contents/enacted 
45 http://www.devonandcornwall-pcc.gov.uk/Home.aspx 
46 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/contents/enacted 
 
 

P
age 33



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 30

• Is expected to attend Health and Wellbeing Boards, and can align needs and strategic priorities within the Police and Crime Plan with Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessments/Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies, and PCCs are given a fund which they can use to co-commission 
initiatives that tackle drugs and crime, reducing re-offending and improving community safety. 

 
CSPs: 

• Must have regard  for the objectives in the Police and Crime Plan when exercising their functions 
• Must demonstrate effectiveness to the P&CC 
 

Police and Crime Panels: The decisions and work of the P&CC is overseen and scrutinised by the Police and Crime Panel (PCP)47, which in 
the case of Devon and Cornwall is hosted by Plymouth, which primarily consists of representatives from all 13 Local Authorities and 2 
independent (non-councillor) members. The Panel provides a ‘check and balance’ on the PCC, rather than on the Force itself.  
 
Since the election of the P&CC, the Panel has carried out the following statutory scrutiny roles on:  
 

• The Police and Crime Plan;  
• The level of Precept, agreed at 2% for 2013/14;  
• The P&CC’s preferred candidate for Chief Constable, agreed unanimously as Shaun Sawyer;  
• The P&CC’s Annual Report  

 
The PCP has also developed a ‘proactive’ and ‘reactive’ scrutiny programme which to date has included scrutinising the P&CC’s commissioning 
intentions and his staff and consultancy appointments, and expenses and allowances. 
 

                                            
47 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/homepage/communityandliving/csu/policecrimepanel.htm 

P
age 34



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 31

 
APPENDIX 2 

SAFER PLYMOUTH PARTNERSHIP DELIVERY ORGANOGRAM 

 

P
age 35



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 32

APPENDIX 3  
Promote Responsibility, Minimise Harm. A Strategic Alcohol Plan for Plymouth 2013–2018 – Year 1 Delivery Plan 
“Enforce and Control” 2013/14 
Safer Plymouth Partnership Lead:   

Enforce and Control Objectives Enforce and Control Actions Enforce and Control Outcome 
Measures 

1. Develop a strategic approach to the further 
development and management of the Evening and 
Night Time Economy (ENTE) 
2. Improve responses to alcohol related violent 
crime 
3. Ensure engagement of all ‘Responsible 
Authorities’ in licensing processes 
4. Create safer drinking environments 
5. Improve off-sales retail practice 
6. Engage Business Improvement Districts in 
community safety and crime reduction initiatives 

 

• Define and agree the role, funding and 
governance arrangements for the appointment 
of an ENTE Manager 

• Establish data sharing process/protocols 
between hospital Emergency Department and 
Minor Injury Unit and the Community Safety 
Partnership 

• Develop a framework to support engagement 
of Responsible Authorities in licensing 
processes 

• Develop a Licensing ‘toolkit’ to assist 
Councillors’ understanding of Plymouth’s 
Licensing Policy 

• Utilise all tools and Police powers and 
licensing legislation available to reduce alcohol 
related crime 

• Utilise all tools and Police powers available to 
reduce crime 

• Support the work of the Best Bar None 
Scheme in increasing membership and driving 
up standards 

• Develop an evidence based approach to 
reducing the retailing of super strength lager 
and cider 

• To work with Business Improvement Districts 
to identify opportunities for their engagement 
in community safety and crime reduction 
initiatives 

• Appointment of an ENTE Manager / 
Coordinator 

• Reduction in the number of alcohol 
related crimes 

• Improved response rates for 
‘Responsible Authorities’ in the 
licensing/planning process 

• Increase in number of members 
accredited to Plymouth’s Best Bar None 
Scheme 
 

 
 
 

P
age 36



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 33

APPENDIX 4 
Promote Responsibility, Minimise Harm. A Strategic Alcohol Plan for Plymouth 2013–2018 – Year 1 Delivery Plan 
“Prevent” 2013/14 
Safer Plymouth Partnership Lead:   

Prevent Objectives Prevent  Actions Prevent  Outcome Measures 
1. Raise awareness of the impact of alcohol 

misuse on health, crime and well-being 
and promote a culture of safe, sensible 
drinking  

2. Build intelligence and understanding of 
need among specific communities. 

 
 

• Reduce levels of harmful drinking by 
adults and young people. 

 
 
 

• Increase the number of schools 
participating in the Healthy Child Quality 
Mark which supports delivery of high 
quality alcohol education. 

• Develop an alcohol Peer Support 
Programme within schools. 

• Develop a co-ordinated approach to the 
provision of alcohol information and 
advice to young people 

• Provide opportunities in university and 
further education settings for the student 
population to increase their knowledge 
and understanding of alcohol. 

• Improve intelligence and understanding 
of alcohol related need among older 
people. 

• Improve intelligence and understanding 
of alcohol related need among BME 
communities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 37



 

 Safer Plymouth CSP Action Plan 2014/15  DRAFT 34

APPENDIX 5 
Successful Communities Delivery Plan 2012-2017 
Safer Plymouth Partnership Lead: Sarah Hopkins, Community Safety and Partnerships Manager 
Objective  Aim Action  Deadline 
Effectively 
Engage with 
Residents and 
Partners in 
priority 
neighbourhoods 

Proactively promote 
tolerance within 
communities, whilst 
building resilience to 
ASB and harassment 

1. Continue a programme of events and campaigns which promote positive 
social attitudes to disability, race and perceived difference, and provide 
resilience within communities to respond positively to incidences of 
targeted harassment. 

 
March 2014 

Tackle Anti-
Social Behaviour, 
targeted 
harassment and 
reduce 
significant harm 
from ASB 

To drive down 
incidences of ASB and 
targeted harassment 
through improved 
partnership work 

1. Deliver the annual priority actions as identified by the ASB/Criminal 
Damage Delivery Group. 

March 2017 

2. Work with a delivery group to improve confidence and working practices 
when responding to targeted harassment incidents including creating an 
action plan.  

March 2017 

3. To keep partners appraised of the proposals to replace existing tools and 
powers with new ones and ensure partners use the tools effectively to 
protect victims and the community. 

March 2014 

Develop a Process 
for identifying and 
supporting vulnerable 
and repeat victims 

1. Secure funding for ASB Victim’s Champion Service for 2014/15 onwards,  
2. Extend the potential referral routes to other partner agencies including 

any training and ensure service is financially sustainable 
3. Develop processes to ensure vulnerable or repeat victims are not 

isolated in their communities but are able to access support and 
participate in community life, if they wish. 

 
 
 
March 2014 

 

P
age 38



 - 1 -  

        
PERFORMANCE REPORT  
Safer Plymouth Partnership 
Thursday 8th May 2014 

 
LIST OF CONTENTS: 
 

1. Exception Items 
2. Current iQuanta Family Group Position 
3. Priority Indicators  

-  Closing the Gap in overall crime  
- Reduce Serious Acquisitive crime 
-    Reduce Violence with Injury 
-    Reduce Anti-Social behaviour 
-    Increase reporting of Domestic Abuse  
-    Increase number of racist, disablist, homophobic and faith incidents reported 
-    Increase the % satisfied with outcome of reported racist, disabilist, homophobic, faith & belief incidents 

 
5. a) DAAT –Alcohol/Drug Treatment Places 

b) Drug Epidemic  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 8



 - 2 -  

1. EXCEPTION ITEMS: 
KEY RISKS AND PERFORMANCE ISSUES, BY EXCEPTION, INCLUDING ANY HIGHLIGHTED BY CHAIRS OF DELIVERY GROUPS 
Closing the gap in overall crime  
TARGET NOT ACHIEVED (within 15% of target) - (2013/14 Target gap of not more than 73.5) 
- At the end of March 2014 the city rate 1000 population is 73.92/1000  compared to a rate of  per 148.3/1000 within the 10 highest rate 
neighbourhoods 
-End of year gap of 74.4 against a target of 73.5 for the year.   
 
The end of year out-turn shows an increase in overall crime against of 2012/13 of 2.12% (+393 crimes). This has not been helped by a higher than 
expected level of crime in the summer months and more unexpectedly in March 2014.  However, the gap has not worsened significantly suggesting an 
increase in crime spread across the city and not predominantly in the worst 10 neighbourhoods. It should be noted that in July 2013 the gap was 
showing a 5.91% increase – so there has been a closing of the gap since then to the end of the year.  
 
To reduce Serious Acquisitive Crime  
TARGET ACHIEVED - (2013/14 Target of not more than 2,216 crimes) 
- There were 1,969 crimes reported in 2013/14 which represents a decrease of 12% (275 fewer crimes) compared to 2012/13 (2,244).  
- Target of a 1.8% reduction in the rate per 1000 population has been achieved. The achievement of this target represents an overall reduction in 
Serious Acquisitive Crime of nearly 20% actual crimes since 2010/11.  
- The latest benchmarking data shows we are ranked BEST in our most similar group for serious acquisitive crime up to the end of March 2014. 
 
To reduce Violence with Injury (excluding DA) 
TARGET ACHIEVED - (2013/14 Target of not more than 1764 crimes) 
- There were 1,720 crimes reported in 2013/14 which represents a decrease of 3% (61 fewer crimes) compared to 2012/13 (1,781).  
- Target of a 1.6% reduction in the rate per 1000 population has been achieved. The new target for 2014/15 will be to record a 2% reduction in actual 
numbers of Violence with Injury excluding Domestic abuse related crimes.  
 
To reduce the rate of Anti-Social Behaviour incidents 
TARGET NOT ACHIEVED (within 15% of target) - (2013/14 Target of not more than 10,044 Incidents) 
- There were 10,299 ASB incidents recorded in 2013/14 which represents an increase of less than 1% (8 more incidents) compared to 2012/13 
(10,291).   
- The end of year out-turn rate of 39.92 per 1,000 population compares to a target of 38.93/1,000 meaning the target to reduce the rate of ASB by 
2.6% has not been achieved.    
 
Levels of ASB recorded compared to 2012/13 has fluctuated throughout the year, sometimes showing an increase and at other times a decrease. The 
reality is that levels of ASB are now steady after several years of very large year on year reductions.   
 

P
age 40



 - 3 -  

To Increase Reporting of Domestic Violence. (Crimes and Incidents) 
TARGET EXCEEDED - (2013/14 Target of more than 6,435 crimes) 
- There have been 7,103 domestic violence related incidents and crimes reported in 2013/14 which represents an increase of 17% (1,011 more 
incidents/crimes) compared to 2012/13 (6,092).  
- Therefore the target to increase the rate of reporting by 6% has been achieved.  
- The increase of domestic abuse reporting remains a priority for the Police and Crime Commissioner.  
 
FINANCE & RESOURCES 
 
These will be items on the Agenda. 

 
 
2. CURRENT OVERALL FAMILY GROUP POSITION: 

 
iQuanta Barchart MSG - Crimes per 1000 Residents   iQuanta Barchart MSG - Crimes per 1000 Residents  
All Crime 01 October 13 – 31 December 2013        All Crime 01 January 2014 – 31 March 2014 
 

 

P
age 41



 - 4 -  

 
3. PRIORITY INDICATORS WITH TARGETS 
Closing the gap in overall crime between city rate and priority neighbourhoods 

2013/14  Performance

10/11. 11/12. 12/13. Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

6.25 12.5 18.75 25 31.25 37.5 43.75 50 56.25 62.5 68.75 75

77.4 75 5.6 12.6 19.3 26.04 33.3 39.5 45.3 51.5 57.3 62.5 68.1 74.4

6.1 12.2 18.3 24.4 30.5 36.6 42.7 48.8 54.9 61 67.1 73.5

1498 1566 1527 1514 1618 1576 1629 1626 1454 1436 1537 1579

1498 3064 4591 6105 7723 9299 10928 12554 14008 15444 16981 18560

21081 18,713 1458 1671 1629 1708 1713 1562 1533 1493 1501 1463 1487 1735

21081 18,713 1458 3129 4758 6466 8179 9741 11274 12767 14268 15731 17218 18953

-2.67% 2.12% 3.64% 5.91% 5.90% 4.75% 3.17% 1.70% 1.86% 1.86% 1.40% 2.12%

Annual Data

Reduce the Gap between the worst 10 neighbourhoods & city average per 1000*

Gap 2012 - 2013 (Ave)

Gap 2013 - 2014

Target 13/14 (Rate)

All crime 2012 - 2013 monthly

All crime 2013 - 2014 monthly

% difference in All Crime 12/13 - 13/14

All Crime Culmative 2012 - 2013

All Crime Culmative 2013 - 2014

 
Within 15% of Target - (2013/14 Target gap of not more than 73.5) 
 
To reduce Serious Acquisitive Crime  

2013/14  Performance

10/11. 11/12. 12/13. Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

10.14 10.83 8.7 0.68 1.34 2.21 3.01 3.72 4.52 5.26 6 6.74 7.34 8.1 8.75

0.74 1.54 2.41 2.97 3.66 4.21 4.72 5.21 5.68 6.33 6.97 7.63

9.94 9.74 0.67 1.34 2.20 3.00 3.71 4.50 5.24 6.00 6.71 7.31 8.07 8.59

190 208 223 146 178 140 132 128 120 168 164 172

2802 2244 179 347 572 778 963 1169 1362 1559 1743 1899 2096 2244

190 398 621 767 945 1085 1217 1345 1465 1633 1797 1969

6.1% 15% 9% -1% -2% -7% -11% -14% -16% -14% -14% -12%

Rate 2012 - 2013

Rate 2013 - 2014

Target 13/14 (Rate)

Monthly Actual 13/14

Cum Actuals 12/13

Cum Actuals 13/14

% difference in Actuals

Serious Acquisitive Crime - Rate per 1000 population

Annual Data

 
 
 

P
age 42



 - 5 -  

ON TARGET - (2013/14 Target of not more than 2,216 crimes) 
To reduce Violence with Injury (excluding DA) 

2013/14  Performance

10/11. 11/12. 12/13. Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

6.95 0.59 1.29 1.87 2.39 2.98 3.59 4.13 4.71 5.38 5.90 6.43 6.95

0.55 1.18 1.72 2.29 2.84 3.39 4.00 4.54 5.14 5.61 6.14 6.67

0.58 1.26 1.86 2.36 2.97 3.57 4.1 4.67 5.36 5.85 6.35 6.84

142 163 139 147 141 142 159 139 154 121 138 135

1781 152 331 479 612 763 920 1058 1207 1380 1513 1648 1781

142 305 444 591 732 874 1033 1172 1326 1447 1585 1720

-7% -8% -7% -3% -4% -5% -2% -3% -4% -4% -4% -3%

Rate 2012 - 2013

Rate 2013 - 2014

Target 13/14(Rate)

Monthly Actual 13/14

Cum Actuals 12/13

Cum Actuals 13/14

% difference in Actuals

Violence with Injury (Excluding DV) - Rate per 1000 population

Annual Data

 
ON TARGET - (2013/14 Target of not more than 1764 crimes) 
 
To reduce the rate of Anti-Social Behaviour incidents 

2013/14  Performance

10/11. 11/12. 12/13. Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

72.82 55.44 40 3.59 7.78 11.17 14.67 18.6 22.22 25.37 28.2 30.83 33.68 36.67 40

2.98 6.60 10.35 14.74 18.55 21.87 25.34 28.47 31.43 34.14 36.52 39.92

72.09 49.89 3.53 7.63 10.95 14.39 18.22 21.79 24.88 27.68 30.21 33.00 35.94 38.93

769 934 967 1134 981 857 897 806 765 697 615 877

14342 10291 930 2014 2889 3796 4807 5749 6564 7305 7977 8714 9489 10291

769 1703 2670 3804 4785 5642 6539 7345 8110 8807 9422 10299

-17% -15% -8% 0% 0% -2% 0% 1% 2% 1% -1% 0%

Rate of Anti-social Behaviour incidents per 1000 population

Actuals 12/13

Actuals 13/14

% difference in Actuals

Rate 2013 - 2014

Target 13/14 (Rate)

Monthly Actual 13/14

Rate 2012 - 2013

Annual Data

Within 15% of Target - (2013/14 Target of not more than 10,044 Incidents) 

P
age 43



 - 6 -  

 
To Increase Reporting of Domestic Violence. (Crimes and Incidents) 

2013/14  Performance

10/11. 11/12. 12/13. Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2.06 3.87 5.75 7.82 9.93 11.82 13.61 15.33 17.45 19.51 21.54 23.68

1.91 4.10 6.31 9.03 11.66 13.88 16.22 18.36 20.82 22.95 25.05 27.53

2.18 4.11 6.10 8.30 10.52 12.54 14.44 16.27 18.52 20.70 22.87 25.13

493 564 572 702 678 572 603 552 636 548 544 639

528 996 1479 2011 2551 3039 3501 3943 4489 5018 5543 6092

493 1057 1629 2331 3009 3581 4184 4736 5372 5920 6464 7103

-6.63% 6.12% 10.14% 15.91% 17.95% 17.83% 19.51% 20.11% 19.67% 17.98% 16.62% 16.60%

Increase Reporting of Domestic Violence. (Crimes and Incidents)

Rate 2012 - 2013

Rate 2013 - 2014

Target 13/14 (Rate)

Monthly Actuals 13/14

Cum Actuals 13/14

% difference in Actuals

Cum Actuals 12/13

Annual Data

 
ON TARGET - (2013/14 Target of more than 6,435 crimes) 
 
The number of racist, disablist, homophobic and faith incidents reported 

2013/14  Performance

10/11. 11/12. 12/13. Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

46 96 144 195 239 287 334 377 425 471 520 569

569 51 106 144 192 247 300 347 390 444 496 551 603

50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450 500 550 600

Cumulative average 12/13

Cumulative average 13/14

Target required

The number of racist, disablist, homophobic and faith incidents reported

Annual Data

 

Within 15% of Target - (2013/14 Target of more than 599 Incidents) 
 
 
 
 

P
age 44



 - 7 -  

 
 
 
The % satisfied with outcome of reported racist, disabilist, homophobic, faith & belief incidents 

2013/14  Performance

10/11. 11/12. 12/13. Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

91.17% 90.58% 90.27% 90.35% 90.56% 90.85% 90.73% 90.31% 89.57% 89.16% 89.16% 89.18%

89.18% 88.23% 88.23% 89.12% 89.61% 89.44% 89.45% 89.28% 89.75% 88.82% 88.73% 88.95% 88.86%

89% 89% 89% 89% 89% 89% 89% 89% 89% 89% 89% 89%

Cumulative average 12/13

Cumulative average 13/14

Target average

The % satisfied with outcome of reported racist, disabilist, homophobic, faith & belief incidents

Annual Data

 
 

Within 15% of Target - (2013/14 Target of 89%) 
 
5a)  DAAT– Drug/ Alcohol Treatment Places:  

 Alcohol Treatment   

 Latest Information on alcohol treatment waiting list not received. 

 Drug Treatment  
 
 See report item 4d on Agenda 
 
5b) Drug Epidemic 
 
 See Report item 6f on Agenda. 
  
 
 

P
age 45



This page is intentionally left blank



SAFER PLYMOUTH PARTNERSHIP – PROPOSED TARGETS FOR 2014/15 
 
The proposed targets for Safer Plymouth Partnership for 2014/15 have suggested in liaison with the Chair 
of Safer Plymouth.  The Police have asked to see the targets and their comments have been included. 
 
As well as setting targets that will address local priorities identified by the Strategic Assessment, it is also 
important to consider the performance and crime measures being set for the Force by the Police and 
Crime Commissioner (P&CC).  The P&CC has reflected on the national debate about the relative merits 
of targets in measuring the effectiveness of policing and has adopted a more ‘mature’ approach to 
performance measurement and is not setting ‘numerical’ targets in any area for the coming year.  Rather 
than identifying specific targets to be achieved, the performance metrics in the Police and Crime Plan 
(Appendix 1) set direction of travel expectations across a broad range of crime measures and will be the 
basis on which progress will be assessed. The three tiers are: to maintain existing good performance; to 
improve current performance; and to bring about a transformation in the impact that the police is having 
upon a particular issue.   
 
The range of measures should be both an assessment of the overall health of the community, and a 
balanced approach that takes account of a number of factors that communities may be concerned about.  
 
Proposed Target Police Comments  
Close the Gap between the 10 
neighbourhoods with the highest crime 
rates and the city average per 1,000 
population 
Reduction: To reduce the gap between the 
city rate/ 1000 and the rate for the 10 
priority neighbourhoods by 2% using the 
2013/14 out-turn as a baseline. The gap 
between rates at the end of March 2014 is 
74.4 so target will be 72.92. 

Does not entirely reflect the P&CC Headline measure of 
‘victim based crime which excludes domestic and sexual 
abuse and hate crime’. 
 
There is a risk that this measure discourages proactive 
policing (possession offences etc., and works against the 
desire to increase reporting in other crime types.  

Increase reporting of domestic abuse  
Increase: 6% (equates to recording of more 
than 7,529 DA incidents in 2014/15, an 
increase of 426) 

Compliments the P&CC headline measure.   
Setting a ‘target rate’ is not in line with P&CC approach. 
 
Having a target prevents attainment being representative 
of the true situation – the true situation may be higher 
or lower than the target growth, the target growth is 
arbitrary and provides no evidence base for the realistic 
position regarding overall levels of domestic abuse.  

(New Target) Increase first-time 
reporters of domestic abuse 
2014/15 is a baseline setting year. 
(first-time reporters is defined as a victim who 
has not reported a domestic abuse incident to 
the Police within the previous 12 months) 
To be supplemented by monitoring of all 
first-time victims of domestic abuse who 
receive a PDAS service (excluding those who 
have reported to the Police) which will 
compliment the baseline-setting). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Supports P&CC headline measure 

Page 47



Reduce Violence with Injury (excl DA) 
Reduction:  2% (equates to recording of no 
more than 1,686 crimes in 2014/15, a 
decrease of 34 crimes) 
 
To be supplemented by monitoring the 
level of all alcohol-related violence and 
violence without injury 

Compliments P&CC headline measure 
Setting a ‘target rate’ not in line with P&CC approach.  
Compliments P&CC headline and secondary measure.  
Rather than ‘monitoring’ level of all alcohol-related 
violence – amend to ‘ascertain’.   
No Police measure – but use 2014/15 to set a baseline.   
 
The reliability of data to show true levels of alcohol 
related violence is problematic – whilst there is evidence 
that supports this as a priority, a measure is unreliable 
until we have established a real baseline through the use 
of all available data.  

Reduce the rate of Anti-Social 
Behaviour incidents per 1000 
population 
Reduction : 2.6% (equates to recording of 
no more than 10,031 incidents in 2014/15, a 
decrease of 268 incidents) 
 

No P&CC headline measure but is a crime communities 
continue to be concerned about 
Setting a ‘target rate’ not in line with P&CC approach.  
Police concern re validity of measure. 
 
Police data alone is not representative of all ASB  

(New Target) Increase the number of 
vulnerable victims of ASB support by 
the ASB Victim Champion Service 
Target:  300 victim referrals who then 
engage with the service1 
 
Qualitative measure:  90% satisfaction rate 
of those who engaged with the service. 

 
 
Supports P&CC headline measure 

Serious Acquisitive Crime – monitor 
levels only   
 

In respect of domestic burglary, the P&CC secondary 
measure is to ‘maintain current good performance’.  
Having no specific target supports the P&CC approach.  

The number of racist, disablist, 
homophobic and faith incidents 
reported 
Target: 610  

 
Supports P&CC headline measure 

The % satisfied with outcome of 
reported racist, disablist, homophobic, 
faith & belief incidents 
Qualitative measure: 90% satisfied  

 
Supports P&CC headline measure 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                            
1 On occasions, despite every effort by the ASB VC Service, those referred choose not to engage or do not respond to the 
contact attempts made by the service. 

Page 48



APPENDIX 1 - POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER – OUTCOMES/HEADLINE MEASURES 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

The Plymouth Fairness Commission final report 

 27 March 2014 

Working title: Creating the Conditions for Fairness 

 

EMBARGOED UNTIL 12AM 27TH MARCH  

  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 51 Agenda Item 9



 

2 
 

First page facing: A tale of two cities  

You are born in one of Plymouth’s most deprived areas; Devonport, St Peters and the 

Waterfront or Hami. That deprivation will influence your life chances from the moment you 

are conceived. You have a one in three chance of being born into a ‘vulnerable’ family, while 

43% of families in your area are on a low income and depend on benefits. Unsurprisingly, 

you’ll have between a 48% – 60% chance of being among Plymouth’s over 11,500 children 

living in poverty. Nearly a quarter of your friends’ parents are depressed or mentally ill, and 

over 14% suffer from violence in their family. 

You start school. 64% of your classmates won’t achieve the basic Early Years assessment 

level. It’s harder to study when your home’s cold and damp, and a third of Plymouth’s 

private sector stock is classed as ‘non-decent’. There’s a less than 35% chance you’ll get 5 or 

more GCSE’s. Statistically, you probably won’t make it to further education.  

You meet someone. If you’re a teenage girl you’re 40% more likely to get pregnant than the 

English and Welsh average. You need a job, but public sector employment in Plymouth has 

shrunk since the recession. The good news is there are 1,500 more jobs in the private 

sector. The bad news is they’re nearly all part time. With over a fifth of households earning 

less than £16,000, and half earning less than £20,000, the chances of your being able to buy a 

house are slim. Home ownership rates in Plymouth’s most deprived wards are between 22% 

and 38%ii. 

As you get older, you’re more likely to be obese or overweight, and to die early of cancer 

or circulatory disease. Your life expectancy is just 72.2 years, less than that of Vietnam or 

Lebanoniii. 

         --------------------------------------  0   ----------------------------------------- 

You are born into in one of Plymouth’s least deprived areas; Widewell, Peverell or 

Compton. You have a less than 5% chance of being born into a vulnerable family and less 

than 1 in ten children in your neighbourhood live in poverty. Only 5 – 10% of families are on 

low incomes, and only 2% claim Job Seekers Allowance. There’s a less than 5% chance you 

will experience violence in the family and only a 1 in ten chance of experiencing mental 

illness.  

You have a between 50% - 60% chance of achieving your Early Years assessment and at least 

a 70% chance of getting 5 or more GCSE’s. 35% of your classmates will go on to get a 

degree. You have between a 67% and 76% chance of owning your own home,  

As you get older, your chances of being obese or overweight, or of dying early of cancer or 

circulatory respiratory disease are comparatively lower. Your life expectancy is nearly 85, 

higher than Japan or Switzerlandiv. 

  

Page 52



 

3 
 

Contents:  

1. A message from the Plymouth Fairness Commission 

2. Plymouth: a city in transit 

3. Plymouth Fairness Commission – Our approach to fairness 

4. A Call for Evidence 

5. 2013 – The Summer of Listening 

6. What matters most – Plymouth’s priorities 

7. Tackling a low aspiration culture 

8. Reducing isolation 

9. Communities – doing with, not doing to 

10. Connecting Communities (C2) 

11. Progress since the Summer of Listening 

12. Summary of recommendations 

13. The principles of fairness 

14. A new approach to leadership 

15. Strengthening Local Communities 

- Helping communities shape their future 

- Handing back power 

- A vibrant voluntary sector 

- Helping communities know their rights 

16. Individual and Family Wellbeing 

- The fundamental unfairness of Plymouth’s central funding 

- Public health funding - Plymouth’s case for change 

- Primary healthcare – equity and access 

- Mental health in Plymouth 

- Minimising the harm of alcohol 

- Domestic abuse and violence 

- Better nutrition across the city 

- Free school meals 

- The food poverty epidemic 

17. Young People and Young Adults 

- Closing the aspiration and achievement gap  

- Improving access to activities for the young 

- Caring for Plymouth’s young carers 

18. Discrimination 

19. Escalating Cost of Living 

- A Living Wage for Plymouth 

- Zero hours contracts 

- Debt - Halting the tide of payday lenders 

- Affordable credit 

- ‘Fair Money’ campaigning 

20. Strengthening the Local Economy 

Page 53



 

4 
 

- Efficient transport links 

- Keeping money in the local economy 

- Thinking social value 

- Access for small businesses 

21. Housing 

- The private rented sector 

- Specialist housing 

22. The Implications of an Ageing Population 

- Joining up services for older people 

- Becoming a Dementia Friendly City 

23. Next steps, evaluation and monitoring 

24. Acknowledgements 

25. References 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 54



 

5 
 

A message from the Plymouth Fairness Commission  

Insert: group photo of the Plymouth Fairness Commission 

‘We are the voice of the people who spoke to us. We need to pay attention to 

the regeneration of human beings rather than just the regeneration of buildings 

and places. Unless we journey on that road, we will simply have lots of agencies 

continue to tickle the surface of inequality – what will make the city a fairer 

place is the individual members of our city. ’  

- Father Sam Philpott, Fairness Commissioner  

We know Plymouth has many things going for it. An inspiring history, a gateway location and 

vibrant and diverse communities among them. People have told us how much they value 

residential and commercial redevelopment happening, the quality of, and access to, adult 

education and the high standards in schools. Most of us live here and we see the great things 

happening in our city every day. Our work is here, our children go to school here and we 

spend most of our leisure time with friends and family right here. We are also all experts in 

our individual fields who have been happy to give our time to the Commission for free.  

But we know Plymouth also has deep-seated problems. Far too many people here 

experience profound unfairness in many areas of their lives. We spent a lot of last summer 

listening to the people of Plymouth tell us about how they experience this unfairness. 

In housing, where children are ill because of damp and don’t have enough room to do their 

homework. In transport, where rail links to other business centres are indirect and 

expensive and bus journeys are too often circuitous and costly, especially for young people 

and apprentices. In income, where low wages and benefit delays are forcing more and more 

people to choose between paying the bills and buying decent food. In healthcare, where life 

expectancy in some areas is shockingly low and people have to travel for hard-to-get GP 

appointments. And in jobs, where the opportunities for workers and their children are often 

all too limited. 

Everyone makes different choices in their lives but some people have many more choices 

than others. The differences in the opportunities available to people in Plymouth depend far 

too much on their postcode. People in this city don’t want a ‘Them and Us’ Plymouth - they 

want a fairer city for everyone.  

There is a huge range of programmes already planned for Plymouth, from the City Dealv to 

the wide-ranging Dementiavi and Child Povertyvii Strategies. These are encouraging 

developments which our recommendations build on. We were brought together to find out 

what people in Plymouth think is fair and unfair about life in the city and then make 

recommendations for action to make things fairer for Plymouth as a whole. We have tried 

not to make assumptions. That’s why we have spent over a year listening to what 

Plymouth’s residents have told us make the most difference to them. They told us of the 

many things in Plymouth which they felt were fair, and of the unfairnesses they experienced 

Page 55



 

6 
 

in different aspects of their lives. Our recommendations have been shaped by their 

responses. 

We welcome the work that other Fairness Commissions across the country have 

undertaken so far. We’ve learned a lot from them. They’ve revealed a lot of issues that 

cities have in common, like the growth in poverty among people both in and out of work, 

the growing housing crisis and the need to invest in opportunities for young people. They’ve 

also highlighted problems that are far more specific to their individual cities. In that respect, 

the report of the Plymouth Fairness Commission is no different. Where our report is 

different, however, is in two ways. 

The first is about encouraging a profound change in the way agencies and communities work 

together. To move from a situation where communities are ‘done to’ to one where they 

work collaboratively to ‘do with’ agencies to prioritise and deliver solutions themselves. We 

have highlighted one approach to working this way throughout this report. It is a new 

approach to devolving local power called ‘Systems Leadership’, which fosters a sense of 

aspiration and community involvement in decision- making. 

The second is in recognising that an important aspect of Plymouth’s unfairness involves the 

way we live together and relate to each other. The incidence of domestic violence in the 

city is very high and we heard evidence of attacks on asylum seekers, disabled people and 

others perceived as ‘different’. Our society as a whole has become more unequal, and 

evidence indicates social inequality is a driver of social breakdown. Where possible, we have 

tried to address unfairness from this perspective as well.  

Rebalancing fairness in our city will not happen overnight, but it is a process that many 

organisations and individuals in Plymouth have already started. We hope that our 

recommendations will add a new emphasis to the need to work more collaboratively and 

constructively to create the conditions needed for a fairer city.  

We have been angered, moved and inspired by what so many of the people of Plymouth 

have told us. This is their report.  

 

Dame Suzi Leather, Chair of the Plymouth Fairness Commission 

Steve Baker, Principal, Lipson Co-operative Academy 

Mark Bignall, Chief Executive Hamoaze House 

Andy Boulting, Chief Superintendent, Plymouth Commander, Devon and Cornwall Police 

Professor Kevin Elliston, Public Health Consultant in Health Improvement, Public Health 

England 

Marc Gardiner, Director, Zebra Collective 

Page 56



 

7 
 

Jo Higson, Life and Business Coach, Blue Parakeet Coaching CIC 

Mike Jarman, Chief Executive, Plymouth Zone 

Joanne Kaye, SW Regional Secretary, UNISON 

Ann Kinahan, Chief Executive, Plymouth Citizen’s Advice Bureau 

Paul Lacey, Music Leader, Plymouth Music Zone 

Glynis Lidster, Centre Manager, Welcome Hall 

Rob Nelder, Consultant in Public Health, Plymouth City Council 

Councillor Chris Penberthy (St Peter and the Waterfront), Cabinet Member for Co-

operatives and Community Development, Plymouth City Council 

Father Sam Philpott 

Ann Pointon, Chair, Plymouth Area Disability Action Network 

Ian Potts, Managing Director, Architects Design Group 

Councillor Dr David Salter (Plympton Chaddlewood), Plymouth City Council 

Sue Shaw, Director of Homes and Neighbourhoods, Plymouth Community Homes 

Lesley Shorrocks, Chair, Plymouth Federation of Small Businesses 

Sheila Snelgrove, Director, Barbican Theatre 

Professor Richard Stephenson, Dean and Pro Vice-Chancellor – Faculty of Health, Plymouth 

University 

 

 

Page 57



 

8 
 

Plymouth: a city in transit 

Historically, Plymouth’s location has proved both a blessing and a curse. Its natural harbours 

ensured it became the South West’s biggest port and shipbuilder, while its coastline and 

position as the gateway to Cornwall and Dartmoor attracts five and a half million tourists a 

year. Yet it was Plymouth’s major port status which made it a target for sustained air attack 

in the Second World War and destroyed the old city layout. Post war rebuilding created a 

new urban plan which now creates obstacles for many people travelling to the areas of high 

employment of Belliver, Estover and Langage. In the most deprived areas, getting to work 

often involves at least two different bus journeys. These areas also have low levels of vehicle 

ownership, which further reduces travel options. 

The boom times have left Plymouth. Its maritime heritage and expertise made it a natural 

choice for the defence, manufacturing and construction industries. Yet the city’s reliance on 

these industries meant Plymouth suffered a deeper recession than most after 2008. Yet, as 

the south coast’s second largest city, Plymouth has also attracted a high number of public 

sector employers, including health, education, administration and universities. Plymouth’s 

universities contribute hundreds of millions of pounds to the region’s economy and its naval 

dockyard at Devonport remains the largest and most advanced in Western Europe. 

Inevitably, because public sector employee numbers in the city are larger than the national 

average, cuts to public services have impacted disproportionally on employment. 

As the public sector has shrunk during austerity, so too have its employment opportunities; 

between 2008 and 2010, Plymouth lost 6,400 jobsviii. Today, Plymouth’s business start-up 

rates are among the lowest in the country and yet their survival rate after five years is 

better than the national average.  The city’s GVA (Gross Value Added) has been only 

around 84% of the UK average for many years.  

Plymouth’s infrastructure has been disproportionately shaped by its seafaring history. Poor 

rail links make travel between the city and other business centres time consuming and 

expensive. As the February 2014 storms showed, Plymouth and its neighbours are 

extremely vulnerable to railway failure.  

Even in comparison to the growing national levels of private renting, more people in 

Plymouth live in privately rented homes than average. A third of these homes, around 

30,000 in all, are classed as ‘non-decent’ according to the decent homes standard, with 

consequences for residents’ health. The city isn’t short of good examples of social housing, 

such as the Devonport regeneration scheme. However, most social housing is 

predominantly found in the West of the city, exacerbating the East/West divide. 

The escalating cost of living, affecting growing numbers across the country, is hitting 

Plymouth particularly hard. The city remains a relatively low wage economy. Over 20% of 

the city’s households earn less than £16,000 and over half earn less than £20,000. Over 29% 

of adults in Plymouth are over indebted, one of the highest percentages in the country and 

the highest in the South West. 

Page 58



 

9 
 

Disadvantage is growing yet funding is shrinking. Contraction in central Government funding 

means that Plymouth City Council must make a further £64.5 millionix in cuts in the next 

three years. In many cities, these levels of cuts will require local government to work with 

communities in new ways to co-produce the services they need. 

Deciding who gets what requires incredibly difficult choices in the face of so much need. 

These decisions must not be made solely by the public sector. Nor must they perpetuate 

the way in which the disadvantaged of Plymouth have been ‘done to’ in the past.  

Post-maritime boom town, post-engineering hotspot and post-recession, Plymouth is again a 

city in socio-economic transit.  The next stage of its development must be shaped by all of 

its communities. The Plymouth Fairness Commission was set up to help the people of 

Plymouth become genuinely involved in deciding and implementing the changes needed to 

help all its residents live in a fairer city. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 59



 

10 
 

Plymouth Fairness Commission - Our approach to fairness 

‘Fairness’ is probably one of the most subjective words in any language. What’s ‘fair’ to one 

group can seem like special pleading to another, and there will always be different views 

about priorities. However, we do have many statistics and indices which show that life 

chances in Plymouth, as in most cities, are not fair. The location and circumstances into 

which you are born are likely to influence the rest of your life, for good or bad. Great news 

if you’re born into affluence, but potentially damning if you’re born into deprivation. Our 

role is to provide recommendations to limit the impact these conditions have on reducing 

the life chances of people in Plymouth.  

We also know that societies with large income gaps and greater inequality have poorer 

outcomes for health, education and social cohesion overall. If we help create the conditions 

where everyone is included, everyone in the city will benefit. 

We think a city should find ways to challenge exclusion and the obstacles to social 

connection and opportunity, especially in education, living and working conditions. These 

are statistically the most significant areas which help, or hinder, people in living productive 

and satisfying lives.  

Everyone in Plymouth deserves an equal chance at opportunity. This can mean providing 

more for those who have less - to give everyone the same chance to learn, to travel to 

shops and services, to live in decent housing and to have a say about decisions which affect 

them.  

Rather than engage in philosophical or political debates, we decided to find out what fairness 

and unfairness issues people in Plymouth were experiencing in their daily lives.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 60



 

11 
 

A Call for Evidence 

“Unemployment is tough for the young and the elderly, as it seems like there is 

a lack of opportunities for them in the city. No one seems to be creating new 

jobs and because of the government cuts jobs that existed before are merged or 

lost. It means it's just harder for people to get employed” 

- Participant from the Summer of Listening 

The Plymouth Fairness Commission was launched in April 2013. We immediately began a 

statistical review to give us a socio-economic profile of Plymouth against key areas of 

fairness. These included health, education, housing and employment. In May, we launched A 

Call for Evidence, asking people and organisations in the city to give us their evidence and 

views on a broad range of questions. Their evidence, the expert knowledge of the 

Commissioners and a review of the findings of other Fairness Commission helped us 

develop our recommendations. 

 All the documents and findings from the Plymouth Fairness Commission are available at: 

www.plymouthfairnesscommission.co.uk  

 

2013 - The Summer of Listening 

“The unemployed suffer because they are on a low amount of money. There are 

jobs out there but it takes time to get them. My partner has had to take a cut in 

wages since he moved to Plymouth.”  

“Homeless people have a lot of problems. They find it really hard to get housing 

and it’s really dangerous on the streets.” 

- Participants from the Summer of Listening 

Throughout the summer of 2013, we went out to meet Plymouth’s residents, businesses, 

professionals, academics and community groups. We wanted to hear their views of what 

was fair and unfair in the city, and their suggestions for tackling unfairness. Through 

walkabouts, drop-in events, meetings, street surveys, panels and online questionnaires we 

heard from over 1,000 people and organisations, many of them representing larger groups.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61

http://www.plymouthfairnesscommission.co.uk/


 

12 
 

What matters most – Plymouth’s priorities 

“The cost of living is too high for the type of industry and area. Housing costs 

are also too high. People have no money and there are too many second 

homeowners in the area.” 

“Those whose income is under £25,000 struggle substantially.” 

“Disabled people don’t get as much help as others.” 

- Participants from the Summer of Listening 

From the findings of the Summer of Listening, and using the Principles of Fairness we used 

what Plymouth’s residents told us to identify eight key areas with the highest impact on 

fairness in the city. These are the issues where Plymouth residents think change will make 

the most difference: 

 Strengthening Communities 

 Individual and Family Wellbeing 

 Young People and Young Adults 

 Discrimination and Social Exclusion 

 Escalating Cost of Living 

 Strengthening the Local Economy 

 Housing 

 Implications of an Ageing Population 

We know these issues don’t exist in isolation from each other. In terms of cause and effect, 

many of them overlap and many people experience some or all of them every day. 

Disadvantage in one area is cumulative and compounded by disadvantage in others. Our 

approach is to look at ways of tackling unfairness in key areas across the city overall. 

Our detailed position statement is available here: www.plymouthfairnesscommission.co.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 62



 

13 
 

Tackling a low aspiration culture 

During the Summer of Listening, it became clear that as well as the economic, health and 

infrastructure barriers facing Plymouth, there is something restrictive about the wider 

culture of the city. Many young people we spoke to didn’t aspire to further or higher 

education and many feel pretty hopeless about their future employment prospects. The 

outlook of Plymouth’s young carers was particularly bleak. Despite doing much great work 

in incredibly tough circumstances, Plymouth’s voluntary and community sector is 

comparatively disjointed and insular, and too reliant on silo-thinking. Schools, too, can be 

passive about implementing cutting edge and innovative initiatives to raise aspiration and 

break down artificial barriers between children from different groups. There was a sense 

from many respondents that leadership by example was lacking across many organisations in 

‘authority’, and that private, public and voluntary sectors are too insulated from each other.  

Although culture, by its very nature, is intangible, the Commission believes that tackling this 

insular culture of low aspiration must be an intrinsic part of its recommendations. 

 

Reducing isolation 

“There are a lot of lonely people in Plymouth. Some people don’t see anyone all 

day.” 

- Participant from the Summer of Listening 

Loneliness, being connected to others and feeling included in wider society are all issues 

which are difficult to quantify but vital to address. During the Summer of Listening, we 

received a powerful impression of a lack of ‘connectedness’ in the city. Partly because of 

transport links, partly because of the severity of cuts to public services and partly because of 

the far-flung layout of the city itself, Plymouth seems to be a place where it can be hard to 

‘plug- in’.  

This lack of connection to, and between, individuals and groups must be tackled. Social 

interaction, feeling connected to others, knowing you that you are supporting them and 

they you, have powerful impacts on health and premature death. Social relationships need to 

move up the city’s agenda. We strongly encourage public bodies to pro-actively find ways of 

fostering connectivity in their planning, decisions and ways of working. 

We hope this issue is one where debate will slowly start to make Plymouth a city where it 

is much easier to connect, and much harder to fall between the social cracks. 

 

 

 

Page 63



 

14 
 

Communities – doing with, not doing to 

“They should listen more to people within the community and get their 

opinions, because they have first- hand experience of what's going on in the 

community. When they do get their advice they should actually use the 

information and put it to use, not ignore it.” 

- Participant from the Summer of Listening 

A lot of people who gave evidence during the Summer of Listening told us they were tired 

of so-called consultations which were anything but. Many said that decisions affecting their 

communities were imposed from outside, while their concerns about important aspects of 

their communities, such as primary healthcare provision and anti-social behaviour, were 

ignored. The Fairness Commission agrees they have a point, and it’s time to try a new way 

of putting communities back in the driving seat. 

 

Connecting Communities (C2) 

Developed by the University of Exeter, the Connecting Communities (C2)x programme is 

working to transform a number of deprived communities across the country, including parts 

of the South West.  

With very small amounts of money – and sometimes with none at all – C2 works with local 

communities and local agencies to identify the people with drive, motivation and the respect 

of their community. It then creates a genuine partnership between these key local residents, 

local service providers such as GPs, the police and other key individuals and local 

organisations with a stake in creating change. This group learns about supporting fellow-

residents in managing and leading projects, with regular community events to let everyone in 

the neighbourhood know what’s happening and find out their priorities for change. 

The partnership group acts on what it’s heard, analysing what needs doing and how, and 

keeping their communities informed. Partnership meetings are held to review progress, 

check or start funding applications and encourage more involvement from the wider 

community, including volunteering. By this point, experience shows that statutory agencies 

are working much more closely with communities, funding is easier to attract and issues 

further down the original ‘urgent’ priority list can now be tackled too.  

Eventually, sufficient funding is secured to employ one or more of the original group to 

make sure change continues. And, with the benefits now reaching growing numbers of local 

residents, they are also committed to stay involved to keep the change happening. It’s such a 

simple concept, but time after time it has been shown to create profound and lasting 

change, owned and delivered by communities themselves. 

Using this type of approach, the Fairness Commission is working with Plymouth City 

Council to look at transforming the way decisions that affect communities are made. This is 

Page 64



 

15 
 

the type of thinking that we want to see adopted by those who currently have the power to 

decide - giving that power back to those who live with the consequences of these decisions. 

Not only is it an approach with a proven track-record but, in the longer term, it’s one which 

is likely to reduce the need for already-stretched public services and public sector budgets. 

The C2 programme has been implemented in Barne Barton since July 2013, and the learning 

from this has fed into the development of the Commission’s recommendations. 

Whether the current C2 programme is used in the long term, or another community-led 

system is put in place, the end goal is the devolution of decision making to communities 

themselves.  More information about the C2 programme can be found at 

www.plymouthfairnesscommission.co.uk 

 

 

C2 – A Beacon in Falmouth  

The Beacon Estate in Cornwall ranks among the 10% most deprived wards in the country. 

In 1995 a third of its households lived in poverty and it had the highest percentage of 

children living in families with no wage earner. With over half its homes lacking central 

heating, the estate also had high numbers of children suffering from asthma and other 

respiratory diseases. 

In a climate of mistrust between the police and the community, the police only ventured in 

to the Beacon when they had to. Violent crime, drug dealing and intimidation were rife. 

Four-year olds were stoning each other, while their mothers were violently fighting each 

other even on school premises. The Council, too, had all but given up. ‘There was no sense 

it could be improved’, the Council’s housing officer said at the time. Beacon was essentially a 

community in despair. 

In 1995, two health visitors to the Estate, overwhelmed by the ‘bottomless pit of need’ of 

their caseloads, decided enough was enough. They decided to tackle the underlying factors 

causing the Beacon’s residents’ ‘hopelessness’. They created a twin-track approach. On one 

hand, they developed leadership amongst residents and, on the other, they set about re-

engaging the public agencies. The police, Carrick District Council housing (CDC) and a local 

headmaster agreed to support and listen to residents’ concerns.  

Using their relationships with local families, these two health visitors brought together a 

core group of residents with the motivation and commitment to engage fellow residents. 

Soon, the first tenants’ and residents’ association was born. At a public meeting, police, local 

authority and education, listened first hand to 120 Beacon residents.  And that’s when 

everything changed. That evening, by consensus, it was decided to form the resident- led 

Beacon Community Regeneration Partnership (BCRP) to apply for Government funding to 

improve the housing stock. 

Page 65



 

16 
 

BCRP were soon awarded £1.2 million to which CDC added another £1 million and handed 

over decision- making powers to spend £2.2million to BCRP.  After decades of neglect, over 

1000 properties were improved which transformed the look of the estate.  

The mood in the Beacon altered and community, self-organised activities sprung up; a 

skateboard park, luncheon clubs, a parent and toddler group amongst many others. In 1999 

BCRP won an NHS monetary award for health improvement and refurbished two empty 

shops – which became the new community resource centre and Beacon Care Centre 

offering a whole range of nurse-led care, including sexual health. 

Just four years after the new approach began, levels of post-natal depression were down by 

70%, the number of children on the Child Protection Register had dropped by 60%, and 

childhood asthma rates were cut in half. Unemployment fell by 71% and crime rates were 

halved. The SATS scores for 10 and 11 year old boys saw a 100% improvement. The 

teenage pregnancy rate dropped to zero. 

Fifteen years later, BCRP is still resident led, crime is zero and new businesses continue to 

spring up, employing more local residents. Costs were, and are, incredibly low, given that 

most of the work is provided by existing frontline staff and residents giving their time for 

free.  

The Beacon was a community that was given the chance to transform itself. The residents 

grabbed the opportunity with both hands and they’ve never looked back. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 66



 

17 
 

Progress since the Summer of Listening 

“At least we live in a society that tries to help others who need it” 

- Participant from the Summer of Listening 

Since the Summer of Listening, we have visited other Fairness Commissions and met with 

many specialists, community groups and charities. We’ve learned from experts and people 

delivering services across a wide range of issues; from investment to alcohol abuse, 

apprenticeships to entrepreneurs, from housing to homelessness and many, many more. 

Learning from councils as far apart as Sheffield and Islington, we’ve investigated why some 

initiatives work and others don’t, and built a detailed understanding of which of these can 

make the biggest differences to Plymouth. 

In this report, we have deliberately offered both high-level (usually national) and local 

recommendations for each of the eight themes. Plymouth has its own problems and its own 

potential. People in this city need to know about both the specific recommendations to 

solve challenges and, importantly, who has responsibility for implementing them. But there 

are some recommendations we think would make a difference to Plymouth which can only 

be delivered by central Government. Other Fairness Commissions have come to the same 

conclusion. Our national recommendations are included in this report which we will send to 

the Secretary of State for the Department for Communities and Local Government, the 

Department for Work and Pensions, other relevant Government Departments and the 

Local Government Association, asking for their response. 

But achieving fundamental and sustainable change in Plymouth cannot be delivered solely by 

government, whether local or central. Making these recommendations a reality will need the 

combined effort and commitment of the city’s private and public sectors and, not least, the 

people of Plymouth themselves. Having seen the real and lasting difference these 

recommendations have made to the economic and personal lives of people in other cities, 

we urge everyone in Plymouth to make them their own. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 67



 

18 
 

Summary of recommendations 

 

Principles of fairness 

Local recommendation 

1. That the Plymouth Fairness Commission’s Principles of Fairness are agreed by all public 

bodies in Plymouth, with consideration of how they are included in decision making. 

A new approach to leadership 

Local recommendations 

2. That all public bodies in Plymouth learn about the Systems Leadership approach. 

3. That a similar approach is part of the induction and training process for all staff in 

Plymouth’s public sector. 

4. That measurable objectives on implementing this type of approach are included in the 

performance objectives of senior staff in all Plymouth’s public sector bodies. 

5. That all bodies cited against recommendations in the Plymouth Fairness Commission’s 

report agree a Systems Leadership approach to the way they implement them. 

Strengthening Local Communities  

Local recommendations 

6. That all public sector agencies in Plymouth review the way they currently engage with 

communities and agree an approach which ensures benefits are shared across 

communities. 

7. That public sector agencies fully explore ways of engaging with communities of interest 

and identity in a way that works for the individual members of those communities.  

8. That local councillors review their current ways of working as elected representatives of 

local communities. 

9. That an external, independent civil society expert undertakes a critical review of 

Plymouth’s voluntary and community sector and provides recommendations to 

strengthen it. 

10. The urgent resolution of issues preventing the provision of professional indemnity 

insurance is needed to widen the availability of free specialist legal advice. 

Individual and Family Wellbeing  

National recommendations 

11. That a fair, needs based and long-term funding settlement for local government and 

other sectors should be urgently developed by central Government. 

  

Page 68



 

19 
 

12. That Plymouth City Council’s current grant allocation for public health is urgently 

reviewed by the Department for Health.   

13. That the National Institute for Clinical Excellence’s recommendation of a national 

minimum price per unit of alcohol is implemented. 

14. That the Local Government Association’s proposals for reforming the current licensing 

system for alcohol is implemented to limit 24-hour licensing in areas where alcohol 

causes harm. 

15. That the current provision of universal free school meals to Year 1 and 2 pupils in infant 

schools due to come into effect in September 2014, be extended to all primary school 

children. 

16. That the Department for Work and Pensions urgently addresses the delays in benefit 

payments when individual circumstances change, and the inappropriate use of benefit 

sanctions. 

Local recommendations 

17. That all parts of the public sector jointly quantify Plymouth’s ‘Missing Millions’ to make 

the case to Government for fairer funding for the city. 

18. That a review of primary care provision across Plymouth is undertaken to ensure 

equitable access to primary care based on identified local needs. 

19. The development of an agreed comprehensive response to Plymouth’s mental health 

needs, and the publication of resourced commissioning plans. 

20. That a joint review is completed to agree appropriate crisis responses for those 

presenting with a mental health need. 

21. The development, resourcing and implementation of an evidence-based and coordinated 

approach to reduce the sale of cheap vodka and ‘super strength’ beer and cider, as per 

Plymouth’s Strategic Alcohol Plan. 

22. That confirmation is given that systems and funding to deliver the Commissioning Plan 

for the Plymouth Domestic Abuse Partnership 2012-2019 will be adequate and 

sufficiently resourced to meet the scale of the problem. 

23. That cross-sector funding for Domestic Abuse services is protected and, where 

appropriate, increased to ensure sufficient services and support to meet rising demand. 

24. That all primary school children in Plymouth are offered a free school meal. 

25. That a pilot is undertaken to assess the potential take-up, costs and benefits of providing 

a free daily meal to disadvantaged pupils outside term-time. 

26. That all schools providing meals in Plymouth should meet the National School Food 

Standards. 

27. That Plymouth City Council’s Public Health remit on healthy weight be expanded to 

include food poverty, with responsibility for co-ordinating food poverty initiatives across 

the city. 

28. That Plymouth City Council amend its spatial planning policy to enable the restriction of 

fast food outlets within 400 metres or less from a school, youth facility or park. 

29. That Plymouth City Council work with the organisers of Plymouth’s main events, such 

as the Fireworks Championships, to reduce the provision of low nutritional value food 

and improve the food offer.  

Page 69



 

20 
 

30. That current food initiatives are better coordinated to ensure they reach Plymouth’s 

food deserts. 

Young People and Young Adults 

National recommendation 

31. That the Department for Education takes active steps to ensure collaboration and 

sharing best practice is demonstrated by new types of schools, e.g. academies through 

formal policy and practice. 

Local recommendations 

32. That extending the implementation of the Plymouth Primary Teaching School Alliance’s 

collaborative model to Plymouth’s secondary schools is made a priority. 

33. That a specific review is held to understand and address the factors that prevent young 

people taking up apprenticeships, and concrete steps agreed to address them.  

34. That a ‘Virtual Sixth Form’ is developed, providing city-wide timetable of courses 

available from Plymouth’s education institutions is made available online to support 16 – 

18 year olds.  

35. That a consistent set of Information, Advice and Guidance (IAG) protocols, covering all 

providers is developed for young people choosing their post-16 options. 

36. That all primary and secondary schools develop an alumni programme. 

37. That all Plymouth’s secondary schools and other learning institutions develop 

relationships with local and regional employers to encourage presentations, workshops 

and placements and help pupils become ‘work ready’.  

38. That a formal system is brokered linking schools and businesses so all young people have 

fair access to internships, work placements and youth enterprise schemes.   

39. That a ‘Positive Youth’ approach to the commissioning of services for young people in 

the city is developed. 

40. That every young person in the city should be able to access free recreational and 

cultural activities within one bus ride. 

41. That the touchpoints of contact for Plymouth’s young carers are identified and actively 

targeted to ensure more young carers contact and benefit from Youth Services.  

Discrimination 

Local recommendation 

42. That organisations from all sectors in the city generate leadership on tackling 

discrimination in all its forms, against specific actions. 

  

Page 70



 

21 
 

Escalating Cost of Living 

National recommendations 

43. That the Government leads in encouraging employers to pay the recommended Living 

Wage and requires all Government Departments to pay their employees at this level, as 

a minimum. 

44. That the Local Government Association’s demands for changes to the existing planning 

and licensing laws in relation to new betting premises are actioned. 

Local recommendations 

45. That all public sector bodies in Plymouth should commit to pay their staff, and those of 

the employees of agencies that work for them, the Living Wage.  

46. That Plymouth City Council and other public sector agencies engage with 

subcontractors to ensure that they in turn pay 100% of their workers a Living Wage 

within two years.  

47. That all private sector employers in Plymouth aim to implement the Living Wage for all 

their employees to ensure Plymouth becomes a Living Wage City across all sectors. 

48. That  an annual ‘Fair Pay in Plymouth’ report is published in the Plymouth Herald, 

including an explanation of executive pay, with top to median pay ratios and all taxable 

earnings. 

49. That the use of zero hours contracts across the city should be monitored annually. 

50. That exclusive zero hours contracts are not advertised by job centres or recruitment 

agencies in Plymouth. 

51. That all public sector agencies review their current use of subcontractors and 

commissioned services that use exclusive zero hours contracts and pledge to 

commission only from services that do not restrict their employees to exclusive zero 

hours contracts. 

52. That Plymouth City Council demonstrates it is maximising its planning restrictions, 

within the current legal framework, to control the number of betting shops, fixed odds 

betting terminals and payday lenders in the city.  

53. That the Plymouth universities partner with schools and youth organisations to provide 

peer mentoring to train young people to become confident in budgeting and managing 

money. 

54. That Plymouth City Council works with partners to develop robust visible campaigns 

against the use of payday loans and illegal loan sharks. 

55. That Plymouth City Council, housing associations and other agencies work together to 

consolidate customers’ debts, offer payment plans and signpost to expert sources of 

help and advice.   

56. That every point of access with public agencies should provide clear and accessible links 

to specialist debt advice, benefit maximisation and sources of affordable credit, readily 

and prominently on their websites.  

57. That Plymouth credit unions and their partners take greater responsibility for ensuring 

that they offer a broad range of services that benefit the city, against a number of specific 

steps. If this is unachievable, Plymouth City Council should step in to take action. 

Page 71



 

22 
 

58. That a baseline of current need for, and availability of, affordable credit is developed to 

ensure city-wide access and availability to individuals and enterprises.  

59. That an annual pre-Christmas campaign is held which brings together debt and money 

advice services, banks, trade unions, credit unions and relevant Council departments to 

raise awareness of their services and provide opportunities for action. 

60. The development of an annual, city-wide ‘Fair Money’ awards dinner, sponsored by the 

large high–street banks, with award categories against which the people of Plymouth can 

vote. 

Strengthening the Local Economy 

National recommendations 

61. That the Department for Transport and the Treasury review funding allocations in the 

UK with a view to creating more equitable funding in the South West. 

62. That the Department of Transport and the Treasury urgently address Plymouth’s need 

for a fast and resilient rail line connecting the South West to the rest of the UK. 

Local recommendations 

63. That a ‘Buy Local, Give Local’ trademark scheme is developed for local traders, 

producers, public bodies and the voluntary sector to help customers and producers 

identify local providers. 

64. That Plymouth City Council should review all the charitable trusts for which it is a 

corporate trustee and explore methods of amalgamating them and transferring the 

management of their assets to a Plymouth community-based charity. 

65. That all public sector and all large private organisations in Plymouth develop a social 

value/sustainability statement with clear social value outcomes and measures. 

66. That all public sector agencies fully explore the steps they could take towards meeting 

best practice, beyond the requirements of the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012, to 

ensure the inclusion of social value in all contracts for goods and services. 

67. That the City Deal clarifies both how it will deliver social value and how this delivery will 

be measured and evaluated. 

68. That baseline data on current public spending with local businesses is established, to 

enable public bodies in Plymouth to create clear targets for their spending with local 

businesses, and report on them as part of their annual reporting mechanisms. 

69. That work is undertaken with the South West Investors Group and other community 

finance organisations to increase the amount of capital available for microfinance and 

small business lending in Plymouth. 

70. That a thorough review of the current Sell2Plymouth portal and associated procurement 

systems of public sector agencies is completed, and recommendations made for changes 

to ensure there is an efficient link-up of public sector commissioners with private sector 

suppliers. 

71. That the Growth Board reviews the way in which Micro businesses and SMEs contribute 

to  governance, consultations and decisions, and makes recommendations to  deliver 

greater transparency in their involvement and engagement. 

Page 72



 

23 
 

Housing 

National recommendations 

72. That a National Register of Landlords is established. 

73. That local Councils are given the ability to issue fixed penalty notices both to reduce 

enforcement costs and allow prompt action for breaches of legislation. 

74. That new standards for housing are developed to make it easier for both landlords and 

tenants to know if standards are being met.  

75. That the currently expensive, complex and bureaucratic Compulsory Purchase 

legislation available to councils should be simplified, as recommended by the Local 

Government Association.  

Local recommendations 

76. That Plymouth City Council develops a comprehensive, and resourced, response to 

raising standards in the private rented housing sector. 

77. That Plymouth undertakes a pilot to investigate the viability of a voluntary licensing and 

accreditation scheme for private sector landlords. 

78. That the possibility of property-specific penalties for non-compliant Private Rented 

Sector homes is investigated, including whether non-compliant PRS homes could be 

earmarked as “not Housing Benefit eligible”. 

79. That a comprehensive, measured and monitored Empty Homes Strategy for Plymouth is 

consulted upon, recommendations provided and action taken. 

80. That a virtual Plymouth Private Tenants Forum is created, advising private tenants of 

their rights, offering an online space to exchange experiences, publicise consultations and 

offer contact details on further public sources of support. 

81. That a full examination is carried out into the coverage of specialist housing provision in 

Plymouth, comparing what is available against  known demographics of groups in need 

and including a full gap analysis. 

The Implications of an Ageing Population 

Local recommendations 

82. That an ‘All Ages City’ Taskforce is created to co-ordinate both the social and non-

social care aspects of Plymouth living for older people, as part of the Plymouth Plan 

process. 

83. That the Plymouth Joint Dementia Strategy is given the highest priority to ensure its 

recommendations are actively delivered across the city. 

84. As part of this strategy, that additional consideration be given to ensure that people with 

dementia who require, and can demonstrate they meet the eligibility criteria are 

encouraged to apply for the blue badge scheme using the discretionary powers of the 

Local Authority.  

Page 73



 

24 
 

85. That a pack signposting sources of dementia support, information and advice is made 

freely available in all primary care settings and provided for dementia patients and their 

carers.  

  

Page 74



 

25 
 

The principles of fairness  

“We should encourage people to look at minority groups as people who are 

vulnerable. It is difficult to get people to sympathise with them and this does 

need to be encouraged. “ 

- Participant from the Summer of Listening 

These are the principles agreed by the Fairness Commission. They are based on the 

underlying principles that Plymouth should commit to fairness in what it does, how it does it 

and who gets what: 

 People should be able to access opportunity whatever their circumstances. 

 The city should give priority to those in greatest need when it allocates resources. 

 Things that make the biggest difference to people’s lives should get priority when 

deciding where resources go. 

 The way things are done in the city matters just as much as what is done 

 Unfairness which takes time to remove needs policies for the long term. 

 Preventing inequalities is more effective than trying to eliminate them. 

 Services should be provided ‘with’ people, not ‘for’ them. 

 The needs of future and current generations should be balanced when making decisions. 

Local Recommendation 

1. We recommend that these principles are agreed by all public bodies in Plymouth and 

that they consider formal ways to include them as part of their decision making 

process and practice. 

 

  

Page 75



 

26 
 

A new approach to leadership  

While ‘fairness’ can mean many things to different people, there is generally a clearer 

consensus about what ‘leadership’ involves. The ability of an individual or organisation to 

take the tough, unpopular decisions and implement them, for example, is commonly cited by 

politicians keen to show they can get things done. 

 

Yet this type of ‘doing to’ decision making is neither inclusive nor collaborative. It inevitably 
involves a partial perspective, silo working structures and the lack of involvement of those 

affected.  

 

In Plymouth, we know that traditional ways of managing change haven’t always delivered 

better, more sustainable, results for residents. Because decisions are generally taken by a 

specific body, they actively inhibit collaborative ways of working, the ability to pool 

resources and build relationships. Risks are less likely to be taken, the views of those 

affected are not always heard and a culture of innovation isn’t supported. The status quo – 

including its unfairness – is perpetuated. 

 

We believe there needs to be a fundamental change in the way that decisions are made by 

Plymouth’s leaders to ensure fairness is an integral part of that process. 

 

Most of our recommendations will need a joined-up approach between agencies, with many 

partners working together in new ways, building trust and working relationships around a 

common goal. One such approach is called ‘Systems Leadership’xi. 

 

 

Supporting leadership in communities 

It’s relatively straightforward for staff to manage change in a predictable environment – to 

‘do things’ to help a group of people. What’s harder is helping the community itself to 

organise and mobilise to deliver lasting change itself, particularly in a changing, uncertain 

environment.  

Harnessing the lessons from decades of social activism, ‘Systems Leadership’ uses the power 

of a community of interest to work together to get results. The strategy starts with a few 

identified ‘leaders’ in a community, trained to mobilise others with the same values, be 

accountable to each other and all work to a common goal. Time after time, this model 

shows that as the human resources involved in delivering this change go up, the financial 

costs involved in change go down. 

Systems Leadership works because it taps into people’s values and beliefs – it’s an approach, 

not a process. When people share a sense of purpose and goals they hold themselves and 

each other to account and manage disagreements themselves. They understand the 

challenges and are more likely to actively participate in the system. Because they’re in 

control, they can take the initiative when things change and challenges occur – they are 

better able to act on situations, rather than just being passive observers. 

Page 76



 

27 
 

 Local Recommendations  

1. We recommend that the leaders of all public sector bodies in Plymouth learn about and 

act as internal champions of the Systems Leadership approach to address key cross 

cutting issues of inequality and unfairness across Plymouth. 

2. That this approach is embedded within public sector bodies as part of their induction 

and ongoing training.  

3. We recommend that, as a minimum, the objectives of Directors, Chief Executives and 

Senior Management Teams of Plymouth public sector bodies should include measurable 

objectives sympathetic to the Systems Leadership approach against any performance 

indicators relating to inequalities and unfairness. These should include how effectively 

Systems Leadership is working across agencies. 

Key agencies in delivery: All public sector bodies 

Proposed timeline: For performance indicators and objectives used from 2015 onwards 

 

4. We recommend that agencies actively consider and apply a Systems Leadership 

approach to the way they agree and deliver the recommendations in the Plymouth 

Fairness Commission’s report. 

  

Page 77



 

28 
 

Strengthening Local Communities 

“Change is forced and not community led. Because they feel ‘it’s going to 

happen anyway’, people are less likely to take ownership of change and 

participate.” 

- A participant from the Summer of Listening 

Over the Summer of Listening, a general theme emerged of residents feeling ‘done to’ and 

ignored.  A survey held in 2012 showed that on average, only19% of the city’s population 

felt they could influence decisionsxii. Again, these levels varied significantly between the least 

and most affluent neighbourhoods; the lowest score, 9%, was found in Ham. There was a 

sense of cynicism from many that, while frequent consultations were held, the end results 

didn’t reflect what people wanted. 

Helping communities shape their future 

The Fairness Commission recognises that a ‘done to’ approach inhibits growth in 

communities, makes people feel that they have little real say and no power. It also prevents 

innovative solutions to many of the problems facing our most vulnerable communities. 

While driven by the best motivation, agencies in Plymouth need to recognise that this 

approach is itself a problem which needs to be solved. 

At the moment, work is undertaken on a ‘hierarchical’ basis. The chain starts with people at 

the top of public sector organisations and moves down through different parts of these 

organisations, with communities themselves tending to be at the bottom of the chain. 

Instead of this top-down hierarchical model, we recommend an approach which puts 

communities and community-led initiatives at the centre of development, with public 

agencies acting in support, rather than controlling. 

Although it takes time and commitment to create a fundamental culture change, both for 

those who currently have power and those who do not, little will be achieved until the city 

changes it approach to how it works with communities. The C2 programme, covered earlier 

in this report, has already provided learning that has shaped our recommendations.  

Handing back power  

While there is some good work being undertaken in Plymouth in support of community 

development, approaches to it are inconsistent, particularly within and across agencies 

apparently working for the same outcome. They often show too limited or too little genuine 

community involvement, are short term and can stop communities from developing 

themselves. Current work can also be limited by official geographical boundaries such as 

electoral wards or housing estates. We believe that little will alter until we change the city’s 

approach to working with and within communities. 

Communities exist outside and between these formal, often artificial, boundaries and 

limiting them risks failing to galvanize wider communities for greater impact and scale. The 

Page 78



 

29 
 

type of approaches offered by C2 and Systems Leadership provide a significant opportunity 

for learning new ways to deliver community-led services. 

Local Recommendations 

1. We recommend that all public sector agencies undertake a review of their current 

approach and processes for engaging with, and listening to, communities and agree a 

shared approach and individual responsibilities to ensure all communities benefit. 

2. We recommend that agencies fully explore different ways of engaging with 

communities of geography to include communities of interest and identity in a way 

that works for the individual members of those communities.  

3. We recommend that local councillors review their roles, against recommendations 1 

and 2, as elected local leaders within local communities.  

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth City Council, New Devon and Cornwall Clinical 

Commissioning Group, Devon and Cornwall Police, Plymouth Community Healthcare, 

housing associations, voluntary and community sector with input from the C2  programme 

Proposed timeline: August 2015 

 

A vibrant voluntary sector  

There is a great deal of powerful work being done by the voluntary and community sector 

(VCS) in the city, but it is operating in the face of some unusual challenges. 

Historically, Plymouth’s VCS is much younger than that of most other cities. While 

Plymouth Guild and a number of small local organisations have a relatively long history, the 

numbers of organisations receiving statutory funding appears to have been significantly 

lower than many other parts of England. While the regeneration funding of the 1990s 

provided a spur for VCS growth, this wasn’t accompanied by growth in the infrastructure 

needed for a thriving and joined up Third Sector. Since the Plymouth Community 

Partnership of the 1990s collapsed in 2008, this infrastructure gap has been addressed in a 

piecemeal way.  

Today, Plymouth’s VCS remains fragmented and lacks co-ordination. The same mistakes 

continue to be made because the same, unsuccessful way of resolving problems is 

continually attempted, despite its proven inefficacy. Standards of governance are 

inconsistent and many public sector procurers do not use Plymouth’s VCS as much as they 

could due to a perceived lack of expertise in providing the kinds of services they need to 

commission. In turn, many in the city’s VCS are frustrated by the unfairness in the current 

servant/master relationship between themselves and public sector bodies. Relationships 

between many organisations in the sector, and between the sector and public 

commissioners, are fundamentally weak and damaged by a ‘Them and Us’ perspective. 

Page 79



 

30 
 

Without strong overarching support, these organisations lack the ability to resolve these 

relationships, make economies of scale, prevent duplication or grow in a way that meets the 

increasing need of Plymouth’s residents. The issues affecting both Plymouth’s VCS, the 

relationship between the city’s Third Sector and its public sector and the lack of supporting 

infrastructure are long standing. They must be tackled urgently or Plymouth’s VCS will 

continue punching below its weight in terms of both impact and volume of commissioned 

services.  

Given the critical role that civil society has in addressing issues of unfairness and inequality 

across the city, the Fairness Commission believes this is an issue that must be tackled 

urgently. 

Local Recommendation 

1. We recommend that an external, independent civil society expert is commissioned to 

undertake a critical review of Plymouth’s VCS and provide recommendations to 

strengthen it, including: 

 Analyse the present and potential scope for collaborative relationships and shared 

responsibility within and across Plymouth’s VCS and public sector bodies. 

 Identify the factors which have created problems in relationships in and between 

Plymouth’s VCS and make recommendations on how to avoid these in the future, 

including arbitration where necessary. 

 Provide recommendations for how Plymouth’s VCS can more effectively co-ordinate 

and expand opportunities for volunteering in the city. 

Key agencies in delivery: Public sector agencies and voluntary and community sector 

agencies 

Proposed timeline: Recommendations delivered by July 2015 

 

Helping communities know their rights 

Even taking into account the severe reduction in free legal advice available to people since 

cuts in Legal Aid and public legal services, Plymouth’s population is under-served for a city of 

its size and level of need. Charities such as Shelter, Citizen’s Advice and Plymouth Access to 

Housing (P.A.T.H) along with Plymouth City Council’s Housing and Tenancy services are 

already overwhelmed by demand. 

Local Recommendation  

1. The Fairness Commission recommends that steps be taken, as a matter of urgency, to 

resolve the issue of professional indemnity insurance which currently limits the 

availability of specialist legal advice on offer via the existing collaboration between 

Plymouth Citizens Advice Bureau, Advice Plymouth and Plymouth University Law 

School, aimed at developing the capacity for legal advice in Plymouth. 

Page 80



 

31 
 

Key agencies in delivery: University of Plymouth Law School, Plymouth Citizens Advice 

Bureau and Advice Plymouth  

Proposed timeline: May 2015 

 

 

Legal advice for local people 

During term-time, London Southbank University’s Law Department runs a Legal Advice 

Clinic for its local community. The University  provides professional indemnity insurance 
for the Clinic, which offers: 

 

 A drop-in clinic, staffed by 2nd and 3rd year law student volunteers, working in 

pairs and supervised by university-employed practicing solicitors  

 An  evening clinic, run by local solicitors and shadowed by volunteer law students, 

providing specialist legal advice in family, housing and employment 

 Basic information on any legal topic, generalist advice on social welfare law 

including housing, family, employment, welfare benefits and debt 

 Signposting and referral to local advice agencies and specialist sources of help 

where they exist 

 Referral to Legal Advice Clinic evening clinic if appropriate. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 81



 

32 
 

Individual and Family Wellbeing 

The fundamental unfairness of Plymouth’s central funding  

The Barnett Formulaxiii, designed as a short term measure to agree local funding in the late 

1970’s, is widely recognised by local authorities across England as unfair. Councils in areas 

that are least disadvantaged consistently receive higher allocations than those that are most 

disadvantaged. The Local Government Association and many MPs have repeatedly called for 

this formula to be scrapped and replaced with fairer funding allocation. The Plymouth 

Fairness Commission agrees that the current formula is complex, difficult to understand and 

produces unfair allocations, and that Plymouth does not receive its fair share. 

National Recommendation 

1. The Plymouth Fairness Commission agrees with the Local Government Association that 

there is an urgent need to develop and deliver a fair, needs-based and long-term funding 

settlement for local government and other sectors including education, health and 

police, fire and rescue services. 

 Local Recommendation 

1. We believe that the city should know the total amount of funding it is failing to receive 

because of unfair funding formulas from central Government. We recommend that all 

parts of the public sector jointly quantify Plymouth’s ‘Missing Millions’ to make the case 

to Government for fairer funding for the city. 

 

Key agencies for delivery: All public sector bodies in Plymouth and local MPs 

Proposed timeline: By September 2014 

 

Public health funding – Plymouth’s case for change  

 

Despite poorer-than-average public health indicators, Plymouth’s public health grant from 

central Government is nearly 25% below the target figure set by the Public Health England 

(PHE) funding formula. 

Plymouth’s baseline funding for public health in 2013/14 was £10.145 million; just £43 per 

head of the population. Had the PHE formula been fully implemented, this would have been 

£55 per head. This is an underfunding of over £3 million. 

The funding settlement for 2014/15 perpetuates this underfunding. The PHE formula shows 

Plymouth’s allocation should now be £58 per head.  Yet the PHE caps any increases in 

funding at a maximum of 10%, meaning Plymouth’s 2014/15 funding will be only £12.276 

million - £3 million short of our target figure. Furthermore, at just £47 per head, Plymouth’s 

funding gap from target will still be 19.6%xiv.  

Page 82



 

33 
 

When contrasted with our comparators from the Office of National Statistics, the extent of 

this funding gap becomes even starker.  

Of the ten other comparator areas, only one will receive a settlement lower than 

Plymouth’s. Against Plymouth’s £47 per head, for example, Portsmouth will receive £77, 

Brighton and Hove £67, Bristol £66 and Southampton £62, and yet many of their public 

health indicators are much better than Plymouth’s. According to PHE’s health profile for 

Plymouth, only four of the 32 health outcome measures are significantly better than the 

national average; 18 are significantly worsexv.  

Outside our immediate comparators, funding decisions appear even more baffling.  

Kensington and Chelsea, for example, receives a settlement almost three times than of 

Plymouth and yet the majority of their health indicators are better than the English average 

and the scale of their public health challenges are significantly less than Plymouth’s.  

The Commission believes this fundamental unfairness must be addressed now.  

National Recommendation 

1. The Plymouth Fairness Commission recommends that the grant allocation received 

by the Council to fund its public health work is reviewed as a matter of urgency by 

the Department of Health, and fully supports the ‘motion on notice’ unanimously 

agreed by Plymouth City Council in  January 2014.  

 

Primary healthcare – equity and access 

“Although the doctors are good, the waiting list to get an appointment at my 

surgery is 3 weeks” 

- A participant from The Summer of Listening 

Health in Plymouth shows huge inequalities throughout the life course depending on where 

in the city you live. The difference between life expectancy in the most and least deprived 

areas of Plymouth, for example, is a staggering 12.6 years. Emergency hospital admissions in 

Plymouth are higher than the English average. Mortality rates from circulatory disease and 

cancers in the under-75’s, while improving, are still significantly higher in more deprived 

wards.  

These problems are compounded by the difficulties some communities have in getting 

access to primary healthcare services such as a GP. The NHS announcement of a freeze in 

investment for GP premises, made in February 2014, will create a further drag on 

investment in out-of-hospital provisionxvi. 

  

Page 83



 

34 
 

 

The town with fewer resources than a village 

Barne Barton isn’t a great model of primary healthcare provision. It’s home to over 5,000 

people, yet it doesn’t have a single GP or primary healthcare clinic.  The nearest GP‘s 

surgery is a 45 minute uphill walk. Residents often call the out-of-hours service, rather than 

wait for a hard to get GP appointment. This situation hasn’t developed overnight. The lack 

of primary healthcare in the area has been known about for over 20 years. 

 

Local Recommendation 

1. The Fairness Commission recommends a review of primary care provision across 

Plymouth to ensure equity of access to primary care based on identified local needs. 

 

Key agencies in delivery: Local Area Team - NHS Commissioning, Plymouth City 

Council  

Proposed timeline: November 2015 

 

Mental health in Plymouth 

“There is no proper infrastructure to address adult mental health. This 

unfairness is rife” 

- A participant from the Summer of Listening 

Poor levels of mental health are also taking their toll in the city. Figures in the Mental Health 

Needs Assessment 2012 estimate that around 30,000 residents suffer from a mental health 

disorder at any one time, but these levels are not consistent throughout the cityxvii. Levels of 

depression and mental illness in Plymouth’s most deprived areas are very high at 23%, 

compared to just 1.8% in the least deprived. Levels of hospital admissions for self-harm in 

Plymouth are significantly above the English average, and the recovery rate for residents 

taking part in state-provided psychological therapies is significantly worse than both the 

South West and England average.  

Mental health has historically been the preserve of the health service, yet it often exists as 

part of another crisis, such as homelessness, alcoholism, debt, job loss or relationship 

breakdown. Given the lack of primary health care provision in wards such as Barne Barton, 

it’s clear that by the time people suffering poor mental health come to the attention of the 

health service, their condition is more likely to have become acute. Provision at this stage is 

an issue. One worrying sign of this is the way police cells are inappropriately used as a place 

of safety for people that have been identified as having a mental health need. Both Devon 

Page 84



 

35 
 

and Cornwall Police and mental health agencies tell us this is inappropriate and puts further 

stress on already vulnerable people.  

We have heard about thresholds for diagnosis that are severely limiting many people’s 

ability to access mental health support, especially children or those with multiple and 

complex needs. 

The Commission believes that the ratio of funds currently spent in Plymouth on acute 

mental health needs, as opposed to promotion, prevention and early intervention, is 

disproportionate and so relatively ineffective in addressing Plymouth’s mental health need. 

There are many examples of how targeted interventions in schools and in other community 

settings can address early signs of mental distress, such as anxiety and eating disorders. 

Local Recommendations 

1. The Fairness Commission recommends that a comprehensive and holistic response to 

Plymouth’s mental health needs, including those of children and young people, is 

developed and agreed by all agencies, and that resourced commissioning plans are 

published to show how services and support will be delivered. 

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Proposed timeline: September 2015 

2. We recommend that Plymouth’s comprehensive response to mental health ensures a 

significant redirection of cross-sector resources for evidence-based early intervention, 

prevention and promotion programmes for mental health. This should specifically 

include children, young people and those with multiple and complex needs, with targets 

set for how redirected resources will be used. If insufficient expertise and/ or modelling 

tools exist locally to support this shift towards prevention then external support should 

be used. 

 

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth Health and Wellbeing Board  

Proposed timeline:  Annual year-on-year progress towards target to be reported by the 

Health and Wellbeing Board from 2015 onwards  

3. We recommend that a joint review be completed to agree what crisis response is 

appropriate for anyone presenting with a mental health need. This should include those 

who may require a place of safety while a mental health assessment is undertaken and, 

where appropriate, follow up or after care is provided. 

 

Key agencies in delivery: NEW Devon Clinical Commissioning Group, Devon and 

Cornwall Police, Plymouth Community Healthcare and Plymouth City Council 

Page 85



 

36 
 

Proposed timeline: Review to be completed by October 2014. Recommendations to be 

agreed by Health and Wellbeing Board by December 2014 and implemented by April 2015 

 

Minimising the harm of alcohol 

Many port cities with poor employment prospects have a particularly destructive 

relationship with alcohol, but the impact of alcohol abuse in Plymouth is exceptional even by 

these standards. Alcohol plays a significant role in public order offences and Plymouth has 

the highest rate of such offences in the entire country.  

There is also a clear link between alcohol abuse and levels of violent crime, and in Devon 

and Cornwall last year there were over 20,000 recorded violence offences – the highest 

level from comparable police forces including Greater Manchester, Merseyside and the 

West Midlands. Plymouth also has one of the highest rates of Night Time Economy Violence 

in the South Westxviii. 

Figures from the Devon and Cornwall Police Commissioner show that the total cost for 

dealing with alcohol related crime in the region is over £366 million a year. To put this in 

context, that is £500 for every household in Devon and Cornwall, every year. 

Research shows there are over 2,500 crimes in the city linked to alcohol annually – and 

these are just those that are recorded. Alcohol is also responsible for nearly 7,000 hospital 

admissions and is a factor in over 40% of domestic violence incidents. Overall, the cost of 

alcohol related harm in the city every year is estimated at £80 millionxix. 

People in the most deprived parts of Plymouth are twice as likely to be admitted to hospital 

because of alcohol as those in the least. Most significant, perhaps, is the impact of alcohol 

drinking by parents on Plymouth’s children; it’s estimated up to 6,500 children are affected 

by parental drinking every year and the effects can be extremely damaging. These children 

often develop coping mechanisms but, as a report by The Children’s Commissioner points 

out, coping is not the same as resiliencexx. The extent of this damage is difficult to cost or 

quantify. These children’s coping strategies can include emotional withdrawal, anger and 

aggression or feeling it is their responsibility to safeguard their parents. Parental drinking 

profoundly disadvantages these young people in their relationships with teachers and other 

authority figures, impairs their interaction with others and damages their development. 

National Recommendations 

1. The Plymouth Fairness Commission supports the National Institute for Clinical 

Excellence’sxxi guidance that raising the unit price of alcohol is the most effective way of 

reducing its damaging impact. Accordingly, we recommend a national minimum price per 

unit of alcohol. 

 

2. The Commission believes that 24 hour licensing should be banned and regrets that 

Plymouth does not have the power to do this unilaterally. We therefore support the 

Page 86



 

37 
 

Local Government Association’s proposals for full reform of the licensing system ('Open 

for Business: Rewiring Licensing') which sets out the need for a system which is relevant, 

simple, cost neutral, risk-based and can address the issues of concern to local residents 

and businessesxxii. The Commission fully supports any change in licensing law that 

provides greater powers to enable local areas to limit the opening of late-night pubs, 

clubs and off licences in areas where alcohol-related health problems are rife.  

 

Local Recommendation 

Alcohol abuse harms families across Plymouth.  

The sale of cheap vodka and ‘super strength’ beer and cider exacerbates the significant 

impact of alcohol abuse in Plymouth, from young adults ‘pre-loading’ before going into pubs 

and clubs in the evening to links with more extreme violence and anti-social behaviour in 

the city. Police forces in areas such as Ipswich have had success working with the Council, 

local retailers and supermarkets in a voluntary scheme to reduce the prevalence and ease 

with which this kind of alcohol can be boughtxxiii. Check back on summary re vodka 

1. The Commission recommends that an evidence-based and coordinated approach to 

reducing the retailing of cheap vodka and ‘super strength’ beer and cider as stated in the 

Strategic Alcohol Plan for Plymouth 2013-18 and being implemented in Ipswich, is 

developed and resourced (Action 5.8 of the Plan)xxiv. 

Key agencies in delivery: Health and Wellbeing Board 

Proposed timeline: December 2014 

 

Domestic abuse and violence 

40% of all women, and 5% of men murdered in the UK are killed by current or ex-partners. 

Nearly four fifths of incidents of domestic violence happen in front of children and a third 

begin when a woman is pregnantxxv. These figures are bad enough, but findings from the 

British Crime Survey and domestic violence charities suggest that only 40% of incidents are 

ever actually reported. Domestic violence is also a crime with a very long tail and the 

mental, as well as the physical, damage it inflicts can be long term. Women who have 

experienced domestic violence are five times more likely to kill themselves and 30% more 

likely to be admitted to hospital for self-harming.  

Plymouth has a big problem with domestic abuse. It accounts for 27% of all violent crime in 

the city, compared to a national average of 16%xxvi. In Plymouth, the highest levels of 

violence in the family also happen in the poorest parts of the city. According to Public 

Health, Plymouth, in 2012 these reached nearly 25% in the most disadvantaged areas, against 

less than 2% for the least. The Home Office estimates the cost of domestic violence and 

abuse in Plymouth is £49 million every yearxxvii. 

Page 87



 

38 
 

Local Recommendations 

1. The Plymouth Fairness Commission seeks confirmation that arrangements to deliver 

the Commissioning Plan for the Plymouth Domestic Abuse Partnership 2012-2019 

will be able to meet the scale of the problem in the city. As such we recommend an 

urgent review of the following:  

 

 Joint commissioning arrangements and resource allocation. 

 Agreement and ownership of shared outcomes. 

 Effectiveness of current partnership arrangements. 

 

Key agencies in delivery: Health and Wellbeing Board  

Proposed timeline: December 2014  

2. We recommend that steps are taken to ensure cross-sector funding for Domestic 

Abuse services continue to be protected and, where appropriate, increased to 

ensure sufficient services and support are in place to meet rising demand. 

Key agencies in delivery: Health and Wellbeing Board 

Proposed timeline: From October 2014 and ongoing 

 

 

Better nutrition across the city  

With growing levels of obesity, proven damage to human health caused by high levels of fat, 

transfats, salt and sugar in cheap fast food and ready-meals, and low levels of fruit and 

vegetable consumption, there is increasing evidence that those on the lowest incomes are 

suffering disproportionally from poor nutrition. 

Free school meals 

Evidence shows that providing children with a free, nutritious meal during the school day 

gives pupils clear health and educational advantagesxxviii. There can, however, be peer stigma 

attached if these are only given to children from disadvantaged backgrounds. Both 

encouraging economies of scale through greater take-up and maximising the pupil premium 

will help offset this cost. 

Providing universal free school meals would also help tackle the problem of getting take up 

from families entitled to them. Low take-up of free meals reduces the pupil premium funds 

available to schools, as this additional money, to be spent on children from poorer 

backgrounds, is determined by how many pupils are claiming free meals. A 2013 

Department for Education report estimated that  200,000 pupils are entitled to a free meal 

but fail to claim it, while a further 200,000 register but don't actually eat the mealsxxix. While 

Page 88



 

39 
 

most schools now use a cashless system, where money is paid in advance by parents (or by 

the local authority), a stigma still exists for some families around “free school dinners". One 

way to avoid this has been the approach adopted by Islington, which provides free meals for 

all. The fact that every family has to apply, regardless of their financial status, has proved a 

great social leveler in take up. 

National Recommendation 

1. The Fairness Commission recommends that, in line with the School Food Plan report 

for the Department of Education, the current provision of universal free school meals 

to Year 1 and 2 pupils in infant schools due to come into effect in September 2014, be 

extended to  all primary school children.  

 

Local Recommendations 

1. The Commission recommends that, using the learning from other areas who have 

implemented this such as Islington, all primary school children in the city are offered a 

daily free school meal.   

 

2. We recommend that a pilot to provide a free daily meal to disadvantaged pupils outside 

of term-time is trialled to assess potential take-up, costs and benefits.  

 

3. We also recommend that all schools providing meals in Plymouth must meet the 

National School Food Standardsxxx. 

Key agencies in delivery: Health and Wellbeing Board, all Primary and Secondary Schools 

Proposed timeline: September 2015 

 

Many organisations, such as Food Plymouth and Sustainable Food Cities are already leading 

promising food initiatives in the city. However, there are still food deserts in parts of 

Plymouth and the Commission believes the benefits of these different initiatives could be 

extended if they were better co-ordinated. 

Local Recommendations 

4. We recommend that the role of the Office of the Director of Public Health within 

Plymouth City Council be expanded to include food poverty with responsibility for co-

ordinating food poverty initiatives, including those providing healthy and affordable food 

in communities, across the city. We suggest the following activities are undertaken to 

support this: 

 

 ‘Struggling to Eat Well’ Surveys, aimed at identifying nutritionally vulnerable infants, 

and primary school age children and older people.  

Page 89



 

40 
 

 Extending the provision of meals cooked in schools to older people in the 

community. 

 Mapping food outlets to identify food retail deserts and encouraging the provision of 

food vans and local box schemes in these areas.  

 Development of Social Co-ops in disadvantaged areas which incorporate access to 

reduced cost food, advice on debt, food skills and eating well, such as the 

Community Shop Barnsley model. 

 Provision of Food Poverty Awareness Training (as Brighton and Hove Food 

Partnership does). 

 Coordinating and assisting in the set-up of food growing and buying co-operatives 

around schools and social housing providers. 

 

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth City Council and partners, including voluntary and 

community sector agencies 

 

Proposed timeline: April 2015 
 

There is a growing body of evidence that the proximity and prevalence of fast food outlets 

near to schools are a contributory factor in childhood obesity. They also undermine 

schools’ efforts to encourage take up of school meals. 

 

This can also perpetuate wider inequalities. In Plymouth, there are 1.5 more fast food 

outlets within 800 metres of schools in the most deprived areas, compared to the leastxxxi. 

Many councils are now actively seeking ways to halt the proliferation of fast food outlets in 

their high streets.  

 

As a means of reducing health inequalities and responding to residents’ concerns, Waltham 

Forest Council, for example, is consulting on banning fast food outlets within 400 metres of 

any of its schools and limiting those allowed to open in the town centre and shopping 

parades. Among the benefits they cite are increases in take up of nutritious schools meals 

and a reduction in litter and vermin on the area’s high streets. 

 

5. Following the example of Waltham Forest Council, the Fairness Commission 

recommends that Plymouth City Council amend its spatial planning policy to enable the 

restriction of fast food outlets within 400 metres or less from a school, youth facility or 

park. 

 

Key agency in delivery: Plymouth City Council 

 

Proposed timeline: April 2015 

 

6. We recommend that Plymouth City Council work with the organisers of Plymouth’s 

main events, such as the Fireworks Championships, to reduce the number of fast food 

outlets offering food of low nutritional value at public events and improve the food offer 

available.  

 

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth City Council, with public and private event organisers 

Proposed timeline: July 2015 

Page 90



 

41 
 

The food poverty epidemic 

 “We urge the Government to find creative, fair ways to enable all in this rich 

country to have enough money to be able to eat healthily. This work is urgent.” 

- Professor Dowler, University of Warwick   

Oxfam and Church Action on Poverty estimate that over half a million people in the UK are 

now reliant on food hand-outsxxxii. The recent published report by Warwick University for 

Defra, Food Aid Research Report, concludes that low incomes, unemployment and benefit 

delays have combined to triple the number of families relying on charities for basic food 

supplies.  People are being forced to choose between paying bills and eating. Oxfam 

estimates that over 2 million people in the UK are already malnourished, with a further 3 

million at risk of becoming so. In the sixth richest country in the world, GPs are reporting 

an alarming increase in child malnutritionxxxiii.  

Evidence from the Plymouth Foodbank shows the number of people affected by food 

poverty in the city is growing. In 2012, 5,900 people visited the Foodbank, in 2013 that grew 

to 7,400 and their estimate for 2014 is that 9,000 people will come to them for help. And 

these are just the figures from one local Foodbank. 

 

Filling the growing food gap 

It’s not just the growing numbers that Maria Mills, Plymouth Foodbank’s project manager, 

has noticed, but the types of people being referred and where those referrals are coming 

from. “Benefit delays when people’s circumstances change are causing real problems”, she 

reports, “the amount of time it takes to make the changes and give people their money is 

just too long. We’re also seeing a rise in the number of people getting in-work benefits 

affected by food poverty. They’re working, but their wages are too low to make ends 

meet.” 

And, since the abolition of Social Fund Crisis Loans by central government in April 2013, 

she’s seen an increase in referrals from the Job Centre and the Emergency Welfare Centre. 

 “With no crisis loans available, it seems Foodbanks are increasingly regarded as a third arm 

of the state. Without the funding of course.”  

 

National Recommendation 

1. That the Department for Work and Pensions urgently addresses the delays in benefit 

payments when notified of changes in individual circumstances and the inappropriate 

use of benefit sanctions. 

  

Page 91



 

42 
 

Much more than just affordable food 

When you’re struggling to find money for the weekly shop, as growing numbers of people 

are, finding affordable food may just be one of the challenges facing you. In an ideal world, 

you could buy cheap, nutritious food, join a cookery class, enjoy a coffee, get expert debt 

advice and even help to hone your job skills, all under one roof. Since the opening of 

Community Shop in December 2013, that option is now a reality for low income families in 

Goldthorpe, Barnsley. 

Billed as the first ‘social supermarket’, Community Shop buys surplus food from 

supermarkets – and every supermarket has surpluses – and sells it at discounted rates to its 

members.  

500 low income families have been issued with membership cards which, as well as cheap 

and healthy food, give them access to all the advice and support services from Community 

Shop’s ‘Community Hub.’ Supported by local supermarkets, it’s currently the first pilot of a 

development with huge potential to help communities across the UK. 

 

 

 

Local Recommendation 

1. Many organisations, such as Food Plymouth and Sustainable Food Cities are already 

leading promising food initiatives in the city. However, the Commission believes the 

benefits of these different initiatives could be extended if they were better co-

ordinated. 

Key agencies in delivery: Health and Wellbeing Board with voluntary and community 

sector partners 

Proposed timeline: August 2015 

 

  

Page 92



 

43 
 

Young People and Young Adults 

It’s a difficult time to be young in the UK. Escalating rents and transport costs, benefit 

changes and the abolition of the Educational Maintenance Allowance create serious barriers 

to opportunity against a backdrop of high youth unemployment and the growth of insecure 

employment and zero-hours contracts.  

Young people in Plymouth’s most deprived areas face even greater challenges from birth. 

22% of children in the city overall live in poverty, against 16% of children in the South West 

as a whole, but this figure rises to over half of all children living in some areas of the North 

Prospect, Weston Mill, City Centre and Stonehouse areasxxxiv.  

However, some of Plymouth’s residents told us during the Summer of Listening, that 

standards of teaching in schools is high and evidence shows that much progress has already 

been made in the past decade to reduce the gap in attainment. In the face of other impacts 

of deprivation in many areas, Early Years attainment levels in Plymouth are improving and 

pupils exceeded the South West and English averages for expected levels of progress in 

maths. This is an encouraging trend, but we need to do more. 

 

Closing the aspiration and achievement gap 

The gap in educational achievement between different parts of the city is particularly 

marked; it starts from Early Years foundation and widens with each following year of 

education. In 2011, only 21.5% of Plymouth’s over 16s were qualified to degree level or 

equivalent, significantly lower than the England average of 27.4%. Again, patterns of low 

educational achievement are highest in the city’s most deprived wards. In Devonport, for 

example, the percentage of over 16s with no qualifications is around 27%, in Ham it is 34% 

and in Honicknowle it reaches 35%xxxv. However, the city’s schools have been tackling 

educational under-achievement, particularly at primary level, with considerable effect.  

The work of the Plymouth School Teaching Alliance has raised standards in professional 

development for teachers and school-to-school support. Levels of educational achievement, 

even in the most deprived areas, have improved in recent years. Our recommendations aim 

to encourage all parts of Plymouth’s education sector to build on progress so far to further 

increase ownership, encourage ideas and commitment to deliver.  

The city also has persistently higher levels of young people not in Education, Employment or 

Training (NEETS) than both the national and regional averages, with the highest levels found 

in the most deprived North West areas of the city. There can be few starker indicators of 

the combination of deprivation and a low aspiration culture, particularly given the many 

positive comments we heard from parents about the quality of education provision itself. 

Young people over 16 may receive only partial advice about further education and careers 

from their places of learning, reducing their subject choices and increasing the risk these 

choices will fail to meet the needs of local and regional businesses. We know many local 

Page 93



 

44 
 

business leaders are concerned about the general employability of young people entering 

the Plymouth jobs market.  

National Recommendation 

1. With the growing number of academies and other types of ‘unique catchment’ schools 

such as faith schools, we are concerned that collaboration which puts the common good 

of pupils at the centre may be diminishing. We recommend that the Department for 

Education takes active steps to ensure collaboration and sharing best practice is 

demonstrated by these new types of schools through formal policy and practice. 

 

Local Recommendations 

1. The Commission welcomes the move of Plymouth’s secondary schools to work more 

closely together through the model already established by the Plymouth Teaching School 

Alliance. We recommend that this collaborative approach is made a priority. It also 

requires additional momentum to achieve consistent standards across secondary school 

teacher training, professional development and school-to-school support to tangibly 

improve standards of educational achievement for all Plymouth’s pupils. 

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth Teaching School Alliance, with support from 

Plymouth City Council 

Proposed timeline: Draft resourced plans and targets to be produced by December 2014 

 

The Commission notes that the city continues to have vacant apprenticeships. We believe 

that schools, youth services and employers need to understandwhy. 

2. As part of the Plymouth Skills Plan, we recommend that a specific review be undertaken 

with young people in the city to understand and address the factors that prevent young 

people taking up apprenticeships, and agree concrete steps to address them.  

Key agencies for delivery:  Plymouth City Council and Learning and Skills Partners 

Proposed timeline: Review to be completed by October 2014, with plans to address the 

identified unfairness issues published by December 2014 for implementation to be 

completed by end of 2015 

3. The Commission recommends that the city-wide timetable of courses available from 

Plymouths education institutions be completed and made available online to support 16 

– 18 year olds, particularly addressing minority needs and skills shortages. This wider 

curriculum should complement the existing online tool which details the qualifications 

needed for a range of different careers. 

 

Page 94



 

45 
 

4. Concurrently, a consistent set of Information, Advice and Guidance (IAG) protocols 

which covers all providers should be developed as a priority by the expanded Teaching 

School Alliance and be in place for young people choosing their post 16 options in 2015. 

These two recommendations should be used to ensure the creation of a ‘Virtual Sixth 

Form’ whereby young people can choose to attend courses at more than one education 

institution. 

 

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth Children and Young People’s Partnership and 

education institutions in the city 

Proposed timeline: September 2015  

5. We recommend that all primary and secondary schools develop an alumni programme, 

identifying local pupils who have subsequently achieved in a variety of fields, and invite 

them to contribute to raising awareness of potential careers and aspirations among 

current pupils, such as FutureFirst xxxvi. 

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth Teaching Schools Alliance 

Proposed timeline: April 2015 

6. We recommend that all Plymouth’s secondary schools and other organisations working 

with young people and young adults be encouraged to form relationships with local and 

regional employers, in particular members of the Plymouth 1000 Club and other local 

micro and SMEs, to encourage presentations, workshops and placements to 

demonstrate the range of potential careers available to pupils, as well as the 

qualifications and softer skills they should aspire to in order to be ‘work ready’.  

 

7. That a formal system is brokered linking schools and businesses so all young people have 

fair access to internships, work placements and youth enterprise schemes. These should 

particularly involve micro businesses and SMEs and cover different sectors (cultural, care 

sector, engineering etc.). Students should be encouraged to set up their own 

enterprises.  

 

Key agency in delivery: Employment Skills Board 

Proposed timeline:  Memorandums of Understanding to be created and signed by early 

2015 and implemented from 2015 

 

 

 

  

Page 95



 

46 
 

Improving access to activities for the young 

Services and support for young people are under increasing pressure across the UK, while 

poor employment prospects for the young in many towns and cities remain entrenched. 

Low levels of participation in local and national elections are just one symptom of the way 

young people may feel they have no say or real power in influencing decisions which affect 

them.  

During the Summer of Listening, every community we visited highlighted a lack of activities 

for young people and the lack of dedicated places for them to go. Interestingly however, 

many other respondents cited the amount of activities and events for families and young 

people in the city.  We conclude that the issue here is not one of the provision of events 

and spaces for young people, but of their ability to access them. 

Local Recommendations 

1. We recommend that a ‘Positive Youth’’xxxvii approach to the commissioning of 
services for young people in the city is developed.. This should encompass a range of 

settings to provide all young people, ‘targeted’ or not, with the support and 

opportunities they need to empower themselves, form relationships, build skills, 

exercise leadership, and help their communities. Change in summary 

The underlying approach of this should be assets based and include the following 
elements:  

o Young people are viewed as a valued and respected asset to society;  

o Policies and programs focus on the evolving developmental needs and 

responsibilities of young people, and involve them as partners rather than 

clients;  

o Young people are provided with the opportunity to experiment in a safe 

environment and to develop positive social values and norms; and  

o Young people are engaged in activities that promote self-understanding, self-

worth, and a sense of belonging and resiliency.  

 

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth City Council, voluntary and community sector 

agencies, Plymouth universities and other partners 

Proposed timeline: By December 2015 

 

2. The Fairness Commission believes that every young person in the city should be able 

to access free recreational and cultural activities within one bus ride. 

Key agencies for delivery: Plymouth City Council, Bus Companies, Police, voluntary and 

community sector agencies, Plymouth Community Healthcare 

Proposed timeline: December 2015 

Page 96



 

47 
 

 

Lambeth – putting young people in the driving seat 

Like most councils, Lambeth has been forced to make tough decisions about public funding 

for youth services. Unlike many of them, it decided it didn’t know best. A year ago, they 

asked the young people who used these services, local partners and community members 

what they thought were the best ways to run many of the services previously provided by 

the council. The consensus was that these groups wanted a bigger say in how money was 

spent and services run. 

So the idea of the Young Lambeth Cooperative was born. The YLC is a genuine alternative 

to how youth services are planned, commissioned and managed, because young people and 

their communities have a say in all these areas. Its members will commission the Council’s 

youth service spend of £9 million, setting up and maintaining everything from youth clubs to 

activities in community centres. 

Not only will these funds be spent on the priorities of service users themselves, but a core 

group of young members have been instrumental in developing everything from marketing 

materials to working with lawyers to develop YLC’s constitution. 40% of YLC’s members 

are between 11-19yrs and, although only just launched, membership so far is over 2,000. 

The LYC is a refreshing model of how handing over decision-making can meet actual need, 

extend reach and save money.  

 

Caring for Plymouth’s young carers 

There are many forms of social exclusion. People can be socially excluded because of 

poverty, illness, disability and many other factors. Children and young people taking on 

demanding carer roles in their families are likely to experience particular and additional 

disadvantage, on top of other causes of exclusion.  According to the charity Young Carers, 

for example, they are particularly vulnerable to isolation, poor health and reduced life 

chances, especially in being able to take up paid employment. According to the children’s 

charity Barnardo’s the average age of a young carer in the UK is 12. Plymouth City Council 

estimates there are around 840 carers under 16 in the city but, because they are a largely 

hidden population, actual figures are probably higherxxxviii.  Only 200 of the city’s young 

carers are actually in contact with the relevant agencies. 

“It’s selfish to go on to higher education when you’re looking after your Mum. 

That’s just thinking about yourself. Who would look after her if I went to 

college?” 

- A young carer from the Summer of Listening 

Page 97



 

48 
 

It’s widely recognised that, because most of their extra-curricular time is spent caring, these 

children do not generally benefit from after-class programmes which give pupils skills such as 

interview or CV preparation. Because so much of their ‘free’ time is taken up caring, they 

are also less likely to spend time with fellow-pupils or join clubs and access other services to 

help develop skills or work experience. They are also less likely to know what their further 

education options are, even if they might be in a position to take these up. The Young 

Carers service delivered in Plymouth provides high quality services to young carers in the 

city; it’s important that all children that need them are able to access these services.  

Local Recommendation 

There are a limited number of ‘touchpoints’ where young carers come into contact with 

those able to introduce them to Youth Services and, from there, to specialist provision 

given to young carers in the city. These touchpoints will include GPs, Adult Social Care 

services, schools and colleges. The Fairness Commission welcomes the work already 

undertaken to raise awareness among teachers to identify young carers in their classrooms 

but believes a more integrated programme across all touchpoints is both more likely to 

identify young carers not currently reached, and provide those soon to leave school with 

extra help to help them make the most of future opportunities. 

1. Building on the work already being undertaken by the Learning and Skills Group, we 

recommend that the touchpoints of contact for young carers are identified and actively 

targeted  to ensure more young carers contact Youth Services and benefit from their 

referrals and services, including:  

 Youth Services and Plymouth universities to co-ordinate a system of mentoring to 

provide one-to-one and group support to young carers, supporting  them in developing 

CVs and identifying future career options. 

 Youth Services to contact local and regional employers to propose and develop a 

‘career mentoring’ system to encourage short term and part-time work experience 

placements with those employers. 

 

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth Community Healthcare, Plymouth City Council and 

Plymouth universities, all education providers, Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust and NEW 

Devon Clinical Commissioning Group 

Proposed timeline: February 2015 

  

Page 98



 

49 
 

Discrimination 

“Many individuals are the victim of hate crime, yet don’t report the incidences 

that occur for fear of not being believed, not taken seriously, and repeat 

victimisation.” 

“I don't feel it’s a very inclusive place sometimes for people who aren't white or 

local basically. It seems like there is a lot of prejudice, compared to somewhere 

like London, towards minorities. I think it is anti-social behaviour because 

people can be a bit abusive or at least rude. It also means there's less culture 

and diversity.” 

“I’m disabled and have been discriminated against in getting employment. At 

school I was ostracised by my teachers and treated differently.” 

- Participants from the Summer of Listening 

During the Summer of Listening, the Fairness Commission heard just how wide 

discrimination is in Plymouth. We heard of young asylum seekers being shouted at by 

neighbours two or three times a day, discrimination of those living with HIV, and systematic 

discrimination on the basis of age, religion, gender, people with disabilities and sexual 

orientation. 

The Fairness Commission heard first-hand how discrimination is practised on the streets 

and in all types of institutions and organisations in Plymouth. However, it also appears to be 

a serious problem that the city as a whole has yet to face up to, prioritise and resolve to 

tackle.  

We believe that the culture of denial must change before action can be taken to eradicate 

exclusion, violence and discrimination in this city. Discrimination cuts across all the themes 

in this report, as it is experienced on top of other disadvantages and exacerbates the 

unfairness experienced in each. 

Discrimination in all its forms (institutional, social, individual-level) across the 9 protected 
characteristics of the Equality Act 2010 and beyond (notably socio-economic) continues to 

have a significant impact on residents’ lives. In order to make the city a fairer place to live 

and work, there needs to be a significant response.  

 

Local Recommendation 

The Commission recommends that the city engage in a consolidated effort to generate 

leadership on tackling discrimination in all its forms in the city, with the following actions:  

 A city leadership workshop to develop a collective understanding of discrimination, 
its causes, and how to tackle it. 

 A high profile public event at which city leaders sign an agreement to commit actively 

to tackling all forms of discrimination. This should be accompanied by specific actions 

Page 99



 

50 
 

to which leaders are committing, and agreement to how and by whom they shall be 

measured. A high profile campaign should be developed to bring this initiative to the 

consciousness of the people of Plymouth. 

 Roll out of evidence based, age appropriate school based programmes to address 

discrimination across all early years, primary and secondary schools and 

further/higher education, such as the Roots of Empathy programmexxxix and the 

Brown Eyes, Blue Eyes tool. 

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth universities, all education providers, Plymouth City 
Council, Plymouth NHS Hospitals Trust, NEW Devon CCG, housing associations, Plymouth 

Community Healthcare, Devon and Cornwall Police, key partners and relevant voluntary 

and community sector support   

 

Proposed timeline: By September 2015 

Racism and abuse in Plymouth is hugely prevalent and massively under-

reported. This is the undercurrent above which more frightening and life-

changing physical attacks have occurred. Plymouth could definitely do more 

about this.” 

- Devon and Cornwall Refugee Support response to the Call for Evidence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 100



 

51 
 

Escalating Cost of Living 

“The wages are very low down here so people often can’t afford the rent.” 

- Participant from the Summer of Listening 

As the recent interventions by 40 church leaders and a number of leading poverty charities 

showxl, the impact of increases in the cost of living is getting worse. Energy bills have more 

than doubled since 2004 and food prices have risen by 44% since 2005. Yet the Office for 

Budget Responsibility warned last year that wages will not increase for several years to 

come. Add to this the impact of unemployment, underemployment, frozen public sector 

wages and the rise in zero hours contracts and it becomes clear why, according to the 

Public Accounts Committee,  over 2 million people have been driven into the arms of 

payday lendersxli. According to the Joseph Rowntree Foundation, the South West is one of 

two regions in the country with the biggest increase in the number of households with 

below Minimum Income Standards (MIS). Not only is there a greater proportion of 

households falling below MIS, but the proportion of households with very low incomes has 

also increased dramatically. 

Since 2011, the number of long-term benefit claimants in the city has risen dramaticallyxlii. 

The city also has high rates of those unable to work due to long term sickness and disability. 

In Devonport, St Peter and the Waterfront and Ham and Honicknowle, for example, these 

figures are 27%, 23% and 22% respectively, against a national average of 13%. 

A Living Wage for Plymouth 

 “Hard work is not working. We have a labour market that lacks pay and 

protection, with jobs offering precious little security and paltry wages that are 

insufficient to make ends meet." 

- Julia Unwin, Chief Executive, Joseph Rowntree Foundation 

Plymouth City Council’s ‘Child Poverty Matters’, published in 2013, highlighted the growth 

of in-work poverty in the city; in particular, the impact of welfare reforms on low income 

working families.  While people on low incomes are used to being told that work is the 

route out of poverty, it’s a mantra which is not, unfortunately, borne out by the facts.  Last 

year’s report by the New Policy Institute for the Joseph Rowntree Foundation showed that, 

for the first time, more working families are living in poverty in the UK than non-working 

onesxliii. 

Average incomes have fallen by 8% since 2008 and 6.7 million working families now live 

below the poverty line, an increase of half a million since 2011. Half of these families have an 

adult paid below the living wage, and their number grew from 4.6 million in 2011 to 5 

million in 2012.  

In work poverty among many groups in the UK is reaching alarming proportions. As well as 

cutting back on food and heating, people are having to make choices about the amount of 

Page 101



 

52 
 

time they can spend with their families, rather than working longer shifts or taking on 

another job. The Living Wage Commission's 2014 interim report showed, for example, that 

employees on the Living Wage spent nearly twice as much time with their families than 

those on the National Minimum Wagexliv.     

Plymouth has been a relatively low wage economy for many years. Since 2008 it has lost 

1,000 full time public sector jobs and gained 1,500 part time private sector jobs.  

The Fairness Commission believes the city must tackle in-work poverty, caused by low 

wages and the imposition of exclusive zero hours contracts as a matter of urgency.  

National Recommendation 

1. That the Government takes the lead in encouraging employers to pay the recommended 

Living Wage (£7.65 an hour nationally / £8.80 an hour in London) and requires all 

Government Departments to pay their employees at this level, as a minimum, by 

October 2016. 

Local Recommendations 

We welcome and support the ‘Child Poverty Matters’ recommendation to promote the 

adoption of the Living Wage across both public and private sector employers. 

1. We recommend that all public sector bodies in Plymouth should, like Plymouth City 

Council, commit to pay their staff the Living Wage, seek accreditation by the Living Wage 

Foundation and commit to provide a Living Wage for all employees of agencies that work 

for them. 

Key agency in delivery: All public sector employers in Plymouth 

Proposed timeline: Accreditation with the Living Wage Foundation by April 2015. A 

Living Wage for all employees of any agencies that it contracts with by April 2017.  

“As a values-based organisation, we believe in the Living Wage and know the difference it 

makes to people’s lives. We have already implemented it for all our permanent staff. Now 

we’re working with suppliers and the Students’ Union to explore how we can extend the 

Living Wage to subcontractors and staff on temporary contracts. 

- Professor Cara Aitchison, Vice Chancellor, University of St Mark and St John, Plymouth 

 

2. We recommend that Plymouth City Council and other public sector agencies work with 

subcontractors to ensure that they in turn pay 100% of their workers a Living Wage 

within two years. 

Key agencies in delivery: All public sector employers in Plymouth 

Proposed timeline: By April 2016  

Page 102



 

53 
 

3. We recommend that all private sector employers in Plymouth aim to implement the 

Living Wage for all their employees to ensure Plymouth becomes a Living Wage City 

across all sectors. 

 

Key agencies in delivery: All private sector employers in Plymouth, assisted by the 

Plymouth Chamber of Commerce and Plymouth Federation of Small Businesses 

Proposed timeline: By 2018, but early adoption is to be welcomed and encouraged 

 

We know that very large multiples of pay within an organisation are often perceived as 

unfair unless they are explained. This is particularly the case where some employees are 

paid less than the amount needed to meet the basic cost of living. We believe workers and 

customers in Plymouth should have information about the salaries paid by large public, 

private and charitable sector employees, and be able to identify organisations unwilling to 

provide this information.  

 

4. We believe that information on the salary divide in the public, private and charitable 

sectors should be in the public domain. As such we recommend an annual ‘Fair Pay in 

Plymouth’ report be published in the Plymouth Herald to achieve transparency, including 

an explanation of executive pay, with top to median pay ratios and including all taxable 

earnings. Organisations unwilling to supply this data should be identified.  

 

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth Herald 

 

Proposed timeline: September 2015 

 

 

Zero hours contracts 

 

“I know people who had to go to a food bank due to zero hours work.” 

- Participant from The Summer of Listening 

In August 2013, a report by the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development revealed 

that over a million people in the UK are employed on zero hours contractsxlv. This sparked 

some soul searching in Plymouth, with a number of local employers, including Plymouth 

University, listed by The Herald as using these contracts.  

While students at the University are reported as welcoming the flexibility of zero hours 

contracts, for many workers they can make an insecure employment situation much worse. 

The Commission was particularly concerned about the imposition of zero hours contracts 

which, as well as refusing to guarantee a set number of hours of work, are often used to bar 

staff from working for other employers, known as ‘exclusive’ contracts.  

Page 103



 

54 
 

There in growing evidence that zero hours contracts contribute to in-work povertyxlvi, and 

the Commission awaits the publication of the review into their use by the Department of 

Business, Innovation and Skills later this year. 

The Commission believes that the city should be intolerant of the imposition of zero hours’ 

contracts for employees. We believe becoming a Living Wage City is incompatible with the 

use of such contracts for working adults. 

Local Recommendations 

1. We recommend that the use of zero hours contracts across the city should be 

monitored annually. 

2. We recommend that exclusive zero hours contracts are not advertised by job 

centres or recruitment agencies in Plymouth.  

3. We recommend that all public sector agencies review their current use of 

subcontractors and commissioned services that use exclusive zero hours contracts 

and pledge to commission only from services that do not restrict their employees to 

exclusive zero hours contracts.  

Key agencies in delivery: All public sector employers, recruitment agencies, Department 

Of Work and Pensions (Job Centre) 

Proposed timeline: December 2015 

 

Debt - Halting the tide of payday lenders 

Since 2008, austerity has provided payday lenders with fertile ground in which to grow. 

Falling incomes, benefit cuts and delays and rising food and energy prices have tipped 

growing numbers of people from credit to debit. The Office of Fair Trading reports that 

between 2008 and 2012, the value of the payday lending market grew from £900 million to 

£2.2 billionxlvii. 

Despite numerous promises by the payday lending industry, and regulation from the 

Financial Conduct Authority from April 2014, there is still no cap on the interest fees these 

companies can charge, or the fees defaulting customers have to pay. In 2013, the debt 

charity StepChange calculated the average amount owed to payday lenders was £1,657, far 

higher than the average client’s net monthly incomexlviii.  

Plymouth has a serious debt problem. According to Money Advice Devon and Cornwall, 

over 29% of adults in the city are over indebted – much higher than any other local 

authority area in the South West. The most vulnerable in our city are more likely to 

become indebted, be refused bank loans and be forced to seek funds from high cost payday 

lenders to make ends meet.  

Page 104



 

55 
 

Reducing the reliance on payday lenders for the most financially vulnerable can only happen 

if there is greater provision of alternative sources of low cost lending. Our 

recommendations around debt can only be delivered in conjunction with our 

recommendations to develop these alternative forms of credit in the city.  

National Recommendation 

1. The Fairness Commission supports the Local Government Association’s demands for 

changes to the existing planning and licensing laws to take into account the views of 

residents and democratically elected councillors when considering applications for new 

betting premises.  

 

Local Recommendations  

We applaud the work of Plymouth City Council in banning payday loan adverts on billboards 

and bus shelters across the city and preventing access to their websites on Council-owned 

computers. We would like to see a marked reduction in the numbers of betting outlets and 

payday lenders and stricter controls on their geographic location across the city in relation 

to socio-economic demography.  

1. Plymouth City Council should demonstrate that it is maximising its planning restrictions, 

within the current legal framework, to control the number of betting shops, fixed odds 

betting terminals and payday lenders in the city. Change in summary 

 

Key agencies to deliver: Plymouth City Council  

 

Proposed timeline: December 2014 

 

The Commission recognises there are two sides to tackling the problems caused by high 

interest lenders. The first is the need to stop problems arising in the first place, through 

both better money management skill training in young people and the use of robust visible 

campaigns against payday loan companies.  

2. We recommend that Plymouth universities and education providers partner with 

schools and youth organisations to provide student led peer mentoring, similar to 

CitizensUK Money Mentors Programmexlix, to train young people to become confident 

in budgeting and managing money. 

 

Key agency in delivery: Plymouth universities and education providers, Plymouth City 

Council, voluntary and community sector partners, schools 

 

Proposed timeline: July 2015 

 

3. We recommend that Plymouth City Council work with partners to develop robust 

visible campaigns against the use of payday loans and illegal loan sharks. 

 

Page 105



 

56 
 

Key agency in delivery: Plymouth City Council, with selected partners, including from the 

voluntary and charitable sectors 

 

Proposed timeline: October 2014 

 

Joined-up action on multiple debts. 

Like a growing number of councils, Islington Council noticed an increasing number of 

residents falling behind with payments in areas as varied as council tax, parking fines and 

rent.  Rather than ignore the problem or have different departments pursue individual debts, 

they created a new team to help residents with multiple debts. 

Since April 2013, this Council-wide debt management system means they can see what 

residents owe to different departments and give them a single point of contact. They also 

receive referrals from partners such as social landlords and Citizens’ Advice. The Multiple 

Debts Team then work with these vulnerable residents to find out what they can afford to 

pay without plunging them deeper into other debt. To help residents tackle the wider 

problem, the Team also refers residents to free debt advice and low cost sources of finance 

like credit unions. 

Rather than driving already indebted residents further into debt, this well-publicised service 

helps them manage what they owe while pairing them up with the right support to help 

them take back control of their finances. 

 

People forced to use high cost payday lenders are more likely to be vulnerable to debt in 

other areas of their lives, including rent and debts to the council such as council tax.  

4. The Fairness Commission recommends that Plymouth City Council, housing associations 

and other relevant agencies work together to consolidate customers’ debts and offer 

payment plans to help customers manage repayments as well as direct them to expert 

sources of help and advice.   

 

Key agencies for delivery: Plymouth City Council, housing associations and other 
partners 

 

Proposed timeline: September 2015 

 

Debt is both a cause and effect of other vulnerabilities, such as poor nutrition, alcohol 

abuse, insecure housing and mental illness. We are pleased that, in recognition of the strong 

link between debt and mental illness, both mental health services and debt advisers 

undertake significant levels of joint working and signposting. The Commission believes that 

every public sector body should ensure information about where to seek help and access 

alternative provision should be much more widely available. 

Page 106



 

57 
 

5. Every point of access that the public have with public agencies should provide clear and 

accessible links to specialist debt advice, benefit maximisation and sources of affordable 

credit such as Plymouth Citizens Advice Bureau, Money Advice Plymouth and Christians 

Against Poverty more readily and prominently on their websites.  

 

Key agencies in delivery: All public sector agencies, housing associations and other 

partners 

 

Proposed timeline: September 2014 

 

Affordable credit 

Another key factor in reducing the reliance on high cost lenders is the provision of 

alternative sources of credit. As the 2014 Church Urban Fund’s report, ‘Money Speaks 

Louder than Words’ shows, the function of Credit Unions are often misunderstood by 

people who would otherwise support them with deposits. When congregations were made 

aware of the ‘socially useful’ function of Credit Unions, for example, the proportion of those 

willing to make deposits rose significantly. The run-down appearance of many credit unions 

and a perception of their lack of professionalism can also be barriers to attracting deposits.  

Developing a vibrant Credit Union is partly dependent upon having a critical volume and a 

diverse socio-economic mix of savers to generate revenue. Deposits up to £10,000 are fully 

protected by the government’s deposit protection scheme and represent a high social value 

return. 

The Commission therefore supports the development of a robust, efficient, well marketed, 

accessible and effective Credit Union or Community Development Financial Institution 

(CDFI) in Plymouth, with outlets within easy reach of disadvantaged communities and credit 

deserts. We see a role for churches and other faith centres in providing venues for credit 

union outlets, particularly in areas of deprivation.  

Local Recommendations 

1. It is essential that alternative and affordable forms of credit are accessible to 

residents across Plymouth. The Fairness Commission believes that Plymouth credit 

unions and their partners must take greater responsibility for ensuring that they 
offer a broad range of services that benefit the city, including, but not limited to, the 

list below. If they do not wish to do this or are unable to prove they can by 

December 2014, Plymouth City Council should to step in to take action. 

 

 The Commission recommends that the following groups be actively encouraged 

to hold membership: 

 Employees of all large private and public organisations in Plymouth, providing 

payroll deductions to support this. 

 Tenants of Social Landlords. 

 Congregations of all churches in the city and other faiths. 

Page 107



 

58 
 

 In addition Plymouth City Council and other major employers should hold 

non-member deposits in the credit union. 

 

 Undertake a review of current services to identify areas where input from other 
sources, e.g. marketing support from students from further and higher education 

institutions, process inputs from Credit Unions, could help raise the profile of 

credit unions and maximise their effectiveness.   

 Implement a high profile campaign in partnership with the Plymouth Herald and 

other media outlets to explain the function of credit unions, and to attract 

additional depositors.  

 Create a Plymouth-wide Christmas Club as an alternative to current high cost 

online providers. The Plymouth Christmas Club could work with local banks to 

accept deposits and seek discounts/vouchers from local retailers if savers spend 

with them. 

 Ensure widespread availability of products such as jam jar accounts, white goods 

and furnishing schemes, contents and income protection insurance and new 

savings accounts. 

 In areas identified as having high levels of financial exclusion, credit unions must 

work with local partners to enable credit unions to operate. 

 We recommend that all schools should invite credit unions to run Junior Savers 

Club. 

 We recommend a drive to encourage members of business groups such as the 

Rotary Club, Chamber of Commerce, Lions, Federation of Small Businesses and 

others to volunteer as board members of credit unions. 

 

Key agencies to deliver: All public, private and voluntary and community sectors 

Proposed timeline:  By 2016 

 

2. To maximise the availability of affordable credit to individuals and enterprises across 

the city, the Commission recommends development of a baseline to include: 

 Use the industry-wide data jointly compiled by the British Bankers’ Association 

and the Council for Mortgage Lenders to map the personal loan data for all 

Plymouth city postcodes. 

 Publish a Personal Loan Data report for Plymouth (as Birmingham City Council 

has done) to help identify the areas of credit deserts.  

 The Council should use its own banking contracts to lever an assurance from 

providers that they will improve the provision of affordable credit in credit 

deserts. 

 

Key agencies to deliver: Credit Unions, Plymouth City Council, Local Banks 

Proposed timeline:  March 2015 

 

 

 

Page 108



 

59 
 

‘Fair Money’ Campaigning 

The Commission believes Plymouth should aspire to achieve a ‘Fair Money’ culture. It is vital 

to make Plymouth’s residents, used to the same – too often high cost - high street lending 

and savings options aware of the alternatives. Campaigning is an intrinsic part of encouraging 

both the take up and further generation of alternative, low cost provision. 

Local Recommendations 

1. We recommend an annual, centrally-located pre-Christmas campaign, bringing together 

debt and money advice services, banks, trade unions, credit unions and relevant Council 

departments to raise awareness of their services and provide the opportunity to open 

bank and credit union accounts, as savers and depositors, get advice on housing, debt  

arrears etc. 

Key agency in delivery: Led by high street banks, with debt and money advice services, 

trade unions and Plymouth City Council 

Proposed timeline: November / December 2015 

 

2. We recommend the development of an annual, city-wide ‘Fair Money’ awards dinner, 

sponsored by the large high –street banks and publicised by the Plymouth Herald, with a 

range of award categories which the people of Plymouth can vote for. Examples of 

award categories include: school savers, tackling debt, biggest contribution to local 

economy, volunteering etc.   

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth City Council, current credit union providers, local 

banks and the Plymouth Herald 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 109



 

60 
 

Strengthening the Local Economy 

Efficient transport links   

“Investment in our travel infrastructure is vital for the success of the Peninsula 

economy – to achieve this we need to demonstrate clearly to government the 

difficulties being faced by businesses through the lack of a modern transport 

infrastructure.” 

David Parlby, Chief Executive, Plymouth Chamber of Commerce 

Plymouth is the fifteenth largest city in England. With a current population of 261,0241l, it also 

has an ambitious growth agenda for over 300,000 residents by 2031.   

Regionally, the Far South West covers 1,396 square miles with a population of 2.2 million. 

The Peninsula contributes over £36bn a year to the national economy, hosts 98,000 

businesses and supports 1.1 million jobs[2]li. Despite this, Plymouth and the Peninsula have the 

lowest rates of Gross Value Added productivity per head at just £16,130 – around only 75% 

of the UK average[3]lii.   

Improving GVA depends on a number of factors, but transport is a key issue. There is already 

a significant gap in transport spend between the South West and other regions, in particular 

London. With current spend way behind the UK average, this gap continues to widen:  

 Between 2006/07 and 2010/11 Department for Transport spend in the area fell by £32 

to £212 per capita while the UK average rose by £16 to £382.  

 In 2011/12 transport spend in the South West fell by13% year on year to £184 per head. 

During the same period investment in London remained constant at £644 per head. 

 

Plymouth’s economy needs to accelerate. In the past it has been a major port, a hub for 

defence and engineering and a magnet for public sector services like health and 

administration. One by one, these specialisms have been diluted by alternative provision in 

the UK and abroad, recent economic events and Plymouth’s poor rail and road links with  

major business centres including London. Plymouth Chamber of Commerce estimated the 

cost of lost business from the February 2014 storms to the city at £600,000 per day. 

Plymouth needs fast and resilient rail services that put the city and the region on an equal 

footing with the rest of the UK. 

National Recommendations 

1. The Plymouth Fairness Commission recommends that the Department for Transport 

and the Treasury review funding allocations in the UK with a view to creating more 

equitable funding in the South West. 

                                                           
 
 

 

Page 110



 

61 
 

 

2. That the Department of Transport and the Treasury urgently address Plymouth’s need 

for a fast and resilient rail line connecting the South West to the rest of the UK. 

Finances for this should be ringfenced as a matter of urgency.  

 

Keeping money in the local economy 

“The dominance of the supermarkets means lots of closures of little shops on 

the smaller high streets and the West End. I think councils could encourage 

local shops to be more successful” 

- Participant from the Summer of Listening 

Due to the domination of Plymouth’s historically large employers, both the culture and 

infrastructure for entrepreneurs lags behind many other cities. Plymouth’s Gross Added 

Value (the value of goods and services produced in an area or sector) has been only 84% of 

the national average for many years. The rate of business start-ups is low: 32 per 10,000 

residents in 2011 compared to 54 per 10,000 for England overall. Yet 2012 saw an increase 

of 5% in start-ups to a record 1,049liii.  

Plymouth City Council and its partners across the region are tackling many of these issues 

through the City Deal, signed in January this year. These include addressing economic 

under-productivity, exploiting Plymouth’s marine heritage and assets through the ‘Britain’s 

Ocean City’ brand, developing infrastructure and creating jobs, particularly for the young. 

However, the city is currently failing to fully capture the value of the Plymouth pound. More 

needs to be done to help the people of Plymouth support local businesses, public 

commissioners buy from them and keep local money circulating in the city’s economy.   

Local Recommendations 

1. The Fairness Commission recommends the development of a ‘Buy Local, Give Local’ 

trademark scheme which local traders, producers, public bodies and the voluntary 

sector can use to help customers and producers identify local providers, spend money 

with them and, in the case of charities, donate to them. This should include: 

 A local media campaign, led by the Plymouth Herald, to launch the scheme, 

encouraging residents to support their local shops, services and producers, including 

Small Business Saturday. 

 The campaign should consider using pro-bono experience and help from local design 

and branding students to design the trademark logo.  

 The campaign should include public pledges by large public and private sector 

employers to support local suppliers, and develop a ‘Buy Local’ statement with clear 

outcomes and measures through which they buy and commission local goods and 

services. 

Page 111



 

62 
 

Key agencies for delivery: Growth Board, Plymouth Chamber of Commerce, Plymouth 

Federation of Small Businesses, Plymouth Herald and Plymouth City Council  

Proposed timeline: December 2016 

2. Plymouth City Council should review all the charitable trusts, including dormant trusts, 

for which it is a corporate trustee and explore methods of amalgamating them (where 

their charitable objects are compatible), and transferring the management of their assets 

to a Plymouth community-based charity.  

Key agencies for delivery: Plymouth City Council as corporate trustee 

Proposed timeline: September 2014 

 

Thinking social value  

Last year there was a significant rise in levels of local procurement by the public sector, as 

urged by the Plymouth Procurement Forum. In 2013 the Plymouth Herald reported that a 

huge additional sum of £53 million had been spent locally by Plymouth City Council and 

Plymouth Community Homes. The Fairness Commission believes that every pound spent by 

the public sector in Plymouth should add ‘social value’ back into the city.  

Social value is achieved when organisations source their goods, services and utilities in a way 

that achieves value for money and generates benefits to society and the economy, while at 

the same time minimising damage to the environment.  ‘Thinking social value’ prioritises the 

overall value of outcomes, rather than focusing purely on the bottom- line cost. How a 

service is delivered, and its wider beneficial or harmful impact, is taken into account as well 

as simply ‘what’ is delivered. This means that the purchasing power of larger organisations is 

not exercised at the expense of the wider community. 

Local Recommendations 

1. We recommend that all public, charitable and private sector organisations in 

Plymouth should develop a social value/sustainability statement with clear social 

value outcomes and measures through which they buy and commission goods and 

services. 

Key agencies for delivery: All public sector and large private sector organisations 

Proposed timeline: June 2015 

2. All public sector agencies to fully explore the steps they could take towards meeting 

best practice, beyond the requirements of the Public Services (Social Value) Act 

2012, to ensure the inclusion of social value in all contracts for goods and services, 

regardless of the EU threshold. 

Page 112



 

63 
 

Key agencies for delivery: All public sector agencies 

Proposed timeline: December 2015 

3. The City Deal to clarify both how it will deliver social value and how this delivery 

will be measured and evaluated. 

Lead agency responsible for delivering this recommendation: City Deal 

Proposed timeline: September 2014 

 

Access for small businesses 

Local authorities spend around £88 billion every year. Research shows that 58% more of the 

money they spend with small local businesses is spent again in the local economy, compared 

to that spent with large local businessesliv. The Commission believes that Micro businesses 

and small and medium sized businesses should have a fairer opportunity to provide goods 

and services for Plymouth’s public sector. 

Local Recommendations 

1. We recommend that baseline data on current public spending with local businesses 

is established, to enable public bodies in Plymouth to create clear targets for the 

levels of public spending they will spend with local businesses, including Micro/SME’s, 

and report on them as part of their annual reporting mechanisms.  

Key agencies for delivery: All public sector agencies in Plymouth 

Proposed timeline: March 2015 

2. We recommend that work is undertaken with the South West Investors Group and 

other community finance organisations to increase the amount of capital available for 

microfinance and small business lending in Plymouth. This should be supported by 

mentoring, training and support from the local business community. 

Key agencies for delivery: Growth Board, Plymouth Federation of Small Businesses, 

Plymouth Chamber of Commerce and the South West Investors Group 

Proposed timeline:  March 2015 

3. Public sector commissioning and the processes that supports it need to be much 

more efficient to provide better access to public spend for local, small suppliers. We 

recommend a thorough review of the current Sell2Plymouth portal and associated 

procurement systems of public sector agencies with recommendations for what 

changes are required to ensure there is an efficient way to link up public sector 

commissioners with private sector suppliers. Conversely, work must continue with 

Page 113



 

64 
 

local business to ensure they are positioned to take advantage of public sector 

procurement opportunities. Areas to address include: 

 Improving technical efficiency. 

 Monitoring how consistently and transparently the portal is used by different bodies 

 Identifying why and appropriate responses to why local businesses are not 

maximising opportunities via the portal. 

 Reducing unnecessary red tape and bureaucracy. 

 Increasing opportunities for Meet the Buyer events. 

Key agencies for delivery: Plymouth Chamber of Commerce, Plymouth Federation of 

Small Businesses, Plymouth universities, Plymouth City Council, Plymouth Community 

Homes, Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust and City College Plymouth 

Proposed timeline: September 2015 

During the Summer of Listening, many small businesses told us that they are not consulted 

about decisions which have an impact on their businesses, such as changes to bus routes, 

parking, charges and business rates. Both they, and their customers, have to live with the 

commercial consequences of decisions they felt they could have improved, if they had the 

opportunity to contribute their knowledge, experience and suggestions. 

4. We recommend that the Growth Board reviews the way in which Micro businesses 

and SME’s contribute to governance, consultations and decisions and makes 

recommendations to deliver greater transparency in their involvement and 

engagement. 

Key agencies for delivery: Growth Board, Plymouth Chamber of Commerce and 

Plymouth Federation of Small Businesses 

Proposed timeline: July 2015 

 

 

 

  

Page 114



 

65 
 

Housing 

“There is insufficient housing of various types to meet those in need. Private 

sector housing is shocking, especially that on offer to the under 35’s.” 

- Participant from the Summer of Listening 

While people in Plymouth were incredibly positive about the city’s social housing and recent 

social house building, at every event held in the Summer of Listening they told us that the 

overall housing situation in Plymouth is dire.  

The lack of affordable homes, the prevalence of sub-standard housing, insufficient social 

housing and the costs of the bedroom tax and council tax subsidy changes are all causing 

real hardship and affecting the health and life chances of many in the city. Levels of 

homelessness and numbers living in temporary accommodation are higher than both the 

regional and national averages. 

Plymouth’s private sector housing stock is significantly older than the national average, with 

around 50% built before 1919 compared to 40% nationally. Nearly 21% of these properties 

have Category 1 health and safety hazards, including ‘excess cold and ‘poor thermal 

comfort’lv.  

The government’s own figures estimate that at least 440,000 disabled households will lose 

out under the bedroom tax cuts to housing benefit. Housing charities such as Shelter 

estimate much higher numbers. The £30 million discretionary fund available to councils to 

help alleviate the worst impacts of the bedroom tax is, as many councils are pointing out, 

grossly insufficient for the level of need. The situation facing these vulnerable tenants is 

compounded by the lack of alternative properties available for them to move in to in order 

to avoid further reductions in their housing benefit.  

The private rented sector 

Those on the lowest incomes are living in the worst quality housing and paying a 

comparatively high rent for the privilege. The private rented sector in Plymouth includes a 

wide variety of properties that cater for the different needs of residents in the city i.e. 

houses, flats, bedsits, student houses. There are around 22,000 dwellings in the private 

rented sector in Plymouth, which represents nearly 20% of the city’s total housing stock. 

We know that private landlords provide an important resource for the city, and our aim is 

to attract new investment in private housing stock as well as well as eliminating that which is 

substandard.   

There is currently no comprehensive database of private landlords in Plymouth, and creating 

one would be extremely difficult without a compulsory registration scheme.  However, a 

2010 national survey of landlords by the Department for Communities and Local 

Government (DCLG) showed that 78% of landlords had only one property and these 

landlords owned 40% of the stock.   

Page 115



 

66 
 

If we apply these averages to Plymouth, this would indicate there are nearly 9,000 landlords 

owning one property in the City.  Inevitably, ascertaining how many landlords own the 

remaining 13,000 properties is an estimate, but it is likely to be at least 2,600, assuming 5 

properties each.  In reality, the DCLG profile indicates they will own between 2 and 100 

dwellings each.  

Only 8% of landlords in the survey described themselves as ‘professional’ full time landlords, 

with 63% of private landlords reporting they had no relevant experience or qualifications for 

the role.  Under these circumstances, it’s hardly surprising that many landlords are not fully 

aware of their obligations. 

National Recommendations 

The Plymouth Fairness Commission makes the following recommendations for the private 

rented housing sector: 

1. The creation of a National Register of Landlords. This would provide easy entry to the 

market for landlords, but allow their swift removal from the Register for poor practice. 

It would also stop them continuing to provide poor service and ensure better targeting 

of landlords to keep them informed of their responsibilities. 

 

2. Issuing fixed penalty notices would both reduce the costs of enforcement and allow 

prompt action for breaches of legislation. 

 

3. Developing new standards for housing would make it easier for both landlords and 

tenants to know if standards were being met. It would also reduce the level of 

enforcement action needed as landlords would be better able to assess their own 

properties. 

 

4. The Fairness Commission also echoes the Local Government Association’s 

recommendation that the current Compulsory Purchase legislation available to councils 

is overly costly, complex and bureaucratic and should be simplified to allow councils to 

bring back long term empty residential properties into public use. 

Local Recommendations 

Given that Plymouth has a higher than average level of private housing stock and that a third 

of it – around 30,000 homes – is classed as non-decent, the Commission believes the city 

must tackle problems in the private housing sector robustly. 

1. Plymouth City Council to develop a comprehensive and resourced response to 

raising standards in the private rented housing sector. 

 

2. We recommend that Plymouth undertake a pilot to investigate the viability of a 

voluntary licensing and accreditation scheme for private sector landlords (PSL). This 

pilot should: 

Page 116



 

67 
 

 Examine the costs, benefits and potential barriers of such a scheme. 

 Look at the process of include clear standards to reach legal minimum requirements 

for properties. 

 Benchmark how this scheme would measure up against other PSL accredited 

schemes. 

 

3. Examine the possibility of property-specific penalties for non-compliant Private 

Rented Sector homes, to include looking at whether non-compliant PRS homes 

could be earmarked as “not Housing Benefit eligible” until fully compliant with 

statutory standards and requirements, in a way that penalises the landlord – not the 

tenant. 

 

4. Consult on and implement a comprehensive; measured and monitored Empty 

Homes Strategy for Plymouth to consider why the property is empty and uncovering 

systemic issues and working positively to address them.  

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth City Council, private landlords and other partners 

Proposed timeline: December 2015 

 

As part of the Fairness Commission’s support of the ‘doing with’ rather than ‘doing to’ 

approach, we recognise the importance of helping private tenants have a local voice. This 

will help tenant-to-tenant communication, provide useful ‘on the ground’ advice about poor 

tenancy experiences and give tenants information about their legal rights. We support the 

creation of a virtual Plymouth Private Tenants Forum, advising private tenants of their rights, 

offering an online space to exchange experiences, publicise consultations and offer contact 

details on further public sources of support. 

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth City Council, private landlords, voluntary and 

community sector and other partners 

Proposed timeline: December 2015 

Specialist Housing 

There are also a number of specialist housing needs throughout the city (e.g. older people, 

follow-on housing, parent and child units). Not all of these needs are “visible” to planners 

and commissioners. This can prevent particular individuals and groups accessing appropriate 

accommodation.  

 

 

 

Page 117



 

68 
 

Local Recommendation 

1. We recommend a full examination of the coverage of specialist housing provision in 

Plymouth is carried out, comparing what is available against  known demographics of 

groups in need and including a full gap analysis of unmet need.  

Key agencies for delivery: Plymouth City Council, NEW Devon Clinical Commissioning 

Group, Private sector providers, Plymouth University and other partners 

Proposed timeline: Review to be completed by end of 2014. Recommendations for 

action should be developed by the end of 2015 and fed into the Plymouth Plan  

 

 

  

Page 118



 

69 
 

The Implications of an Ageing Population 

“Older people have problems with housing and finance. Pensions seem to have 

gone down, or at least prices of basic groceries and utilities have gone up so it’s 

harder for them to live.” 

- Participant from the Summer of Listening 

The UK as a whole is failing to address the problems and opportunities that an ageing 

population presents. By 2030, there will be 51% more people aged over 65 compared to 

2010, 101% more aged 85 or over, and an increase of 80% in those over 65 with dementialvi.   

The yo-yoing over future pension provision, retirement age and personal care of the past 

ten years are just some of the symptoms of balancing short term political popularity with 

long term planning.  

As well as the need to plan for the future, many residents told us that older people don’t 

appear to be a priority for the city and can often be neglected. Yet older residents are an 

economic and social asset to a city, and the Commission believes it’s important to recognise 

them as such. 

The Commission welcomes the existing initiatives for older people in Plymouth, but notes 

that, so far, they exist largely to address aspects of adult social care, such as dementia and 

those caring for older people. We believe that joining up social, cultural, health and 

economic initiatives more effectively will maximise both the benefits to Plymouth’s older 

population, and their contribution to the life of the city. 

Joining up services for older people 

Planning for an ageing population requires more than simply finding ways to help Plymouth’s 

current older residents. It also involves ensuring we create systems and joined-up ways of 

working to ensure we anticipate, and are ready for, the changing demographic of the city’s 

population in 10 or 20 years’ time. We also believe that this work fits perfectly within the 

remit of the Plymouth Plan, which is currently being developed and aims to integrate all city 

strategies into one Plan for Plymouth up to 2031. 

Local Recommendations: 

1. We recommend the creation of an ‘All Ages City’ Taskforce to co-ordinate both the 

social and non-social care aspects of Plymouth living for older people, as part of the 

Plymouth Plan process. These include, but are not limited to: 

 Working with Plymouth’s voluntary and community sectors to join up initiatives such 

as befriending schemes, lunch clubs, pooled transport, shared backroom services and 

access to facilities, including how technology can assist such co-ordination. 

 Work with Plymouth universities and other tertiary education providers to 

encourage investment in technology to encourage connection to the wider 

community and address digital exclusion, remote healthcare provision by local and 

regional providers, virtual communities and domestic adaptions, e.g. Skype TV.  

Page 119



 

70 
 

 Support commissioning of personal health, public health and social services which 

focus on prevention and early intervention through primary health care.  

 Working with urban planners and housing associations to shape future housing 

provision and, where possible, adapt existing provision, to provide better community 

specific development, encourage land asset release and incentive schemes for 

suitable private investment. 

 Co-ordinate existing and potential activities that promote intergenerational and 

cultural activity such as skills cafes, using school kitchens for mixed-age lunches and 

increasing opportunities for older people to volunteer.  

Key agencies in delivery: Plymouth universities and other tertiary education providers, 

local voluntary and community sector, Plymouth City Council, housing associations, NEW 

Devon Clinical Commissioning Group and Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust 

Proposed timeline: Informal plans and Memorandum of Understanding to be drawn up by 

October 2014 for delivery during 2015 and onwards 

 

 

 

Becoming a Dementia Friendly City 

Plymouth’s demographic profile shows an ageing population living longer. By age 80 one in 

five people will suffer from dementia. The Mental Health Observatory estimated that by 

2025, Plymouth will have over 4,200 people with dementia against around 3,000 today. The 

Fairness Commission’s welcomes the work undertaken so far to make Plymouth a 

Dementia Friendly City, but suggests implementing specific recommendations requires far 

greater urgency. 

Local Recommendations 

1. We recommend that the Plymouth Joint Dementia Strategy is given the highest 

priority to ensure its recommendations on professional awareness, early diagnosis, 

carer support and recognised standards of care are actively delivered across the city. 

 

2. As part of this strategy, the Commission also recommends that additional 

consideration be given to ensure that people with dementia who require, and can 

demonstrate that they meet the eligibility criteria (e.g. unsteady walking, confusion 

and agitation and the risk of their actions harming themselves or others) are 

encouraged to apply for the blue badge scheme using the discretionary powers of 

the Local Authority.  

 

3. We recommend that an information pack containing details of sources of advice, 

information and support is made freely available to patients, families and carers in all 

primary care settings, and provided for dementia patients and their carers.   

Page 120



 

71 
 

Key agencies for delivery: Plymouth City Council and other partners 

Proposed timeline: December 2014 

  

Page 121



 

72 
 

Next steps, evaluation and monitoring  

1. The Fairness Commission asks all organisations named in this report to provide their 

response and commitment to delivery of attributed recommendations and initial 

estimates of timetables by the end of June 2014.  

 

2. The Fairness Commissioners will remain actively involved in analysing actions against 

key themes, acting as critical friends and advisors if required. 

 

3. The Fairness Commission Secretariat within Plymouth City Council will work with 

key partners to develop a performance framework to allow both the Commission 

and the City as a whole to determine whether Plymouth is becoming a fairer city.  

 

4. Plymouth universities are invited to set up a Plymouth bank of excellence and best 

practice across public, private and VCS sectors that demonstrates the ways in which 

Plymouth is becoming fairer, and which can be also be used as a resource to 

illustrate ideas and fair practice locally, regionally and nationally.  

 

5. The Fairness Commission recommends that an Annual Report is produced over 

each of the next five years to monitor progress against all its recommendations. In 

order to create the report, we recommend that all key organisations named in this 

report submit an annual progress report to the Plymouth Fairness Commission 

Secretariat. 

 

6. The Fairness Commission proposes to reconvene in July 2015 to assess progress 

made against recommended actions. 

 

7. The Fairness Commission’s website will continue to be maintained and updated to 

reflect progress against these recommendations and ensure public accountability. 

 

8. The Fairness Commission welcomes the fact that, in the interests of even greater 

public accountability, the Editor of the Plymouth Herald will join us as a 

Commissioner to review progress in 2015. 

  

Page 122



 

73 
 

Acknowledgements 

 

The Plymouth Fairness Commission is grateful to the many individuals, groups and 

organisations who gave their time and energy to help us over the past year.  

 

In particular, we would like to thank the following for their on-going contributions and 

support: Councillor Tudor Evans, Tracey Lee, Professor Richard Wilkinson, Councillor 

Richard Watts, Councillor Andy Hull, Andrew Robinson, Kath Dalmeny, Maggie Atkinson, 

Giles Perritt, Candice Sainsbury, Sarah Gooding, Sush Amar, Kirsty Scaplehorn, Rhianna 

Morton, Paul Davies, Hazel Stuteley, Dr Robin Drurie, Hannah Daw, Ross Jago, Professor 

Sheena Asthana, Dr Rory Shand, Annette Zera, Allice Hocking, Jude Pearson, Ciara 

Mcferran, Annette Zera, Rob Sowden, Stephen Bashford, Sarah Macleod, Martin Edwardes 

and Craig Quayle. 

 

 

Page 123



 

74 
 

References 

i All data taken from the Plymouth Fairness Commission’s An Initial Presentation of Evidence, March 2013, 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/plymouth_fairness_commission_introductory_analysis.pdf 
ii ONS Neighbourhood Statistics Census data on Housing  
iii World Health Organisation, Global Health Observatory Data Repository, 2011 

http://apps.who.int/gho/data/node.main.688 
iv Ibid 
v Plymouth and South West Peninsula City Deal, http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/citydeal 
vi Plymouth Joint Dementia Strategy 2010/2013 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/plymouth_joint_dementia_strategy.pdf 
vii Child Poverty Matters – The Child Poverty Strategy for Plymouth 2013-2016, Plymouth City Council, June 
2013 http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/childpovertystrategyactionplan.pdf 
viii All data taken from the Plymouth Fairness Commission’s An Initial Presentation of Evidence, March 2013, 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/plymouth_fairness_commission_introductory_analysis.pdf 
ix Delivering the Co-operative Vision within a 3 year sustainable balanced budget, Plymouth City Council, 

December 2013 http://modgov/documents/b11552/Budget%20Report%20Tuesday%2010-Dec-
2013%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9 
x University of Exeter Medical School, C2 Experimental Learning Programme 
http://medicine.exeter.ac.uk/research/healthserv/healthcomplexity/researchprojects/c2/ 
xi Leadership of whole systems, Welbourn, Warwick, Carnall & Fathers, The King’s Fund, 2012 
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/leadership-whole-systems-welbourn-warwick-carnall-fathers-
leadership-review2012-paper.pdf 
xii Listening Plymouth – A view from you, Plymouth City Council, October 2012  
xiii LGA briefing for Lord Shipley’s Question for Short Debate on the Barnett Formula, 17 December, 2013 
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11607/LGA+briefing+for+Short+Debate+on+Barnett+Formula+Dec
+2013/b653fbf5-c36a-42d1-842a-5904e26fb7b1 
xiv Public health grants to local authorities 2013 to 2014 and 2014 to 2015, Department of Health, January 
2014, https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ring-fenced-public-health-grants-to-local-authorities-
2013-14-and-2014-15 
xv All data from Public Health England Health Profiles, 2013 
http://www.apho.org.uk/default.aspx?QN=HP_METADATA&AreaID=50358 
xvi GP Online, ‘GP premises development frozen’, 19 November 2013 
http://www.gponline.com/News/article/1221458/gp-premises-development-frozen-nhs-england/ 
xvii Adult Mental Health Needs Assessment for Plymouth, 2012 
http://www.plymouthcommunityhealthcare.co.uk/images/uploads/content/Livewell/Adult_Mental_Health_Ne
eds_Assessment_for_Plymouth_March_2012.pdf 
xviii Figures provided by the Police and Crime Commissioner for Devon and Cornwall, 2014 
xix Devon and Cornwall Police, Peninsula Strategic Assessment, December 2013, 
http://www.devon.gov.uk/peninsula-sa-v04.pdf 
xx Silent Voices – Supporting children and young people affected by parental alcohol misuse, Report of the 
Children’s Commissioner, September 2012 
http://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/content/publications/content_619 
xxi National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, Alcohol-use disorders: preventing harmful drinking, June 
2010, http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/live/13001/48984/48984.pdf 
xxii Open for Business: Rewiring Licensing, Local Government Association, February 2014  

http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/5854661/L14-40+rewiring+open+for+business.+v3.pdf/6b8aa308-
94cd-4af5-9b3a-5f2696a9a4b5 
xxiii Suffolk Constabulary, ‘Reducing the Strength’ campaign, Ipswich  
http://www.suffolk.police.uk/safetyadvice/personalsafety/alcoholawareness/reducingthestrength.aspx 
xxiv Promote Responsibility, Minimise Harm. A Strategic Alcohol Plan for Plymouth 2013–2018 

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/alcoholstrategicplan.pdf 
xxv Statistics from Women’s Aid 
http://www.womensaid.org.uk/domestic_violence_topic.asp?section=0001000100220041&sectionTitle=Dome
stic+violence+%28general%29 

                                                           

Page 124

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ring-fenced-public-health-grants-to-local-authorities-2013-14-and-2014-15
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ring-fenced-public-health-grants-to-local-authorities-2013-14-and-2014-15
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/5854661/L14-40+rewiring+open+for+business.+v3.pdf/6b8aa308-94cd-4af5-9b3a-5f2696a9a4b5
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/5854661/L14-40+rewiring+open+for+business.+v3.pdf/6b8aa308-94cd-4af5-9b3a-5f2696a9a4b5


 

75 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                     
xxvi Commissioning Plan for the Plymouth Domestic Abuse Partnership, 2012/2019 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/commissioning_plan_for_the_domestic_abuse_partnership.pdf 
xxvii Ibid 
xxviii The School Food Plan, July 2013, http://www.schoolfoodplan.com/plan/ 
xxix Department for Education, Pupils not claiming free school meals, 17 December 2013 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pupils-not-claiming-free-school-meals-2013 
xxx Children’s Food Trust, School Food Standards http://www.childrensfoodtrust.org.uk/schools/the-standards 
xxxi  The proximity of fast-food outlets to secondary schools in Plymouth: associations with socioeconomic 
deprivation and childhood obesity, Elizabeth Hylton, 2010 
xxxii Walking the breadline: The scandal of food poverty in 21st century Britain, Church Action on Poverty and 
Oxfam, May 2013, http://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/blog/2013/05/the-scandal-of-food-poverty-in-britain 
xxxiii Letter to the British Medical Journal, David Taylor-Robinson and six others, 3 December 2013, 
http://www.channel4.com/news/malnutrition-health-emergency-dwp-british-medical-journal 
xxxiv Plymouth Fairness Commission, An Initial Presentation of Evidence, March 2013 
xxxv Plymouth Fairness Commission, An Initial Presentation of Evidence, March 2013 
xxxvi FutureFirst: An Alumni Community for Every School and College, http://futurefirst.org.uk/ 
xxxvii Positive Youth Programme, http://www.positiveyouth.org.uk/?page_id=22 
xxxviii Draft Plymouth Carers Strategy 2013-2018, Northern, Eastern and Western Devon Clinical Commissioning 
Group and Plymouth City Council 
xxxix Roots of Empathy Programme http://www.rootsofempathy.org/ 
xl Church Action on Poverty, ‘End hunger fast, 19 February 2013 http://www.church-
poverty.org.uk/news/endhungerfastletter 
xli Public Accounts Committee report, Regulating Consumer Credit, 20 May 2013 
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmpubacc/165/16502.htm 
xlii All data taken from the Plymouth Fairness Commission’s An Initial Presentation of Evidence, March 2013, 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/plymouth_fairness_commission_introductory_analysis.pdf 
xliii Joseph Rowntree Foundation Programme Paper, Households below a minimum income standard: 2008/9 to 
2011/12, January 2014  
xliv Working for Poverty: The scale of the problem of low pay and working poverty in the UK, Living Wage 

Commission, February 2014 
http://livingwagecommission.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/Living-Wage-Commission-Report-v2_f-
1.pdf 
xlv CIPD, Labour Market Outlook, August 2013 http://www.cipd.co.uk/hr-resources/survey-reports/labour-
market-outlook-summer-2013.aspx 
xlvi Resolution Foundation, A Matter of Time – the rise of zero hours contracts, June 2013 
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/media/media/downloads/A_Matter_of_Time_-_The_rise_of_zero-
hours_contracts_final_1.pdf 
xlvii Payday Lending Compliance Review - Interim Report, Office of Fair Trading, November 2012 

http://www.oft.gov.uk/shared_oft/business_leaflets/consumer_credit/OFT1466.pdf 
xlviii StepChange: Press release 27 February 2014 

http://www.stepchange.org/Mediacentre/Pressreleases/Paydayloanrise.aspx 
xlix Citizens UK Money Mentors Programme http://www.citizensuk.org/campaigns/money-mentors/ 
l ONSMid-year estimates 2013 
li BRES and UK Business Activity, Size and Location, 2013 
lii ONS GVA figures (2011). Somerset (81%), Cornwall & IoS (65%), Plymouth (77%), Torbay (59%) and Devon 
(82%)  
liii Plymouth Fairness Commission, An Initial Presentation of Evidence, April 2013 
liv Federation of Small Businesses http://www.rudi.net/node/58417 
lv Plymouth Fairness Commission, An Initial Presentation of Evidence, April 2013 
lvi House of Lords Select Committee on Public Service and Demographic Change, Ready for Ageing?, 2013 
 
 

Page 125

http://livingwagecommission.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/Living-Wage-Commission-Report-v2_f-1.pdf
http://livingwagecommission.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/Living-Wage-Commission-Report-v2_f-1.pdf
http://www.oft.gov.uk/shared_oft/business_leaflets/consumer_credit/OFT1466.pdf
http://www.stepchange.org/Mediacentre/Pressreleases/Paydayloanrise.aspx


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 NOTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETING
	4 FINAL DRAFT SAFER PLYMOUTH PARTNERSHIP PLAN 2014-17
	8 PERFORMANCE REPORT
	Item 9 - Proposed Targets - Safer Plymouth 2014-15

	9 CHAIR'S EMERGING ISSUES

